

Hankel operators on vector-valued Bergman spaces

Roc Oliver Vendrell

ADVERTIMENT. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) i a través del Dipòsit Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX ni al Dipòsit Digital de la UB. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX o al Dipòsit Digital de la UB (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

ADVERTENCIA. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (**www.tdx.cat**) y a través del Repositorio Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis como a sus contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

WARNING. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) service and by the UB Digital Repository (**diposit.ub.edu**) has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized nor its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository is not authorized (framing). Those rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author.

HANKEL OPERATORS ON VECTOR-VALUED BERGMAN SPACES

Roc Oliver Vendrell

A Thesis submitted to Universitat de Barcelona in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Doctor in Mathematics

Advisor: Jordi Pau Plana

Programa de Doctorat en Matemàtiques Departament de Matemàtica i Informàtica Universitat de Barcelona



UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

Barcelona, 2017

Memòria presentada per a aspirar al grau de Doctor en Matemàtiques per la Universitat de Barcelona. Barcelona, 2017.

Roc Oliver Vendrell Departament de Matemàtica i Informàtica Universitat de Barcelona roc.oliverv@gmail.com

> Certifico que la present memòria ha estat realitzada per en Roc Oliver Vendrell, en el Departament de Matemàtica i Informàtica, sota la meva direcció, i amb Joaquim Ortega-Cerdà com a tutor.

> > Barcelona, abril del 2017 Jordi Pau Plana

Als pares, als avis i a l'avi Jordi

Agraïments/Acknowledgement

Haig de dir que per mi és un gran honor agrair a tots aquells que m'han acompanyat durant aquest llarg camí, ja sigui durant un temps breu o durant una llarga travessia. A més, tinc la sort que alguns em seguiran acompanyant en els propers camins.

Primer de tot, m'agradaria donar la meva sincera i enorme gratificació a en Dr. Jordi Pau per donar-me aquesta oportunitat increïble. Sense els seus coneixements, suggeriments, comentaris, avisos i altres recomanacions aquesta tesi no hauria estat possible. He d'agrair enormement la dedicació i paciència (ja sé que de vegades sóc difícil) que m'ha ofert en tot moment durant aquests anys, de debò, moltes gràcies!

També voldria donar tot el meu agraïment a tots els professors que m'he anat trobant i m'han ajudat pel departament de Matemàtica i Informàtica de la Universitat de Barcelona, la que m'ha acollit durant tot aquest llarg camí. Així aprofito per agrair també a la institució l'acollida monumental que m'ha fet durant aquest temps. En particular, vull agrair a: en Quim, el meu tutor i amb qui vaig tenir la oportunitat de fer la tesi de màster, sempre apreciaré el que m'ha ensenyat i la feina feta que vam fer junts; en Xavier, una de les persones més amables que conec, sempre atent pel que necessites; en Joan, amb qui desafortunadament no he tingut la oportunitat de parlar gaire, però ha estat suficient per veure que és una persona molt simpàtica, agradable i amable; en Daniel, amb qui vaig tenir l'honor de poder treballar i publicar un article i a qui sempre agrairé tot el que m'ha ensenvat, sobretot admiro la perfecció que dedica a tot el que fa; la Carme, que essent la degana és una persona molt propera, i l'Alex, amb qui sempre pots parlar del que sigui, tot un referent a seguir. Aprofito l'avinentesa per agrair també l'amabilitat de la Ino, sempre present quan he tingut problemes per questions burocràtiques, que ja sabem tots com de pesades poden ser.

Sense deixar de banda els professors, voldria fer una especial menció a en Javier i en Santi, que em van acollir amb els braços ben oberts a la universitat quan encara no estava clar el camí que seguiria. Sempre recordaré l'amabilitat i comprensió que van tenir, tot i ser conscients que tot allò podria durar poc i, de fet, tal com va ser per raons econòmiques. Tot i així, moltes gràcies per tot, allò em va donar els ànims necessaris per continuar endavant passés el que passés.

Seguint en el departament, cal dir que mai m'havia trobat tan ben acollit per la bona gent que hi ha abundat i hi abunda. No podria faltar per agrair tots aquells doctorands (i no tant doctorands) que han compartit les penes i treballs, com també molts dinars i altres activitats durant tot el trajecte. A l'Andratx, l'Ari, l'Arturo, en Dani, en David, l'Eloi, l'Estefanía, la Giulia, en Joan, en Jordi, en Marc, la María Angeles, la Marina, la Marta, la Maya, la Meri, la Nadia, en Narcś, la Rocío, en Simone, en Tommaso, en Zubin, i en especial en Carlos, el company perfecte de despatx, que sempre que he necessitat algú, ell hi era.

Parlant del despatx, vull agrair la gent que hi ha passat que en certs moments ens han fet passar una bona estona: l'Adriana, l'Albert, la Francesca, en Manuel, en Miguel Reyes, en Miguel Ángel i en Toni.

I would like to give my deepest gratitude to Dr. Brett D. Wick for welcoming me during my short stay in St. Louis, Missouri, in the United States of America. It was a pleasure to work with him and I would like to thank him for his patience, his suggestions, his time and the deep knowledge that he gave me. Thank you very much!

I would also like to thank the people in the department of Mathematics in the Washington University in St. Louis during my short stay there. Their kindness was the best, I always felt like I was home. Thank you for all the meals, the talks, the seminars and other fun activities that we did. Thanks to Alexandru, Ben, Cody, James, Luis, Marie-Jose, Mark, Meredith, and special thanks to Robert, a great friend. He was always there and I wish him the best with his wife and children.

I would like to thank the people of the conferences, seminars and specially summer schools like in Finland, it was a pleasure to meet them all: Iulia, Kian, Noel, Santeri, and especially to Sita who is a very good friend.

Voldria aprofitar l'avinentesa per agrair els bons moments que vaig passar prèviament al doctorat. Primer de tot, agrair a la gent que vaig poder conèixer en el Màster de Matemàtica Avançada. Quiero agradecer enormemente a Daniel por su sincera amistad, aunque esté lejos es un buen amigo. A en Tià que també és molt bon amic i amb qui vaig passar molts bons moments. A en Carlos, en David, en Gilles, l'Imanol, en Daniel, en Martin, en Matías, en Miguel, i en especial a l'Eva, amb qui vaig poder passar una bona època de la meva vida.

També voldria agrair a tota la bona gent que he conegut durant la carrera i que d'alguna manera m'ha impulsat a ser on sóc ara, en especial als "Sopimatis": l'Alba, en Bernat, l'Eli, la Mariona, la Noelia, la Núria, en Xavi. Sempre me'n vaig amb un somriure després de veure'ls!

Per últim, agrair a la resta d'amics i familiars que m'han acompanyat durant tot aquest camí sinuós i feixuc. Sé que molts de vosaltres heu patit, indirectament, les conseqüències de tal proesa. Vull anomenar en especial en Lluís i en Marc per estar sempre allà, tot i el temps que pugui passar. Cal dir que el fet que encara siguem amics després de tants anys sí que és una proesa, i esperem que sigui així per molt temps. Quiero agradecer a los buenos hermanos Kevin e Ylenia, que me han ayudado a olvidarme de los problemas en muchas ocasiones y aunque nos encontremos siempre en la distancia, nuestra amistad sigue. Por esas noches de locura y diversión aun sigo dónde estoy. També voldria donar un especial agraïment a la Ona per acompanyar-me durant l'última etapa d'aquest projecte. Agraeixo molt la seva comprensió en tots els aspectes i els seus ànims inesgotables.

Finalment, i no menys important, agrair a tota la meva família pel recolzament que he tingut constantment i per, tot i moltes vegades no saber ben bé què estava fent, donar-me el seu suport incondicional.

Moltes Gràcies!

Roc

Contents

| Acknowledgement v | | | | |
|-------------------|---------------------------------|---|----|--|
| Introduction | | | | |
| 1 | Preliminaries | | | |
| | 1.1 | Basic Concepts and Notations | 9 | |
| | 1.2 | The Bochner Integral | 12 | |
| | 1.3 | The Bergman Metric | 15 | |
| | 1.4 | Some Interesting Inequalities | 17 | |
| | 1.5 | Harmonic and Subharmonic Functions | 19 | |
| | 1.6 | Several Notions of Differentiation | 20 | |
| | 1.7 | Type and Cotype of a Banach Space | 22 | |
| 2 | Vector-valued Bergman Spaces | | | |
| | 2.1 | Definition and Basic Properties | 26 | |
| | 2.2 | Projections and Duality | 29 | |
| | 2.3 | Atomic Decomposition | 32 | |
| 3 | Vector-valued Bloch Type Spaces | | | |
| | 3.1 | Vector-valued Bloch space | 40 | |
| | 3.2 | Vector-valued γ -Bloch space | 47 | |
| 4 | Small Hankel Operators | | | |
| | 4.1 | Basic Properties | 59 | |
| | 4.2 | Boundedness. Case $p \leq q \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 62 | |
| | 4.3 | Boundedness. Case $p > q$ | 66 | |
| | 4.4 | Conclusions and Examples | 71 | |
| 5 | Factorization Results 7 | | | |
| | 5.1 | Weak Factorizations and Hankel Forms | 75 | |
| | 5.2 | Applications | 83 | |
| 6 | Big | Hankel Operators | 87 | |
| | 6.1 | Preliminary Results | 88 | |
| | 62 | Bounded Hankel Operators | 93 | |

| 7 Open Questions and Future Research | 99 | |
|---|------------|--|
| 7.1 Compact Hankel operators | . 99 | |
| 7.2 Schatten class Hankel operators | . 100 | |
| 7.3 Weak Factorization of Hardy Spaces in the Bessel Setting | . 100 | |
| 7.4 The Bergman Projection on Weighted Vector-valued Bergman Spaces | 102 | |
| Bibliography | | |
| Index | | |

Introduction

For $0 and <math>\alpha > -1$ the Bergman spaces A^p_{α} consist of those holomorphic functions f on the unit disk \mathbb{D} of the complex plane \mathbb{C} such that

$$\|f\|_{A^p_{\alpha}} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{D}} |f(z)|^p \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)\right)^{1/p} < \infty,$$

where $dv_{\alpha}(z) = (\alpha+1)(1-|z|^2)^{\alpha} dv(z)$ and dv is the normalized area measure on \mathbb{D} . The theory of Bergman spaces has been a central subject of study in complex analysis during many years with many known applications. The book [15] by S. Bergman contains the first systematic treatment of the Hilbert space of square integrable analytic functions with respect to Lebesgue area measure on a domain. When attention was later directed to the spaces A^p over the unit disk, it was natural to call them Bergman spaces. At the end of the 20th century it came a period of intense research on Bergman spaces and, nowadays, there are many excellent text books of the topic of Bergman spaces [37, 42, 82, 83].

Let \mathbb{B}_n be the unit ball of the *n*-dimensional complex plane \mathbb{C}^n $(n \ge 1)$. As the reader may have already noticed, in this dissertation we want to study a further generalization of the theory: we focus on vector-valued Bergman spaces on \mathbb{B}_n with the same weight, in contrast to the scalar-valued Bergman spaces mentioned earlier. Usually, we write X for a general complex Banach space. A vector-valued function $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to X$ is a function that takes values in some Banach space X. For 0 $and <math>\alpha > -1$, the vector-valued Bergman spaces $A^p_{\alpha}(X)$ are defined as the space of all holomorphic functions f on \mathbb{B}_n such that

$$||f||_{A^p_{\alpha}(X)} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} ||f(z)||_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)\right)^{1/p} < \infty.$$

Now $dv_{\alpha}(z) = c_{\alpha}(1-|z|^2)^{\alpha} dv(z)$, where dv is the normalized volume measure on \mathbb{B}_n and c_{α} is a normalizing constant so that $v_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n) = 1$. If $X = \mathbb{C}$ we obtain the previous scalar-valued Bergman spaces, so clearly, this generalizes the standard Bergman spaces defined above.

Although the vector-valued Bergman spaces have similar properties to the scalarvalued Bergman spaces, this generalization makes the theory much more complicated, sometimes even the most simple thing in the classical case presents new difficulties and then new ideas are required. The theory of vector-valued functions is by now classical, but the incorporation of Bergman spaces in the equation is much more recent. There are many authors that are working nowadays on vector-valued Bergman spaces, see [7, 19–21, 23, 27–32, 49, 51, 63, 77] for example.

The main goal of this work is to study vector-valued Bergman spaces and to obtain the weak factorization of these spaces. In order to do that we need to study small Hankel operators with operator-valued holomorphic symbols. We also study the big Hankel operator acting on vector-valued Bergman spaces.

This dissertation is structured into seven chapters.

In **CHAPTER 1** we collect all the previous results and notations needed to follow the rest of the manuscript. More concretely, some of the topics covered in this chapter are the Bochner integral, the integral for vector-valued functions appearing first in [22] by Bochner; the Bergman metric, results of the metric used in \mathbb{B}_n ; harmonic and subharmonic function; basic notions of differentiation, where the differential operators $R^{\alpha,t}$ are presented which is important in the next chapters and in the final section we recall some topics on Banach spaces, as the Rademacher type and cotype of a Banach space and some other related results.

Having all that in mind, in **CHAPTER 2**, the vector-valued Bergman spaces are presented. First of all, we show the standard properties of this kind of theory, such as that the point evaluations $z \mapsto f(z)$ are bounded linear operators in Theorem 2.1.1. As in the scalar case, we still have an integral representation of each function $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(X)$ as

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

The vector-valued polynomials $\mathcal{P}(X)$ are still dense in the vector-valued Bergman spaces $A^p_{\alpha}(X)$, for $1 \leq p < \infty$. In Section 2.2, we basically prove the boundedness of the Bergman projection, defined as

$$P_{\beta}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n, f \in L^1_{\alpha}(X), \beta > -1,$$

on the vector-valued Bergman spaces. That is, the projection $P_{\beta}: L^{p}_{\alpha}(X) \to A^{p}_{\alpha}(X)$ is bounded for $1 \leq p < \infty$ if $p(\beta + 1) > \alpha + 1$. All these properties and results are used later in subsequent chapters. We want to mention that most of the result of this chapter are certainly known to experts, and if new, the proof of the result follows easily with the same argument as the scalar case with appropriate modifications. One example of this is the atomic decomposition of vector-valued Bergman spaces on \mathbb{B}_n obtained in Theorem 2.3.5. Some especial case appears in [27]. Atomic decomposition for scalar-valued Bergman spaces was obtained by Coifman and Rochberg [24] and after that was a central topic in complex analysis.

It is known that Bloch spaces are intimately related to Bergman spaces. Recall that the scalar-valued Bloch space \mathcal{B} is defined as the set of holomorphic functions

f in \mathbb{D} such that

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{D}}(1-|z|^2)|f'(z)|<\infty.$$

The generalization to the case of vector-valued functions on \mathbb{B}_n is done in a similar way: changing the derivative by the Laplacian and the absolute value by the norm on the Banach space X.

One of the main reasons of the relationship between Bloch and Bergman spaces is that, roughly speaking, the Bloch space can be thought of as the limit case of the Bergman spaces A^p_{α} as $p \to \infty$, see [82, Theorem 2.16] for more understanding on that. In fact, the Bloch space \mathcal{B} can be naturally identified with the dual space of A^1_{α} . The integral representation for the Bloch space and the duality between A^1_{α} and the Bloch space can be found in many different papers/books, including [37, 68, 69, 82].

Another important reason is that Bloch type spaces appear naturally when we work with Hankel operators. A classical theorem says that the small Hankel operator is bounded on the Bergman spaces if and only if the symbol belongs to some Bloch space [6, 8]. As we deal with Hankel operators, Bloch type spaces will be very important for us. Moreover, the Bloch space is also interesting in its own right. In fact, the Bloch space has been studied much earlier that the Bergman spaces. In particular, the Bloch space of the unit disk plays an important role in classical geometric function theory. See [3,4,8,9,83] for more information on them. Later on, serious research on the Bloch space of the unit ball began with Timoney's papers [72,73] and by now it is very developed, see, for example, [82].

The vector-valued Bloch type spaces play a similar role and therefore we dedicate one full chapter to these spaces. **CHAPTER 3** is devoted to present and characterize the vector-valued Bloch type spaces. In Section 3.1 we characterize the vector-valued Bloch spaces $\mathcal{B}(X)$ in terms of some specific function and we show its integral representation in Theorem 3.1.3. More concretely, we show that a holomorphic Xvalued function f is in $\mathcal{B}(X)$ if and only if $f = P_{\alpha}g$ for some $g \in L^{\infty}(X)$, which is again equivalent to that the function $(1-|z|^2)^t R^{\alpha,t} f(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(X)$, for some t > 0. The scalar case of this result was proved in [72, 82]. In this section we also prove that the dual of $A^1_{\alpha}(X)$ can be identified with $\mathcal{B}(X^*)$ in Theorem 3.1.6. This duality is also proved in [7] by J. L. Arregui and O. Blasco, but our proof here is more similar to the classical one in Zhu's book [82]. In Section 3.2 we prove the same characterization and integral representation of the more generalized Bloch type space $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(X)$, see [82, Chapter 7] for more details on the scalar case of these spaces. More concretely, in Theorem 3.2.1 we can find the generalization of Theorem 3.1.3 for these spaces and as a consequence we obtain another characterization better suited for our purpose in Corollary 3.2.3 saying that a holomorphic X-valued function f is in $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if and only if the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma + t} R^{\alpha, t+1} f(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for some t > 0 and some conditions on α and γ . Note that all this results are important for the next chapters.

A very important result of this section is also Theorem 3.2.6 that we state here:

Theorem 3.2.6. For any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ we have

$$(1 - |z|^2) \|Rf(z)\|_X \le (1 - |z|^2) \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n} \le \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^n}, \qquad f \in \mathcal{H}(X).$$

The same result for the scalar case is straightforward to prove (see [82, Lemma 2.14]). However on the vector-valued case this is non trivial anymore. This theorem allows us, among other things, to fully characterize the general vector-valued Bloch spaces in Theorem 3.2.8 and connect it to the characterization of Hankel operators. Thus, it is important to note again that all this material is also used later on especially for the characterization of the Hankel operators on the vector-valued Bergman spaces.

Since we mention Hankel operators, in **CHAPTER 4** we prove the characterization of the boundedness of the small Hankel operator with analytic operator-valued symbols between vector-valued Bergman spaces (of different type). We explain what this means in the following. First of all, we consider $1 < p, q < \infty$ and X and Y Banach spaces, the small Hankel operator $h_T: A^p_\alpha(X) \to A^q_\alpha(Y)$ with a holomorphic operator-valued symbol $T: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)$ is defined as

$$h_T f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(w) f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w),$$

where \overline{X} is the complex conjugate of the Banach space X (do not confuse with the dual), see Section 1.1 for more details on \overline{X} . The scalar case of this small Hankel operator is defined as $h_{\varphi}f = \overline{P_{\alpha}}(\varphi f)$, for φ a holomorphic scalar function. Classically, in the study of small Hankel operators, it turns out that it is more convenient to study $h_{\overline{\varphi}}$ instead of h_{φ} , maybe the reason is the use of $\overline{P_{\alpha}}$. Then, note that, roughly speaking, $\overline{h_{\overline{\varphi}}}$ is similar to h_T defined above, so clearly this definition generalizes the scalar case (see Section 4.4 for more details). Hankel operators have been extensively studied and developed by many authors during many years. Small Hankel operators on Bergman spaces are closer in spirit to Hankel operators on Hardy spaces, which is also a well-known important theory. Initially, some authors tried to prove the boundedness of the small Hankel operator $h_{\overline{\varphi}}$ when p = q =2. Then many others authors tried to generalize it for other exponents p and q. It is known that for values of $p \leq q$ the methods and characterizations are very close and similar, but when p > q the picture changes completely and usually the characterizations are known to be different and more difficult to prove.

In this chapter we completely characterize the boundedness of the small Hankel operator h_T in terms of its operator-valued symbol T for all the different values of p and q. We begin in Section 4.1 with some preliminaries and basic properties needed later on in this chapter. Next, in Sections 4.2 and 4.3 the actual characterizations of h_T in terms of its symbol T are made. The characterization when p = q is in Theorem 4.2.1 which we state here:

Theorem 4.2.1. For $1 , the small Hankel operator <math>h_T \colon A^p_{\alpha}(X) \to A^p_{\alpha}(Y)$ is bounded if and only if $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ (with equivalent norms). Here you can see the relation between Bloch and Bergman spaces, and this is a result very similar to the scalar case. You can find the scalar case of this result when p = 2 in [83]. In Theorem 4.2.2 this result is generalized and improved in order to include the cases of p < q. Although both theorems and cases can be proved together, we have decided to divide into two different theorems because the first one is easier to prove and to follow, then the other is a generalization of that. Also the scalar case of the first theorem is much more classical, so it is much easier to compare. For the remaining cases of p > q it is proved in Theorem 4.3.3, which is the following:

Theorem 4.3.3. For $1 < q < p < \infty$ and Y with finite cotype, the small Hankel operator $h_T: A^p_{\alpha}(X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(Y)$ is bounded if and only if $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))$ (with equivalent norms) where

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}.$$

As we said the characterization here changes completely and the symbol T is in terms of a different vector-valued Bergman space, which is a similar result of the scalar case. In fact, for the proof, we use similar ideas to the scalar case [60] that in turn use the Rademancher functions, this is why the condition of the cotype appears (see Section 1.7 for more details on Rademancher functions and cotype of a Banach space). Finally, in Section 4.4 we expose some examples and applications of these results. For example, in Theorem 4.4.5 the generalization of the small Hankel operator of A. Aleman and O. Constantin [1] is made.

Another very important consequence of the boundedness of the small Hankel operator between vector-valued Bergman spaces is shown in **CHAPTER 5**. We establish the weak factorization of the vector-valued Bergman spaces. Factorization of analytic functions is a very big topic and many people worked on it during many years and it is known to have many applications. It is a classic result of functional analysis that the Hardy space H^1 can be factored into two functions in the Hardy space H^2 . This factorization is sometimes called "strong". After that many authors tried to generalize it to different contexts. Horowitz [43] proved the strong factorization of weighted Bergman spaces on the unit disk and Gowda in [40] showed that this strong factorization is no longer possible to obtain for Bergman spaces in the unit ball \mathbb{B}_n of \mathbb{C}^n of dimension $n \geq 2$. Then, Coifman, Rochberg and Weiss [25] enlighten us that it is still possible to obtain some factorization, which was called weak factorization. The proof of Coifman, Rochberg and Weiss was done for the Hardy space H^1 . The fact that the scalar Bergman spaces A^1_{α} admit a weak factorization is a direct consequence of the atomic decomposition mentioned earlier. More recently, in [60], Pau and Zhao proved the weak factorization of the scalar-valued Bergman spaces A^p_{α} with p > 1 as a consequence of the boundedness of the small Hankel operator, which where we take the ideas. Basically, this weak factorization for the scalar-valued Bergman space A^q_{α} , for $1 < q < \infty$, consists of the following: every $f \in A^q_{\alpha}$ can be written as $f = \sum_k g_k h_k$, where the sequences $\{g_k\}_k \subset A^{p_1}_{\alpha}$ and ${h_k}_k \subset A^{p_2}_{\alpha}$ and $p_1, p_2 > 1$ satisfying that $1/q = 1/p_1 + 1/p_2$, and

$$\sum_{k} \|g_{k}\|_{A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}} \|h_{k}\|_{A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}} \leq C \|f\|_{A^{q}_{\alpha}}$$

It is natural to ask if this weak factorization can be extended to the setting of vectorvalued Bergman spaces. One of the problems for the vector-valued case is that in general it makes no sense to "multiply" an X-valued function f with an Y-valued function g. This is why we consider a generalized product $x \boxdot y$ defined for $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$. Then, the product type space (sometimes denoted weakly factored space in the scalar case) $X \bigoplus Y$ is the completion of finite sums

$$\sum_{k} x_k \boxdot y_k, \qquad \{x_k\}_k \subset X, \{y_k\}_k \subset Y,$$

with the following norm

$$||u||_{X \widehat{\Box} Y} := \inf \left\{ \sum_{k} ||x_k||_X ||y_k||_Y : u = \sum_{k} x_k \boxdot y_k \right\}.$$

It is remarkable to say that it already exists a lot of different types and examples of products of this kind, as for example, the product tensor product space $X \otimes Y$, even the same weakly factored space $X \odot Y$ denoted in [60], the point evaluations or any well defined product of two Banach spaces, see Section 5.1 for more details. In fact, in Section 5.1 we can find the main result of this chapter, which is the weak factorization of vector-valued Bergman spaces in Theorem 5.1.4 using this kind of product. The result is the following:

Theorem 5.1.4. For $1 < q < \infty$ and Y^* with finite cotype, we have

$$A^{q}_{\alpha}(X \widehat{\boxdot} Y) = A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(Y),$$

(with equivalent norms) for any $p_1, p_2 > 1$ satisfying $1/q = 1/p_1 + 1/p_2$.

Note that the case of q = 1 is also proved in Theorem 5.1.5 which basically says that

$$A^1_{\alpha}(X \widehat{\boxdot} Y) = A^p_{\alpha}(X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p'}_{\alpha}(Y),$$

where p > 1 and p' is the conjugate exponent of p. Note that in this particular case we do not need the condition of cotype of one of the Banach spaces. The reason behind that is because we use Theorem 4.2.1 instead of Theorem 4.3.3, which is the used to prove Theorem 5.1.4. Meanwhile, we also show the characterization of the boundedness of some Hankel form which is known to be very related to the weak factorization. In Section 5.2 we show different applications of this weak factorization, like a generalization of a theorem of O. Constantin in [28] that is Theorem 5.2.2, where she works on the particular Banach spaces, the Schatten classes S^t . The other different and well-known Hankel operator is the big Hankel operator. Big Hankel operators are closely related to Toeplitz operators and they are also well-known and well established between scalar-valued function spaces, see [83] for a general reference. The scalar setting of this big Hankel operator is defined as $H_{\varphi}f = (I - P_{\alpha})(\varphi f)$ and it is known that $H_{\varphi} = 0$ when φ is analytic. This means that it makes sense to study big Hankel operators with anti-analytic symbols, which means studying $H_{\overline{\varphi}}$ such that φ is analytic. Our general approach is the following: considering $1 < p, q < \infty$, X and Y Banach spaces. Let $T \colon \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be a holomorphic operator-valued symbol, then the big Hankel operator $H_T \colon A^p_{\alpha}(X) \to L^q_{\alpha}(Y)$ is defined as

$$H_T f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(T(z) - T(w))\overline{f(w)}}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Note the similarity with the scalar setting: the big Hankel operator $\overline{H_{\varphi}}$ is, roughly speaking, very similar to H_T , so H_T is a generalization of the scalar setting. The first major progress made in the study of big Hankel operators on scalar-valued Bergman spaces is Axler's paper [8], in which it is shown the boundedness and compactness of big Hankel operators with anti-analytic symbols on the scalar-valued Bergman spaces on \mathbb{D} in the case of p = q = 2. Later on, Axler's result was generalized in [5,6] to weighted scalar-valued Bergman spaces on \mathbb{B}_n . In the case of general symbols, Zhu [80] is the first to exhibit the connection between size estimates of a Hankel operator and the mean oscillation of the symbol in the Bergman metric. This idea is then generalized and developed systematically in [13,14] and [11] in the context of a bounded symmetric domain. For the other cases, Pau, Zhao and Zhu [61] solved the problem for $p \leq q$, which they also solved for different weights among other things.

Therefore, in **CHAPTER 6** we fully characterize the boundedness of the big Hankel operator on vector-valued Bergman spaces in terms of its operator-valued holomorphic symbol for all cases of p > 1 and q > 1, and so we solve and generalize the previous problem. In Section 6.1 there are some preliminary results included, and in Section 6.2, the important results of this chapter are shown. Theorem 6.2.1 and Corollary 6.2.2 deal with the cases of $p \leq q$. The following result is only the case p = q but we think it is enough to include here for the sake of clarity:

Theorem 6.2.2. For $1 , the Hankel operator <math>H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(Y)$ is bounded if and only if $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ (with equivalent norms).

For the remaining case, when q < p, we have Theorem 6.2.3 which is the following:

Theorem 6.2.3. For $1 < q < p < \infty$, the Hankel operator $H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(Y)$ is bounded if and only if $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))$ where 1/t = 1/q - 1/p (with equivalent norms).

Note that both cases are mirrors to the scalar case, as predicted.

Finally, in **CHAPTER 7** we discuss some open problems we have not been able to solve, as well as some other interesting problems in the same line as this work in order to look on the future.

We also want to mention that during the process of this dissertation, building on his master thesis, the author had the opportunity to work with D. Pascuas and publish the article [56] on Toeplitz operators on generalized Fock spaces. However, we have decided to not include it in this manuscript.

CHAPTER 1 Preliminaries

In this chapter we collect most of the information that we need for the rest of the manuscript. The results of this chapter are well known, but we include it for completeness. More concretely, here we present basic concepts of the unit ball of the complex plane, the Bergman metric, holomorphic vector-valued functions, the Bochner integral, some needed inequalities and finally we discuss briefly the notions of type and cotype of Banach spaces.

1.1 Basic Concepts and Notations

Let \mathbb{C} be the set of complex numbers. Throughout this manuscript we fix a positive integer $n \in \mathbb{N}, n \ge 1$ and let

$$\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C} imes \stackrel{n)}{\cdots} imes \mathbb{C}$$

denote the complex Euclidean space of dimension n. The usual operations on \mathbb{C}^n , addition, scalar multiplication, and conjugation, are defined componentwise. For

$$z = (z_1, \cdots, z_n), \qquad w = (w_1, \cdots, w_n),$$

in \mathbb{C}^n , we define

$$\langle z, w \rangle = \langle z, w \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^n} = z_1 \overline{w_1} + \dots + z_n \overline{w_n},$$

where $\overline{w_k}$ is the complex conjugate of w_k . We also write the norm of $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$ as

$$|z| = \sqrt{\langle z, z \rangle} = \sqrt{|z_1|^2 + \dots + |z_n|^2}.$$

The space \mathbb{C}^n becomes an *n*-dimensional Hilbert space when endowed with the inner product above $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. The standard basis for \mathbb{C}^n consist of $\{e_k\}_{k=1}^n$ where

$$e_k = (0, \cdots, 0, \stackrel{k}{1}, 0, \cdots, 0), \qquad k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$

We denote the open unit ball in \mathbb{C}^n by

$$\mathbb{B}_n := \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n \colon |z| < 1 \}.$$

The open unit disk of \mathbb{C} , \mathbb{B}_1 , is usually denoted by \mathbb{D} . The boundary of \mathbb{B}_n , $\partial \mathbb{B}_n$, will be denoted by \mathbb{S}_n and is called the unit sphere in \mathbb{C}^n . Thus

$$\mathbb{S}_n := \partial \mathbb{B}_n = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n \colon |z| = 1 \}.$$

Occasionally, we will also need the closed unit ball

$$\overline{\mathbb{B}}_n = \mathbb{B}_n \cup \mathbb{S}_n = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n \colon |z| \le 1 \}$$

Finally, we usually use the notation B(z,r) for the Euclidean ball of radius r and center $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$. The Euclidean ball B(0,r) sometimes is denoted by $r\mathbb{B}_n$.

For a complex Banach space X, we denote by $\|\cdot\|_X \colon X \to \mathbb{C}$ the norm of X. Let X^* represent the topological dual space (or sometimes called continuous dual) of X, i.e., the elements $x^* \in X^*$ are functionals $x^* \colon X \to \mathbb{C}$ linear and bounded. Let (Ω, Σ, μ) be a measure space $(\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n)$. In a general sense, we define a vector-valued function f (sometimes called X-valued function) as a function that takes values to the Banach space X, that is, $f \colon \Omega \to X$.

This manuscript works basically with vector-valued holomorphic functions in a complex Banach space X. There are many equivalent definitions of holomorphic functions in several complex variables. Basically, a function f is holomorphic in several complex variables if and only if it is holomorphic in each variable separately. Thus a function $f: \Omega \to X$ is said to be holomorphic in Ω if for every point $z \in \Omega$ and for every $k \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ the limit

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_k}(z) := \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{f(z + \lambda e_k) - f(z)}{\lambda}$$

exists (and is finite), where $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and is denoted the partial derivative of f respect to z_k . For simplicity, sometimes we use the following notation $\partial_k f := \partial f / \partial z_k$. We denote $\mathcal{H}(\Omega, X)$ to be the set of vector-valued holomorphic functions $f : \Omega \to X$. If $X = \mathbb{C}$ we write $\mathcal{H}(\Omega) := \mathcal{H}(\Omega, \mathbb{C})$, the classical set of scalar-valued holomorphic functions. It is well-known that a vector-valued function $f : \Omega \to X$ is holomorphic if and only if it is weakly holomorphic, that is, $x^* \circ f \in \mathcal{H}(\Omega)$, for any $x^* \in X^*$.

We denote by $X^n := X \times \cdots \times X$ the Banach space product of n copies of X with norm

$$||x||_{X^n} := \left(\sum_{i=1}^n ||x_i||_X^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in X^n.$$

Following the same notation, we will write $\mathbb{B}_n(X)$ for the ball of radii 1 of X^n , that is,

$$\mathbb{B}_n(X) := \{ x \in X^n : \|x\|_{X^n} < 1 \},\$$

and denote by $\mathbb{B}(X) := \mathbb{B}_1(X)$. It is clear that $\mathbb{B}_n = \mathbb{B}_n(\mathbb{C})$.

Let $x \in X$, $x^* \in X^*$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ a scalar value. We define

$$(\lambda x^*)(x) := \overline{\lambda} \cdot x^*(x).$$

We also use throughout this manuscript the following notation

$$\langle x, x^* \rangle_X := x^*(x)$$

that represent the "inner product" in the Banach space X. Notice that for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$

$$\left<\lambda x,x^*\right>_X=x^*(\lambda x)=\lambda\cdot x^*(x)=(\overline{\lambda}x^*)(x)=\left< x,\overline{\lambda}x^*\right>_X$$

so we have the regular rule of inner product. Note that when X = H is a Hilbert space (a Banach space endowed with an inner product) we have that $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_H$ is the usual inner product of H. We also know, by duality (a consequence of Hahn-Banach), that for every element $x \in X$,

$$\|x\|_X = \sup_{\|x^*\|_{X^*} = 1} |\langle x, x^* \rangle_X|$$

We need also the notion of the "conjugate" of a Banach space X. For an element $x \in X$, we denote \overline{x} the functional on X^* such that $\overline{x}(x^*) = \overline{\langle x, x^* \rangle_X}$, for any $x^* \in X^*$. We call \overline{x} the complex conjugate to x. Then, the set of all these complex conjugates is \overline{X} , that is,

$$\overline{X} := \{ \overline{x} \colon x \in X \} \,.$$

We can see that \overline{X} is a Banach space with norm $\|\overline{x}\|_{\overline{X}} := \sup_{\|x^*\|_{X^*}=1} |\overline{x}(x^*)|$. Moreover, it follows that $\|x\|_X = \|\overline{x}\|_{\overline{X}}$, for every $x \in X$, so that X and \overline{X} are isometrically anti-isomorphic. We were not able to find so much information of that in the literature but one can find some in [55, Section 1].

For any two Banach spaces X and Y, we denote by $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ the space of bounded linear operators from X to Y. In some cases we write $\mathcal{L}(X)$ instead of $\mathcal{L}(X, X)$, that is, $\mathcal{L}(X) := \mathcal{L}(X, X)$. Recall that when Y is a Banach space, the space of linear bounded operators $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ is also a Banach space endowed with the following norm

$$||T||_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} = \sup_{||x||_X=1} ||Tx||_Y, \qquad T \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y).$$

Note that $X^* = \mathcal{L}(X, \mathbb{C})$, and since \mathbb{C} is always Banach space (with the absolute value as a norm) we have that X^* is always a Banach space, even if X is only a normed vector space. We refer to [82,83] for more information and general reference about this and more.

We let dv denote the normalized volume measure on \mathbb{B}_n , so that $v(\mathbb{B}_n) = 1$. The surface measure on \mathbb{S}_n will be denoted by $d\sigma$ and we normalize σ so that $\sigma(\mathbb{S}_n) = 1$. The measures v and σ are related by

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(z) \,\mathrm{d}v(z) = 2n \int_0^1 r^{2n-1} \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} f(r\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}r. \tag{1.1.1}$$

Sometimes this is called integration in polar coordinates, see also [82, Lemma 1.8]. If $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, then the measure $(1 - |z|^2)^{\alpha} dv(z)$ is finite if and only if $\alpha > -1$. Thus,

we consider a real parameter $\alpha > -1$ and define a weighted volume measure dv_{α} on \mathbb{B}_n by

$$dv_{\alpha}(z) := c_{\alpha}(1 - |z|^2)^{\alpha} dv(z), \qquad (1.1.2)$$

where c_{α} is a normalizing constant taken so that $v_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n) = 1$.

In order to motivate the following section when $\Omega = \mathbb{B}_n$ (mostly our case) and for a scalar function $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ we recall the well-known mean value property for holomorphic functions, that is

$$f(0) = \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} f(r\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta) \tag{1.1.3}$$

for any $0 \leq r < 1$. This particular equality is very important in our theory, so it will be very interesting to get it for vector-valued functions. In fact, it is not difficult to assume it, the only difference here is the integral of a vector-valued function. Even for a general vector-valued function $f \in \mathcal{H}(\Omega, X)$, the integral " $\int_{\Omega} f$ " has no meaning since the functions that we consider here take values in a Banach space X and the Lebesgue integral only makes sense for scalar functions. Thus, we need to understand what an integral of a vector-valued function $f \in \mathcal{H}(\Omega, X)$ means. Perhaps you already noticed that this concern also is valid for (1.1.1).

It is also very interesting to know if we have similar properties that the Lebesgue integral have, like linearity, measurability and, for example, when the norm of the integral and the integral of the norm is comparable and in which sense.

Therefore, in order to get the notion of an integral on the vector-valued setting and other properties one needs to extend the definition of Lebesgue integral to functions tanking values in a Banach space X, namely the Bochner integral.

1.2 The Bochner Integral

In this section we deal with the integrability of vector-valued functions, so we introduce the Bochner integral and some properties in a general way. Let (Ω, Σ, μ) be a measure space and X be a Banach space. The Bochner integral is defined in much the same way as the Lebesgue integral. We refer to [33, 34] for an account of all of this. First, a simple function is any finite sum of the form

$$s_n(z) = \sum_{k=1}^n x_k \chi_{E_k}(z), \quad z \in \Omega$$

where $\{E_k\}_k$ is a sequence of pairwise disjoint members of the σ -algebra Σ and $\{x_k\}_k \subset X$ is a sequence of elements of X. The χ_E denotes the characteristic function of $E \in \Sigma$. We say that the simple function s_n is Bochner integrable with respect to μ whenever

$$\sum_{k=1}^n \|x_k\|_X \,\mu(E_k) < \infty,$$

that is, if $\mu(E_k)$ is finite whenever $x_k \neq 0$. In this case, we define the Bochner integral of s_n over $E \in \Sigma$ to be

$$\int_E s_n(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z) = \int_E \left[\sum_{k=1}^n x_k \chi_{E_k}(z)\right] \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z) := \sum_{k=1}^n x_k \mu(E \cap E_k)$$

exactly as it is for the ordinary Lebesgue integral.

A vector-valued function $f: \Omega \to X$ is μ -measurable whenever there exists a sequence $\{s_n\}_n$ of X-valued, Σ -simple functions defined on Ω such that

$$s_n(z) \longrightarrow f(z), \qquad \mu\text{-almost every } z \in \Omega.$$
 (1.2.1)

A vector-valued function $f: \Omega \to X$ is Bochner integrable with respect to μ when f is μ -measurable and whenever there exists a sequence of Bochner integrable simple functions $\{s_n\}_n$ of the above form such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \|f(z) - s_n(z)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z) = 0 \tag{1.2.2}$$

where the integral is an ordinary Lebesgue integral. In this case, the *Bochner integral* of f over $E \in \Sigma$ is defined by

$$\int_E f(z) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_E s_n(z) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z).$$

It is common to call $L^1_{\mu}(\Omega, X)$ the set of Bochner integrable functions respect to μ . It can be shown, see [34] for a proof, that a μ -measurable function $f: \Omega \to X$ is Bochner integrable with respect to μ if and only if

$$\int_{\Omega} \|f(z)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z) < \infty.$$

From now on, a μ -Bochner integrable function it refers to a function that is Bochner integrable with respect to μ .

Lemma 1.2.1. Let X and Y be Banach spaces, and $T: X \to Y$ be a bounded linear operator. If f is a μ -Bochner integrable X-valued function, then Tf is μ -Bochner integrable and

$$\int_{E} Tf(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z) = T\left(\int_{E} f(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z)\right)$$
(1.2.3)

for every $E \in \Sigma$.

Proof. Let us see first that Tf is μ -Bochner integrable. Let $\{s_n\}_n$ be a sequence of μ -Bochner integrable simple functions such that (1.2.1) and (1.2.2) holds. Now take $\{Ts_n\}_n$ as a "candidate" sequence for Tf to be μ -Bochner integrable. Indeed, $\{Ts_n\}_n$ is a sequence of μ -Bochner integrable simple functions on Y because $\{s_n\}_n$ is on X and T is a bounded linear operator. In addition, for the same reason, we have that $\|Tf(z) - Ts_n(z)\|_Y \leq \|T\|_{X \to Y} \|f(z) - s_n(z)\|_X$, for every $z \in \Omega$. From that we can easily deduce with (1.2.1) that Tf is μ -measurable on Y. Moreover, by (1.2.2), we have that

$$\int_{\Omega} \|Tf(z) - Ts_n(z)\|_Y \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le \|T\|_{X \to Y} \int_{\Omega} \|f(z) - s_n(z)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \longrightarrow 0,$$

as $n \to \infty$. Now, let us prove the equality (1.2.3). Using the fact that T is a bounded linear operator and the μ -Bochner integrability of f

$$T\left(\int_{\Omega} f(z) d\mu(z)\right) = \lim_{n \to \infty} T\left(\int_{\Omega} s_n(z) d\mu(z)\right)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} T\left(\int_{\Omega} \left[\sum_{k=1}^n x_k \chi_{E_k}(z)\right] d\mu(z)\right)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} T\left(\sum_{k=1}^n x_k \mu(E_k)\right) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n T(x_k) \mu(E_k)$$

and, on the other hand, the μ -Bochner integrability of Tf shows that

$$\int_{\Omega} Tf(z) d\mu(z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} Ts_n(z) d\mu(z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \left[\sum_{k=1}^n T(x_k) \chi_{E_k}(z) \right] d\mu(z)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n T(x_k) \mu(E_k).$$

Proposition 1.2.2. Let X be a Banach space and let $f: \Omega \to X$ be a μ -Bochner integrable vector-valued function. Then the inequality

$$\left\|\int_{E} f(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z)\right\|_{X} \leq \int_{E} \|f(z)\|_{X} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z)$$

holds for all $E \in \Sigma$.

Proof. By duality we have

$$\left\|\int_{E} f(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z)\right\|_{X} = \sup\left\{\left|T\left(\int_{E} f(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z)\right)\right| : T \in X^{*}, \|T\|_{X^{*}} \leq 1\right\}.$$

Now, using Lemma 1.2.1 and the fact that T is bounded, we get that

$$\left| T\left(\int_E f(z) \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right) \right| \le \int_E |Tf(z)| \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z) \le \|T\|_{X^*} \int_E \|f(z)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z).$$

Then, it directly follows that

$$\left\|\int_{E} f(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z)\right\|_{X} \leq \int_{E} \|f(z)\|_{X} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(z).$$

In this manuscript we usually work with $\Omega = \mathbb{B}_n$ and $\mu = v_\alpha$ defined in (1.1.2). Since we already have defined the Bochner integral, we know that any vector-valued holomorphic function fulfills the mean value property in (1.1.3) and the integration in polar coordinates in (1.1.1), taking into account that the integral is the Bochner integral.

Let $0 . We already defined <math>L^1_{\mu}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and, in general, we can define the so-called *vector-valued Lebesgue spaces* or *Bochner-Lebesgue spaces* $L^p_{\mu}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ as the μ -measurable functions $f \colon \mathbb{B}_n \to X$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}\mu(z) < \infty.$$

For $p = \infty$ we consider $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ which consist of μ -measurable functions $f \colon \mathbb{B}_n \to X$ such that $\|f\|_X$ is μ -essentially bounded in \mathbb{B}_n .

When μ is the counting measure, the Bochner-Lebesgue space is denoted by $\ell^p(X)$, which consist of sequences $\{x_k\}_k$ of X such that

$$\|\{x_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|x_k\|_X^p\right)^{1/p} < \infty, \qquad 0 < p < \infty.$$

When $p = \infty$, $\|\{x_k\}_k\|_{\ell^{\infty}(X)} := \sup_k \|x_k\|_X < \infty$.

Another important example is when $\mu = v_{\alpha}$, for $\alpha > -1$, where v_{α} is defined in (1.1.2). So we consider the *weighted vector-valued Lebesgue spaces* $L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) :=$ $L^p_{v_{\alpha}}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ which consist of v_{α} -measurable functions $f \colon \mathbb{B}_n \to X$ such that

$$\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} = \|f\|_{L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)\right)^{1/p} < \infty, \qquad 0 < p < \infty.$$

When $X = \mathbb{C}$ we obtain the classical scalar-valued Lebesgue spaces $L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ (or simply L^p_{α}) and the norm is denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{p,\alpha}$. From now on, basically we consider $\Omega = \mathbb{B}_n$ and we will write $x \leq y$ when there is a positive constant C > 0 such that $x \leq Cy$. If both $x \leq y$ and $y \leq x$, then we write $x \simeq y$.

1.3 The Bergman Metric

It is important to define the Bergman metric in \mathbb{B}_n . Before that we need to introduce the automorphisms of \mathbb{B}_n , which are also very important in what follows. The characterization of the automorphisms in \mathbb{B}_n is well-known and we refer to [82, Section 1.2] for more details, and also for the rest of the section.

A mapping $F: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{B}_n$ is said to be bi-holomorphic if F is bijective, holomorphic and F^{-1} is also holomorphic. The automorphism group of \mathbb{B}_n , denoted by $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}_n)$, consists of all bi-holomorphic mappings of \mathbb{B}_n . It is clear that $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ is a group with composition being the groups operation. Traditionally, bi-holomorphic mapping are also called automorphisms. Basically, all the automorphisms consist of unitary transformations of \mathbb{C}^n and involutions. Indeed, the characterization of the unitary transformations of \mathbb{C}^n , in [82, Lemma 1.1], is the following: φ of Aut(\mathbb{B}_n) is a unitary transformation of \mathbb{C}^n if and only if $\varphi(0) = 0$.

On the other hand, the other class of automorphisms consist of symmetries of \mathbb{B}_n , called also involutive automorphisms or involutions. Thus, for any $a \in \mathbb{B}_n \setminus \{0\}$ we define

$$\varphi_a(z) := \frac{a - P_a(z) - s_a Q_a(z)}{1 - \langle z, a \rangle}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n, \tag{1.3.1}$$

where $s_a = \sqrt{1 - |a|^2}$, P_a is the orthogonal projection from \mathbb{C}^n onto the one dimensional subspace [a] generated by a, and Q_a is the orthogonal projection from \mathbb{C}^n onto $\mathbb{C}^n \oplus [a]$. It is clear that

$$P_a(z) = \frac{\langle z, a \rangle}{|a|^2} a, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C}^n,$$

and

$$Q_a(z) = z - \frac{\langle z, a \rangle}{|a|^2} a, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C}^n.$$

When a = 0, we simply define $\varphi_0(z) = -z$. It is obvious that each φ_a is a holomorphic mapping from \mathbb{B}_n into \mathbb{C}^n . Also in [82, Theorem 1.4] we have a complete characterization of automorphisms in \mathbb{B}_n , that is, every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ is of the form

$$\varphi = U\varphi_a = \varphi_b V,$$

where U and V are unitary transformations of \mathbb{C}^n , and φ_a and φ_b are involutions. For each $a \in \mathbb{B}_n$ the mapping φ_a satisfies

$$1 - |\varphi_a(z)|^2 = \frac{(1 - |a|^2)(1 - |z|^2)}{|1 - \langle z, a \rangle|^2}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

and

$$\varphi_a \circ \varphi_a(z) = z, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

In particular, each φ_a is an automorphism of \mathbb{B}_n that interchanges the points 0 and a.

The Bergman distance between two points $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_n$, is given by

$$\beta(z, w) = \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{1 + |\varphi_z(w)|}{1 - |\varphi_z(w)|},$$

where φ_z is the involutive automorphism of \mathbb{B}_n that interchanges 0 and z. A simple calculation shows that $|\varphi_z(w)| = \tanh \beta(z, w)$, for every $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_n$. It is well-known that the Bergman metric is invariant under automorphisms, that is,

$$\beta(\varphi(z),\varphi(w)) = \beta(z,w)$$

for all $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}_n)$.

$$D(z,r) := \{ w \in \mathbb{B}_n \colon \beta(z,w) < r \}.$$

It is also well known that, for any r > 0, we have that

$$v(D(z,r)) \simeq (1 - |z|^2)^{n+1}$$

and

$$v_{\alpha}(D(z,r)) \simeq (1 - |z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}$$

1.4 Some Interesting Inequalities

The following result is basic but at the same time very important. We will see that it is used intensively in many situations.

Theorem 1.4.1 ([82, Theorem 1.12]). For $\alpha > -1$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ let

$$I_{\alpha,\beta}(z) := \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{\left|1-\langle z,w\rangle\right|^{n+1+\alpha+\beta}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

(i) If $\beta = 0$, there exists C > 0 such that

$$I_{\alpha,\beta}(z) \le C \log \frac{1}{1 - |z|^2}.$$

(ii) If $\beta > 0$, there exists C > 0 such that

$$I_{\alpha,\beta}(z) \le \frac{C}{(1-|z|^2)^{\beta}}$$

(iii) If $\beta < 0$, there exists C > 0 such that

$$I_{\alpha,\beta}(z) \leq C.$$

The best constants C in the previous inequalities has been recently obtained in [50]. We also have a similar integral estimate with an extra unbounded factor $\beta(z, w)$ which is easy to prove.

Lemma 1.4.2. Let $\alpha > -1$, t > 0 and set

$$J_{\alpha,t}(z) := \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha}\beta(z,w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \,\mathrm{d}v(w),$$

then $J_{\alpha,t}(z) \lesssim (1-|z|^2)^{-t}$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Since $\beta(0, z)$ has logarithmic behavior we know that

$$\beta(z,w) = \beta(\varphi_z(z),\varphi_z(w)) = \beta(0,\varphi_z(w)) \lesssim (1 - |\varphi_z(w)|^2)^{\gamma} = \frac{(1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma}(1 - |w|^2)^{\gamma}}{|1 - \langle z,w \rangle|^{2\gamma}}$$

for small $\gamma < 0$ that will be determined later. Then, by Theorem 1.4.1 we have that

$$J_{\alpha,t}(z) \lesssim (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^{\alpha + \gamma}}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n + 1 + \alpha + t + 2\gamma}} \, \mathrm{d}v(w)$$
$$\lesssim (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma} (1 - |z|^2)^{-(t + \gamma)} = (1 - |z|^2)^{-t}$$

provided that $\alpha + \gamma > -1$ and $\gamma + t > 0$. This constraints are fulfilled if we choose γ such that

$$\max\{-t, -(1+\alpha)\} < \gamma < 0$$

and the result is proved.

Another interesting result is the following change of variables formula.

Proposition 1.4.3. Let $\alpha > -1$ and $f \in L^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f \circ \varphi(z) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(z) \frac{(1-|a|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}}{|1-\langle z,a\rangle|^{2(n+1+\alpha)}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

where $\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ and $a = \varphi(0)$.

Proof. This is proved in the same way as in the scalar case, see [82, Proposition 1.13]. \Box

Lemma 1.4.4 ([82, Lemma 2.20]). For each r > 0 there exists a positive constant C_r such that

$$C_r^{-1} \le \frac{(1-|a|^2)}{(1-|z|^2)} \le C_r$$

and

$$C_r^{-1} \le \frac{(1-|a|^2)}{|1-\langle a,z\rangle|} \le C_r$$

for all a and z in \mathbb{B}_n with $\beta(a, z) < r$. Moreover, if r is bounded above, then we may choose C_r to be independent of r.

A sequence $\{a_k\}_k$ of points in \mathbb{B}_n is called a *separated sequence* (in the Bergman metric) if there exists a positive constant $\delta > 0$ such that $\beta(a_i, a_j) > \delta$ for any $i \neq j$. We also need the following well known discrete version of Theorem 1.4.1.

Lemma 1.4.5. Let $\{z_k\}_k$ be a separated sequence in \mathbb{B}_n , and let n < t < s. Then there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-|z_k|^2)^t}{|1-\langle z, z_k \rangle|^s} \le C(1-|z|^2)^{t-s}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Lemma 1.4.5 can be deduced from Theorem 1.4.1 after noticing that, if a sequence $\{z_k\}_k$ is separated, then there is a constant r > 0 such that the Bergman metric balls $D(z_k, r)$ are pairwise disjoints.

1.5 Harmonic and Subharmonic Functions

A harmonic function is a continuous function that fulfills the mean value property. It is well known that any holomorphic function in Ω is harmonic in Ω . In particular, if $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then (1.1.3) holds.

It is known that we also have the area version of the mean value property

$$f(0) = \frac{1}{v_{\alpha}(R\mathbb{B}_n)} \int_{R\mathbb{B}_n} f(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w).$$
(1.5.1)

for any $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and 0 < R < 1.

A function $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to [-\infty, \infty)$ is said to be upper semi-continuous if

$$\limsup_{z \to z_0} f(z) \le f(z_0)$$

for every $z_0 \in \mathbb{B}_n$. An upper semi-continuous function $f \in \mathbb{B}_n \to [-\infty, \infty)$ is said to be *subharmonic* if

$$f(z) \le \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} f(z + r\zeta) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta)$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $0 \le r < 1 - |z|$. Sometimes this property is called the sub-mean value property. It is interesting to notice that if f is subharmonic, we also have

$$f(0) \le \frac{1}{v_{\alpha}(R\mathbb{B}_n)} \int_{R\mathbb{B}_n} f(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w), \qquad (1.5.2)$$

for any 0 < R < 1, which is the area version of the sub-mean value property. In our case is much more convenient to work with the area versions of these properties.

The next result is well known [64, Lemma 6.4.1] but, for completeness, we give the proof.

Lemma 1.5.1. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then the function $z \mapsto \log ||f(z)||_X$ is subharmonic.

Proof. Clearly $\log ||f||_X$ is upper semi-continuous since it is continuous. Now fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. By Hahn-Banach, there exists $x^* \in X^*$ with $||x^*||_{X^*} = 1$ such that

$$\left\|f(z)\right\|_{X} = \left|\langle f(z), x^{*}\rangle_{X}\right|.$$

Recall that $\langle f(z), x^* \rangle_X = x^*(f(z))$ is also an holomorphic function in \mathbb{C} . Then, by the scalar-valued case, we have

$$\begin{split} \log \|f(z)\|_X &= \log |\langle f(z), x^* \rangle_X| \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} \log |\langle f(z+r\zeta), x^* \rangle_X| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta) \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{S}_n} \log \|f(z+r\zeta)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta) \end{split}$$

for any $0 \le r < 1 - |z|$. This proves that $\log ||f||_X$ is subharmonic.

19

From this fact one can deduce the following particular and well known sub-mean value property. (This can be proved also using the scalar-valued case of the sub-mean value property, see [7] for example).

Theorem 1.5.2. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then the function $z \mapsto ||f(z)||_X^p$ is subharmonic, for every $0 . In particular, if <math>0 , <math>\alpha > -1$ and r > 0 then there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|f(z)\|_X^p \le \frac{C}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}} \int_{D(z,r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w),$$

for any $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Define $u(z) := \log ||f(z)||_X$, for $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, and $\varphi(t) := e^{pt}$, for $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, clearly,

$$||f(z)||_X^p = e^{p \log ||f(z)||_X} = \varphi \circ u(z),$$

for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Since u is subharmonic, by previous Lemma 1.5.1, and φ is an increasing convex function, we have using Jensen's inequality that $||f||_X^p$ is subharmonic as well. So we will have, by (1.5.2), that

$$\|f(0)\|_X^p \le \frac{1}{v_\alpha(R\mathbb{B}_n)} \int_{R\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w),$$

for any 0 < R < 1. If we take $R := \tanh r < 1$ we have that D(0, r) is a Euclidean ball centered at the origin with Euclidean radius R. Then

$$\|f(0)\|_X^p \le \frac{1}{v_\alpha(D(0,r))} \int_{D(0,r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Pick $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. If we replace f by $f \circ \varphi_z$ and we change variables according to Proposition 1.4.3 we obtain that

$$\|f(z)\|_X^p \le \frac{1}{v_\alpha(D(0,r))} \int_{D(z,r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \frac{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{2(n+1+\alpha)}} \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

By applying the equivalences in Lemma 1.4.4 we obtain that there exists $C = C(R, p, \alpha) > 0$ such that

$$\|f(z)\|_X^p \le \frac{C}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}} \int_{D(z,r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Note that $v_{\alpha}(D(z,r)) \simeq (1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}$.

1.6 Several Notions of Differentiation

An important concept of differentiation on the unit ball is that of the radial derivative, which is based on the usual partial derivatives of a holomorphic function. Thus for a holomorphic function $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to X$ we write

$$Rf(z) := \sum_{k=1}^{n} z_k \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_k}(z).$$

If the homogeneous expansion of the function f is given by

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_k(z),$$

where f_k are homogeneous holomorphic polynomials of degree k with coefficients on X, then

$$Rf(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} k f_k(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k f_k(z).$$

More generally, for any two real parameters α and t with the property that neither $n + \alpha$ nor $n + \alpha + t$ is a negative integer, we define an invertible operator

$$R^{\alpha,t}\colon \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\to \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)$$

as follows. If

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_k(z)$$

is the homogeneous expansion of f, then

$$R^{\alpha,t}f(z) := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(n+1+\alpha)\,\Gamma(n+1+k+\alpha+t)}{\Gamma(n+1+\alpha+t)\,\Gamma(n+1+k+\alpha)} f_k(z)$$

where Γ is the classical Gamma function. The inverse of $R^{\alpha,t}$, denoted by $R_{\alpha,t}$ is given by

$$R_{\alpha,t}f(z) := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(n+1+\alpha+t)\,\Gamma(n+1+k+\alpha)}{\Gamma(n+1+\alpha)\,\Gamma(n+1+k+\alpha+t)} f_k(z).$$

The following result gives an alternative description of these operators.

Proposition 1.6.1. Let $\alpha > -1$ and $t \ge 0$. Then the operator $\mathbb{R}^{\alpha,t}$ is the unique continuous linear operator on $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ satisfying

$$R^{\alpha,t}\left(\frac{x}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}\right) = \frac{x}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}}$$

for any $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $x \in X$. Similarly, the operator $R_{\alpha,t}$ is the unique continuous linear operator on $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ satisfying

$$R_{\alpha,t}\left(\frac{x}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}}\right) = \frac{x}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$

for any $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $x \in X$.

Proof. Just follow the proof given in [82, Proposition 1.14].

We also want to recall the notion of (invariant) gradient. Let X be a Banach space and $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then

$$\widetilde{\nabla}f(z) := \nabla(f \circ \varphi_z)(0)$$

and we call $\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\|_{X^n}$ the invariant gradient of f at $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, and $\|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n}$ is the holomorphic gradient of f at $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, where ∇ is the "complex" gradient

$$\nabla f(z) = \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_1}(z), \dots, \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_n}(z)\right).$$

1.7 Type and Cotype of a Banach Space

In this final section we define some advanced notations and topics on Banach spaces. As usual, we consider X any complex Banach space.

Let $r_k(t) := \operatorname{sgn}(\sin(2^k \pi t))$ be the *Rademacher functions*. There are many well known applications of these functions. Related with these functions we have the well-known Khintchine's inequality that can be found in many places, e.g. [78, p.12] or [84]. Let $0 . There exist positive constants <math>A_p, B_p > 0$ such that

$$A_p \left(\sum_{k=1}^N |x_k|^2\right)^{1/2} \le \left(\int_0^1 \left|\sum_{k=1}^N r_k(t)x_k\right|^p \, \mathrm{d}t\right)^{1/p} \le B_p \left(\sum_{k=1}^N |x_k|^2\right)^{1/2}, \quad (1.7.1)$$

for any $N \ge 1$ and $x_1, \ldots, x_N \in \mathbb{C}$. A direct consequence is that for any $0 < p, q < \infty$ we have that

$$\left(\int_0^1 \left|\sum_{k=1}^N r_k(t)x_k\right|^p \mathrm{d}t\right)^{1/p} \simeq \left(\int_0^1 \left|\sum_{k=1}^N r_k(t)x_k\right|^q \mathrm{d}t\right)^{1/q}$$

with the constants only depending on p and q. A result due to Kahane generalizes Khinchine's inequality (or the consequence) to arbitrary Banach spaces and provides estimates between L^p norms of Rademacher means (see [78, p.95] or [46] for the original result).

Theorem 1.7.1 (Khintchine-Kahane Inequality). Let $0 < p, q < \infty$. Then for any $N \ge 1$ there exists $C_{p,q} > 0$ such that

$$\left(\int_{0}^{1} \left\|\sum_{k=1}^{N} r_{k}(t)x_{k}\right\|_{X}^{p} \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq C_{p,q} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \left\|\sum_{k=1}^{N} r_{k}(t)x_{k}\right\|_{X}^{q} \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

for every Banach space X and $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^N \subset X$.

In general, a Banach space X does not fulfill Khintchine's inequality, but one can introduce a property that allows us to apply similar ideas. A Banach space X has *Rademacher type s* (or simply type s), for $1 \le s \le 2$, if there is a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left(\int_{0}^{1} \left\|\sum_{k=1}^{N} r_{k}(t)x_{k}\right\|_{X}^{2} \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq C\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|x_{k}\|_{X}^{s}\right)^{\frac{1}{s}}$$
(1.7.2)

no matter how we select $N \ge 1$ and a finitely many vectors $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^N \subset X$. We say that X has *Rademacher cotype* s (or simply cotype s), for $2 \le s < \infty$, if there exists C > 0 such that

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|x_k\|_X^s\right)^{\frac{1}{s}} \le C \left(\int_0^1 \left\|\sum_{k=1}^{N} r_k(t)x_k\right\|_X^2 \,\mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \tag{1.7.3}$$

no matter how we select $N \ge 1$ and a finitely many vectors $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^N \subset X$. The reason to put bounds in the values of type and cotype is to avoid trivial concepts since scalars does not satisfy neither (1.7.2) for s > 2 nor (1.7.3) for s < 2 (see Khintchine's inequality (1.7.1)). These concepts first appear in [53] and have become a basic fact for many situations. Take a look at [78] and [52] for historical background and applications.

Some examples of spaces with known type and cotype are the Lebesgue spaces L^p and the Schatten ideals S^p . The spaces $L^p(\Omega, X)$, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ are of type min(2, p) and of cotype max(2, p), see [78, p.98]. The spaces of p-Schatten class S^p , for $1 \leq p < \infty$, are known to have a finite cotype [74]. In particular, S^p for $p \geq 2$ is of type 2 and for $p \leq 2$ is of cotype 2. Also we know that if a Banach space X has type s then X^* has cotype r, where 1/s + 1/r = 1, see [78, p.97]. For example, since S^p for $p \geq 2$ is of type 2, $(S^p)^* = S^{p'}$ is of cotype 2, where 1/p + 1/p' = 1. There are other known examples of spaces with non trivial type and cotype like the Musielak-Orlicz spaces [47].
CHAPTER 2

Vector-valued Bergman Spaces

The theory of Bergman spaces has been a central subject of study in complex analysis during many years. It is well known that Bergman spaces are very related to Hardy spaces. In fact, the theory of Hardy spaces was appeared first in the literature and it is a well established theory with many applications. With the emergence of functional analysis, the Bergman spaces become also popular. Stefen Bergman, the forefather of the theory of Bergman spaces, in [15] had developed an elegant theory of Hilbert spaces of analytic functions. His study deals mainly with the case p = 2and is concerned with more general domains in the plane or in higher dimensional complex spaces, even so later on these spaces will be called Bergman spaces. In the next years many authors studied this theory trying to mimic the theory of Hardy spaces. However, it soon became apparent that Bergman spaces are in many aspects much more complicated than their Hardy spaces cousins. The theory of Bergman spaces is well developed and first established for the unit disk \mathbb{D} and for scalar functions, see [36, 37, 42, 83]. Later on, for the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^n you can see [65, 82]. We recommend [82] for more advanced topics on Bergman spaces and more.

In this chapter we present the next step of the theory of Bergman spaces, the theory of vector-valued Bergman spaces in the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^n . In Section 2.1 we show the basic properties of vector-valued Bergman spaces which are the similar ones of the scalar case. In Section 2.2 we prove basically the boundedness of the Bergman projection, again the results here present similarities with the scalar case, and which it is well known that it has many applications. Finally, in the last Section 2.3 we develop the new atomic decomposition for vector-valued Bergman spaces, used also in the next chapters. Atomic decomposition for Bergman spaces was initially due to Coifman and Rochberg [24] and after that was a central topic in complex analysis. Our proof here is a modified version from the originial [24] and [82].

If we do not say the contrary, in this chapter we consider X any complex Banach space and $\alpha > -1$ a scalar value.

2.1 Definition and Basic Properties

We begin defining one of the main ingredients in this manuscript. The weighted vector-valued Bergman spaces $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ are defined to be

$$A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) := \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \cap L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X), \qquad 0$$

It is easy to see that $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for all 1 .

Recall the sub-mean value property of functions $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ in Theorem 1.5.2: for any 0 and <math>r > 0 we have

$$\|f(z)\|_X^p \lesssim \frac{1}{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}} \int_{D(z,r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w),$$

for every $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. An immediate consequence is that any vectorvalued Bergman function f satisfies the pointwise estimate

$$||f(z)||_X \le \frac{C}{(1-|z|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)/p}} ||f||_{p,\alpha,X}$$

for some positive constant C independent of the point $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and the function f. As in the scalar case, one can get the constant C to be one.

Theorem 2.1.1. Let $0 and <math>\alpha > -1$. Then

$$||f(z)||_X \le \frac{||f||_{p,\alpha,X}}{(1-|z|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)/p}},$$

for any $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Let $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $0 . By Theorem 1.5.2, <math>||f||_X^p$ is a subharmonic function and using the area version of it in (1.5.2) with R = 1, we have that

$$||f(0)||_X^p \le \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} ||f(w)||_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w).$$

This proves the desired result when z = 0.

In general, fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and consider the function

$$F(w) := (f \circ \varphi_z)(w) \frac{(1 - |z|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{2(n+1+\alpha)/p}}, \qquad w \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Changing variables according to Proposition 1.4.3, we can see that

$$||F||_{p,\alpha,X} = ||f||_{p,\alpha,X}.$$

The desired result then follows from $||F(0)||_X \leq ||F||_{p,\alpha,X}$.

 $\mathbf{26}$

One important consequence is that, for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, the point evaluations

$$\begin{array}{cccc} T_z \colon & A^p_\alpha(\mathbb{B}_n, X) & \longrightarrow & X \\ & f & \mapsto & f(z) \end{array}$$

are bounded linear operators for all $1 \leq p < \infty$. This allows one to prove that the vector-valued Bergman spaces $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ are closed subspaces of $L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and, therefore, they are Banach spaces. In particular, $A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is a Hilbert space only if X is a Hilbert space as well. We use the following notation

$$\langle f, g \rangle_{\alpha, X} := \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(z), g(z) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z).$$
 (2.1.1)

to represent the "inner product" for $f \in A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. When we refer to the classical scalar-valued Bergman spaces we will denote $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\alpha} = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\alpha,\mathbb{C}}$ for the inner product of L^2_{α} . Recall that in the scalar Bergman spaces, A^2_{α} is also a reproducing kernel Hilbert space but in the vector-valued scheme this is not clear, but we still have an integral representation of each vector-valued Bergman function that we still call it, the reproducing formula.

Proposition 2.1.2. Let $\alpha > -1$ and $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w),$$

for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Since $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, we have, by (1.5.1) with R = 1, that

$$f(0) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)$$

Now fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. If we replace f by $f \circ \varphi_z$ and we change variables according to Proposition 1.4.3 we obtain that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f \circ \varphi_z(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(w) \frac{(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{2(n+1+\alpha)}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Replacing again f(w) by $f(w)(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}$ we get that

$$f(z)(1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha} = (1-|z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(w) \frac{(1-\langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}{|1-\langle z, w \rangle|^{2(n+1+\alpha)}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Then, simplifying we arrive at the desired reproducing formula.

We have some important consequences which are the following (recall the definitions of $R^{\alpha,t}$ and $R_{\alpha,t}$ given in Section 1.6).

Proposition 2.1.3. Let $\alpha > -1$, $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and t > 0. Then

$$R^{\alpha,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)$$

and

$$R_{\alpha,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w)$$

for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Taking the reproducing formula in Proposition 2.1.2 and applying $R^{\alpha,t}$ under the integral sign we get the first identity using Proposition 1.6.1. The case $R_{\alpha,t}$ is the same proof but applying the reproducing formula in Proposition 2.1.2 with $\alpha + t$ instead of α .

The following density property is well known and extremely useful in many situations.

Lemma 2.1.4. Let $\alpha > -1$. The vector-valued holomorphic polynomials, $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, are dense in $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for any $1 \leq p < \infty$.

Proof. Given a function $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, let $f_{\rho}(z) = f(\rho z)$ be its dilations, where $0 < \rho < 1$. Each function f_{ρ} is analytic in a larger disk, so it can be approximated uniformly in \mathbb{B}_n by polynomials, the partial sums of its Taylor series. Thus it will be enough to prove that f can be approximated in $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ norm by its dilations, i.e., $\|f - f_{\rho}\|_{p,\alpha,X} \to 0$ as $\rho \to 1$. First, we recall that the integral means

$$M_p(r,f) := \left(\int_{\mathbb{S}_n} \|f(r\zeta)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(\zeta) \right)^{1/p}, \qquad 0 \le r < 1,$$

are increasing with r, see [82, Corollary 4.21], and observe that $M_p(r, f_{\rho}) = M_p(r\rho, f)$. Therefore,

$$M_p^p(r, f - f_\rho) \le 2^p (M_p^p(r, f) + M_p^p(r, f_\rho)) \le 2^{p+1} M_p^p(r, f).$$

But the hypothesis that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is equivalent to saying that $M^p_p(r, f)$ is integrable over the interval [0, 1) with respect the measure $2nc_{\alpha}r^{2n-1}(1-r^2)^{\alpha}dr$, see (1.1.1), and it is clear that $f_{\rho}(z) \to f(z)$ uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{B}_n as $\rho \to 1$, which implies that $M^p_p(r, f - f_{\rho}) \to 0$ for each $r \in [0, 1)$. Thus by (1.1.1) and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we may conclude that

$$\|f - f_{\rho}\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{p} = 2nc_{\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} M_{p}^{p}(r, f - f_{\rho})r^{2n-1}(1 - r^{2})^{\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}r \longrightarrow 0$$

as $\rho \to 1$, which completes the proof.

Lemma 2.1.5. Let $\alpha > -1$ and suppose t > 0. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(z) \cdot \overline{g(z)} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R^{\alpha,t} f(z) \cdot \overline{g(z)} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z),$$

for every $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^1_{\alpha}$.

Proof. Let $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in \mathcal{P}$ be polynomials. Then, by Proposition 2.1.3, Fubini's theorem and the integral representation in Proposition 2.1.2 we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} R^{\alpha,t} f(z) \cdot \overline{g(z)} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \right) \cdot \overline{g(z)} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(w) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\overline{g(z)} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(w) \cdot \overline{g(w)} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Since f and g are polynomials we can apply Theorem 1.4.1 to see that the assumption of Fubini's theorem is fulfilled. Therefore, by density and Lemma 2.1.4, we obtain the general result.

Let $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Recall the scalar-valued Bergman reproducing kernels are defined as

$$K_w(z) := \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

It is not difficult to see, with the help of Theorem 1.4.1 and Lemma 1.4.4, that

$$||K_w||_{p,\alpha} \simeq (1 - |w|^2)^{-\frac{(p-1)}{p}(n+1+\alpha)}, \qquad 0$$

So, for 0 , we recall also the scalar-valued*p*-normalized reproducing kernels

$$k_{p,w}(z) := \frac{K_w(z)}{\|K_w\|_{p,\alpha}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

Since we are working on vector-valued setting we will define the vector-valued reproducing kernels on $x \in X \setminus \{0\}$ by $K_w^x(z) = xK_w(z)$ and the vector-valued *p*-normalized reproducing kernels on $x \in X \setminus \{0\}$ as $k_{p,w}^x(z) = x/||x||_X k_{p,w}(z)$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

2.2 Projections and Duality

For $\alpha > -1$, the Bergman projection operator P_{α} , is the integral type operator defined by

$$P_{\alpha}f(z) := \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$
(2.2.1)

for any $f \in L^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. It is easy to see that $P_{\alpha}f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for every $f \in L^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Indeed, Lemma 1.2.1 implies that $\langle P_{\alpha}f, x^* \rangle_X = P_{\alpha}(\langle f, x^* \rangle_X)$, for any $f \in L^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $x^* \in X^*$. Since P_{α} acting on scalar-valued functions is holomorphic, we have that P_{α} is weakly holomorphic and then vector-valued holomorphic. Moreover, it is easy to see by Fubini's theorem and Theorem 1.4.1 that $P_{\gamma} \colon L^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is a bounded linear operator, for all $\gamma > \alpha$. We have a more general result on the boundedness of integral type operators acting on $L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. **Theorem 2.2.1.** Let $1 \le p < \infty$, $\alpha, \gamma > -1$ and β a real parameter. If

$$-p\beta < \alpha + 1 < p(\gamma + 1) \tag{2.2.2}$$

then the operator defined by

$$Tf(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^{\beta} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\gamma}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

is bounded on $L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Proof. Let $f \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. If p = 1 it directly follows by Tonelli's theorem and Theorem 1.4.1. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \|Tf(z)\|_{X} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \|f(w)\|_{X} \, \frac{(1-|z|^{2})^{\alpha+\beta}(1-|w|^{2})^{\gamma}}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}} \, \mathrm{d}v(w) \, \mathrm{d}v(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \|f(w)\|_{X} \, (1-|w|^{2})^{\gamma} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|z|^{2})^{\alpha+\beta} \, \mathrm{d}v(z)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v(w) \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \|f(w)\|_{X} \, (1-|w|^{2})^{\gamma} (1-|w|^{2})^{\alpha-\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v(w) \lesssim \|f\|_{1,\alpha,X} \, , \end{split}$$

taking into account that $\gamma - \alpha > 0$ and $\alpha + \beta > -1$ which is true by the hypothesis (2.2.2).

Now suppose $1 and let <math>\varepsilon > 0$ that will be specified later. By Proposition 1.2.2, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tf(z)\|_X^p &\lesssim (1-|z|^2)^{p\beta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\gamma}}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}} \,\mathrm{d}v(w) \right)^p \\ &= (1-|z|^2)^{p\beta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\frac{\alpha+\varepsilon}{p}+\gamma-\frac{\alpha+\varepsilon}{p}}}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}} \,\mathrm{d}v(w) \right)^p. \end{aligned}$$

The last integral over p, using Hölder's inequality, is less or equal than

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha+\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}}\right) \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{(\gamma p-\alpha-\varepsilon)/(p-1)} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}}\right)^{p-1}.$$

Then, if

$$\frac{\gamma p - \alpha - \varepsilon}{p - 1} > -1 \tag{2.2.3}$$

and

$$\gamma + \beta - \frac{\gamma p - \alpha - \varepsilon}{p - 1} > 0, \qquad (2.2.4)$$

by Theorem 1.4.1, we have that

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{(\gamma p-\alpha-\varepsilon)/(p-1)} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}}\right)^{p-1} \lesssim (1-|z|^2)^{\gamma-\beta(p-1)-\alpha-\varepsilon}.$$

So, we get

$$\|Tf(z)\|_X^p \lesssim (1-|z|^2)^{\gamma+\beta-\alpha-\varepsilon} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha+\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}} \right)$$

Finally, applying Tonelli's theorem and Theorem 1.4.1 again, if

$$\gamma + \beta - \varepsilon > -1, \tag{2.2.5}$$

we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|Tf(z)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, (1-|w|^2)^\varepsilon \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d}v_{\gamma+\beta-\varepsilon}(z)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\gamma+\beta}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, (1-|w|^2)^\varepsilon (1-|w|^2)^{-\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \lesssim \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^p \, . \end{split}$$

It only remains to show that (2.2.3), (2.2.4) and (2.2.5) are fulfilled. For this we need to take $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\max\{0, \gamma - \alpha - \beta(p-1)\} < \varepsilon < \min\{\gamma + \beta + 1, p(\gamma + 1) - (\alpha + 1)\}$$

which is clearly possible by the hypothesis (2.2.2) and we are done.

As an immediate consequence, we have the following result on the boundedne of the Bergman projection on $L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Theorem 2.2.2. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\alpha, \gamma > -1$. If $p(\gamma + 1) > \alpha + 1$, then the Bergman projection $P_{\gamma}: L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ defined in (2.2.1) is a bounded linear operator.

Proof. It is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.2.1 where $\beta = 0$.

Proposition 2.2.3. Let $\alpha > -1$. For any 1 , if p' is the conjugate exponentof p, then

$$\langle P_{\alpha}f,g\rangle_{\alpha,X} = \langle f,P_{\alpha}g\rangle_{\alpha,X}$$

for every $f \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in L^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$.

Proof. Let $f \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in L^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. Then, by Lemma 1.2.1 and Fubini's theorem, we have that

$$\begin{split} \langle P_{\alpha}f,g\rangle_{\alpha,X} &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \langle P_{\alpha}f(z),g(z)\rangle_{X} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} g(z)(P_{\alpha}f(z)) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{g(z)(f(w))}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{g(z)}{(1-\langle w,z\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \right) (f(w)) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left(P_{\alpha}g(w) \right) (f(w)) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \langle f(w), P_{\alpha}g(w) \rangle_{X} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \\ &= \langle f, P_{\alpha}g \rangle_{\alpha,X}. \end{split}$$

Note that the application of Fubini's theorem is correct because of Hölder's inequality and the boundedness of the scalar positive Bergman projection P_{α}^+ .

$$\mathbf{ss}$$

Observe that Theorem 2.2.2 and Proposition 2.1.2 show that P_{α} is a bounded projection of $L^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X)$ onto $A^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X)$ for any $1 (that is, <math>P_{\alpha} \colon L^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X) \to A^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X)$ is a bounded linear operator such that $P_{\alpha} \circ P_{\alpha} = P_{\alpha}$ and $P_{\alpha}L^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X) = A^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X)$). As a consequence of that fact we will obtain results on duality of vector-valued Bergman spaces.

It is well-known that, for any $1 , the dual space of <math>L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ can be identified with $L^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$, where p' is the conjugate exponent of p, with some restriction on the Banach space X, that is, when X^* has the Radon-Nikodym property respect to the measure v_{α} , see [35, p. 98]. This condition is satisfied if, for example, X^* is separable [35, p. 79]. Fortunately, for vector-valued Bergman spaces, we have the same duality structure but without any restriction on the Banach space X. The case of unit disk is proved in [7, Theorem 3.9] and the same proof works for the unit ball \mathbb{B}_n .

Theorem 2.2.4. Let $1 and <math>\alpha > -1$. If p' be the conjugate exponent of p, then $(A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X))^*$ can be identified with $A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ with equivalent norms under the integral pairing defined by (2.1.1).

2.3 Atomic Decomposition

In this section we show that every function in the Bergman space $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ can be decomposed into a series of very nice functions (called atoms). First of all, we show some well-known preliminary results which are classical.

Lemma 2.3.1 ([82, Lemma 2.27]). For any R > 0 and any real b there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left|\frac{(1-\langle z,u\rangle)^b}{(1-\langle z,v\rangle)^b}-1\right| \le C\beta(u,v)$$

for all $z, u, v \in \mathbb{B}_n$ with $\beta(u, v) \leq R$.

Recall that for r > 0 and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ the set

$$D(z,r) = \{ w \in \mathbb{B}_n \colon \beta(z,w) < r \}$$

is a Bergman metric ball at z.

Theorem 2.3.2 ([82, Theorem 2.23]). There exists a positive integer N such that for any $0 < r \le 1$ we can find a sequence $\{a_k\}_k$ in \mathbb{B}_n with the following properties:

- (i) $\mathbb{B}_n = \bigcup_k D(a_k, r).$
- (ii) The sets $D(a_k, r/4)$ are mutually disjoint.
- (iii) Each point $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ belongs to at most N of the sets $D(a_k, R)$, for any R > r/4.

In the remainder of this section we fix a sequence $\{a_k\}_k$ chosen according to Theorem 2.3.2. We are going to call r the separation constant for the sequence $\{a_k\}_k$, and we are going to call $\{a_k\}_k$ an r-lattice in the Bergman metric.

Lemma 2.3.3 ([82, Lemma 2.28]). For each $k \ge 1$ there exists a Borel set D_k satisfying the following conditions:

- (a) $D(a_k, r/4) \subset D_k \subset D(a_k, r)$ for every k.
- (b) $D_k \cap D_j = \emptyset$ for $k \neq j$.
- (c) $\mathbb{B}_n = \bigcup_k D_k$.

We need to further partition the sets $\{D_k\}$ in Lemma 2.3.3. We let η denote a positive radius that is much smaller than the separation constant r, in the sense that the quotient η/r is small. We fix a finite sequence $\{z_1, \ldots, z_J\}$ in D(0, r), depending on η , such that $\{D(z_j, \eta)\}_j$ cover D(0, r) and that $\{D(z_j, \eta/4)\}_j$ are disjoint. We then enlarge each set $D(z_j, \eta/4) \cap D(0, r)$ to a Borel set E_j in such a way that $E_j \subset D(z_j, \eta)$ and that

$$D(0,r) = \bigcup_{j=1}^{J} E_j$$

is a disjoint union (see proof of [82, Lemma 2.28]).

For $k \ge 1$ and $1 \le j \le J$ we define $a_{kj} := \varphi_{a_k}(z_j)$ and

$$D_{kj} := D_k \bigcap \varphi_{a_k}(E_j).$$

It is clear that $a_{kj} \in D(a_k, r)$ for all $k \ge 1$ and $1 \le j \le J$. Since

$$D_k = \bigcup_{j=1}^J D_{kj}$$

is a disjoint union for every k, we obtain a disjoint decomposition

$$\mathbb{B}_n = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=1}^{J} D_{kj}$$
(2.3.1)

of \mathbb{B}_n .

We also fix a real parameter b > n and let $\beta = b - (n + 1)$ (or, equivalently, we fix $\beta > -1$ and let $b = \beta + n + 1$). We define an operator S on $\mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ as follows

$$Sf(z) := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{v_{\beta}(D_{kj})\widehat{f}_{\beta}(a_{kj})}{(1 - \langle z, a_{kj} \rangle)^b}$$

where

$$\widehat{f}_{\beta}(a_{kj}) = \frac{1}{v_{\beta}(D_{kj})} \int_{D_{kj}} f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)$$

is the averaging function of f in the disk D_{kj} .

The following lemma is the key for the atomic decomposition for vector-valued Bergman spaces.

Lemma 2.3.4. For any p > 0 and $\alpha > -1$ there exists a constant C > 0, independent of the separation constants r and η , such that

$$\|f(z) - Sf(z)\|_X \le C\eta \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{|1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle|^b} \left(\int_{D(a_k, 2r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

for every $r \geq 1$, $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, and $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume that $f \in A^1_{\beta}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then, by Proposition 2.1.2,

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^b}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Using the partition $\{D_{kj}\}_{k,j}$ of \mathbb{B}_n in (2.3.1), we write

$$f(z) - Sf(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \int_{D_{kj}} f(w) \left(\frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^b} - \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, a_{kj} \rangle)^b} \right) dv_\beta(w).$$

Therefore, by Proposition 1.2.2, we have that

$$||f(z) - Sf(z)||_X \le \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{I_{kj}}{|1 - \langle z, a_{kj} \rangle|^b}$$

where

$$I_{kj} := \int_{D_{kj}} \left\| f(w) \right\|_X \left| \frac{(1 - \langle z, a_{kj} \rangle)^b}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^b} - 1 \right| \, \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)$$

Now, Lemma 2.3.1 and the fact that for each $w \in D_{kj}$ the quantity $1 - |w|^2$ is comparable to $1 - |a_k|^2$, see Lemma 1.4.4, shows that

$$I_{kj} \lesssim \eta (1 - |a_k|^2)^{\beta} \int_{D_{kj}} \|f(w)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}v(w)$$

For each $w \in D_{kj}$ we also have $D(w,r) \subset D(a_k,2r)$. Then, by Theorem 1.5.2, we obtain that

$$\|f(w)\|_{X} \lesssim \frac{1}{(1-|w|^{2})^{(n+1+\alpha)/p}} \left(\int_{D(w,r)} \|f(u)\|_{X}^{p} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ \lesssim \frac{1}{(1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{(n+1+\alpha)/p}} \left(\int_{D(a_{k},2r)} \|f(u)\|_{X}^{p} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

This implies that

$$I_{kj} \lesssim \eta (1 - |a_k|)^{\beta - (n+1+\alpha)/p} v(D_{kj}) \left(\int_{D(a_k, 2r)} \|f(u)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(u) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Since

$$\sum_{j=1}^{J} v(D_{kj}) = v(D_k) \le v(D(a_k, r)) \lesssim (1 - |a_k|^2)^{n+1}$$

we have that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{J} I_{kj} \lesssim \eta (1 - |a_k|)^{\beta - (n+1+\alpha)/p + (n+1)} \left(\int_{D(a_k, 2r)} \|f(u)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(u) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$= \eta (1 - |a_k|)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p} \left(\int_{D(a_k, 2r)} \|f(u)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(u) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Finally, by Lemma 2.3.1, we know that $|1 - \langle z, a_{kj} \rangle|$ is comparable to $|1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle|$ for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, then

$$\|f(z) - Sf(z)\|_{X} \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{J} I_{kj}}{|1 - \langle z, a_{k} \rangle|^{b}} \\ \lesssim \eta \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - |a_{k}|)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{|1 - \langle z, a_{k} \rangle|^{b}} \left(\int_{D(a_{k}, 2r)} \|f(u)\|_{X}^{p} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Hence, the proof of the lemma is complete.

We are in the situation to prove the atomic decomposition of the vector-valued Bergman functions.

Theorem 2.3.5. Suppose p > 0, $\alpha > -1$ and let b be a parameter such that

$$b > n \max\left(1, \frac{1}{p}\right) + \frac{\alpha + 1}{p}.$$

Then we have that

(i) For any separated sequence $\{a_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{B}_n$ and $\{\lambda_k\}_k \in \ell^p(X)$ the function

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}$$

belongs to $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} \lesssim \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}$.

(ii) If $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then exists a r-lattice $\{a_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{B}_n$ and a sequence $\{\lambda_k\}_k \in \ell^p(X)$ such that

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}$$

holds and $\|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)} \lesssim \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}$.

Proof. (i) It is easy to see that the series converges uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{B}_n and, therefore, f defines an analytic function on \mathbb{B}_n . We set $t := b - (n+1+\alpha)/p$. If 0 , it is easy to see, using Theorem 1.4.1, that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{p} &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k} \frac{(1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{t}}{(1-\langle z,a_{k}\rangle)^{b}} \right\|_{X}^{p} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ &\lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\lambda_{k}\|_{X}^{p} \left(1-|a_{k}|^{2}\right)^{tp} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|z|^{2})^{\alpha}}{|1-\langle z,a_{k}\rangle|^{bp}} \mathrm{d}v(z) \\ &\lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\lambda_{k}\|_{X}^{p} \frac{(1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{tp}}{(1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{bp-(n+1+\alpha)}} = \|\{\lambda_{k}\}_{k}\|_{\ell^{p}(X)}^{p}. \end{split}$$

Now, let p > 1 and let $\varepsilon > 0$ be a parameter that will be specified later. Then, by Hölder's inequality, we have that

$$\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{p} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k} \frac{(1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{t}}{(1-\langle z,a_{k}\rangle)^{b}} \right\|_{X}^{p} dv_{\alpha}(z)$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\lambda_{k}\|_{X}^{p} \frac{(1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{t-\varepsilon}}{|1-\langle z,a_{k}\rangle|^{b}} \right) \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{t+\varepsilon/(p-1)}}{|1-\langle z,a_{k}\rangle|^{b}} \right)^{p-1} dv_{\alpha}(z).$$

Suppose that $n < t + \varepsilon/(p-1) < b$. By Lemma 1.4.5, we obtain that

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-|a_k|^2)^{t+\varepsilon/(p-1)}}{|1-\langle z,a_k\rangle|^b}\right)^{p-1} \lesssim (1-|z|^2)^{t(p-1)+\varepsilon-b(p-1)} = (1-|z|^2)^{b-(n+1+\alpha)-t+\varepsilon}.$$

Then

$$\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{p} \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\lambda_{k}\|_{X}^{p} (1-|a_{k}|^{2})^{t-\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|z|^{2})^{b-(n+1)-t+\varepsilon}}{|1-\langle z,a_{k}\rangle|^{b}} \,\mathrm{d}v(z).$$

If $b - (n+1) - t + \varepsilon > -1$ and $t - \varepsilon > 0$, then we can apply Theorem 1.4.1 obtaining that the last integral is

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^{b-(n+1)-t+\varepsilon}}{|1-\langle z,a_k\rangle|^b} \,\mathrm{d}v(z) \lesssim (1-|a_k|^2)^{\varepsilon-t}$$

and therefore

$$\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^p \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^\infty \|\lambda_k\|_X^p.$$

It is straightforward to see that the conditions on ε can be fulfilled for some $\varepsilon > 0$. That is, we choose $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\max\left(t - pt', n - \frac{n+1+\alpha}{p}\right) < \varepsilon < \min\left(n+1+\alpha - \frac{n+1+\alpha}{p}, t\right),$$

where $t' := b - n - (1 + \alpha)/p$.

(ii) Fix a *r*-lattice $\{a_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{B}_n$ and let $\{D_{kj}\}_{kj}$ be the finer partition. By Lemma 2.3.4 and the first part of this proof (i) with

$$\lambda_k = \left(\int_{D(a_k,2r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

we have that there exists C > 0 (not depending on r or η) such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z) - Sf(z)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \le C\eta \sum_{k=1}^\infty \int_{D(a_k, 2r)} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Since each $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$ can be at most N of the sets $D(a_k, 2r)$, see Theorem 2.3.2, we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z) - Sf(z)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \le CN\eta \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

If we take η small enough so that $CN\eta < 1$ we obtain that I - S is a bounded operator on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ with norm less than 1, where I is the identity operator on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. In that case, it follows from standard functional analysis that the operator S is invertible on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Therefore, every $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ admits a representation

$$f(z) = \sum_{k,j} \lambda_{kj} \frac{(1 - |a_{kj}|^2)^t}{(1 - \langle z, a_{kj} \rangle)^b},$$

where

$$\lambda_{kj} = \frac{v_{\beta}(D_{kj})\widehat{g}_{\beta}(a_{kj})}{(1 - |a_{kj}|^2)^t},$$

 $g = S^{-1}f$ and $\beta = b - (n + 1)$. We know that

$$v_{\beta}(D_{kj}) \le v_{\beta}(D_k) \simeq (1 - |a_k|^2)^{n+1+\beta} = (1 - |a_k|^2)^b.$$

Since $1 - |a_{kj}|^2$ is comparable to $1 - |a_k|^2$ by Lemma 1.4.4, we have that

$$\sum_{k,j} \|\lambda_{k,j}\|_X^p \lesssim \sum_{k,j} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{n+1+\alpha} \|\widehat{g}_{\beta}(a_{kj})\|_X^p$$

With a similar ideas than the proof of Lemma 2.3.4 we have that

$$\begin{split} \|\widehat{g}_{\beta}(a_{kj})\|_{X}^{p} &= \left\|\frac{1}{v_{\beta}(D_{kj})} \int_{D_{kj}} g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)\right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{v_{\beta}(D_{kj})} \int_{D_{kj}} \|g(w)\|_{X} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)\right)^{p} \\ &\lesssim \left(\frac{(1 - |a_{k}|^{2})^{-(n+1+\alpha)/p}}{v_{\beta}(D_{kj})} \int_{D_{kj}} \left(\int_{D(a_{k},2r)} \|g(u)\|_{X}^{p} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u)\right)^{1/p} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)\right)^{p} \\ &= (1 - |a_{k}|^{2})^{-(n+1+\alpha)} \int_{D(a_{k},2r)} \|g(u)\|_{X}^{p} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u). \end{split}$$

Therefore

$$\sum_{k,j} \|\lambda_{k,j}\|_X^p \lesssim J \sum_{k=1}^\infty \int_{D(a_k,2r)} \|g(u)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(u) \leq JN \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|g(u)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(u)$$
$$\leq JN \left\|S^{-1}\right\|^p \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(u)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(u).$$

Hence the proof of the theorem is complete.

CHAPTER 3

Vector-valued Bloch Type Spaces

It is well known that Bloch type spaces are very related with Bergman spaces. If we do not say the contrary, in this chapter, we fix X any complex Banach space. Usually, we also denote $\alpha > -1$ a real parameter. Roughly speaking, the Bloch space can be thought of as the limit case of the Bergman spaces $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ as $p \to \infty$. In particular, we will see that the Bloch space can be naturally identified with the dual space of $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then, it is clear that the Bloch space is intimately related to the Bergman spaces and to the Bergman metric as well; it consists exactly of those holomorphic functions that are Lipschitz from \mathbb{B}_n with the Bergman metric to X with the X-norm, see Corollary 3.2.9. Moreover, the Bloch space is also interesting in its own right. In fact, the Bloch space has been studied much earlier that the Bergman spaces. In particular, the Bloch space of the unit disk plays an important role in classical geometric function theory. See [3,4,8,9,83] for more information on them.

Later on, serious research on the Bloch space of the unit ball began with Timoney's papers [72, 73]. In particular, the scalar case of Theorem 3.1.3 was proved in [72, 82]. We recommend [82] for more information on Bloch spaces on the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^n and more.

The integral respresentation for the Bloch space and the duality between A^1_{α} and the Bloch space can be found in many different papers/books, including [37, 68, 69, 82]. The case of vector-valued holomorphic functions it is done in [7]. Our proof here is more similar to the classical one.

Therefore, in this chapter we are going to go further in these investigations and we study the Bloch type spaces on the unit ball acting on vector-valued holomorphic functions. In particular, we are going to introduce and characterize the vector-valued Bloch type spaces (the more basic and the more general one) and we prove various characterizations of the Bloch type spaces and some important estimate results needed in the next chapters.

3.1 Vector-valued Bloch space

In this section we introduce the vector-valued Bloch space and some properties of them. It is well-known that Bloch type spaces play an important role in characterizing Hankel operators on Bergman spaces. The vector-valued Bloch space $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is defined as the space of vector-valued holomorphic functions $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ such that

$$||f||_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2) ||\nabla f(z)||_{X^n} < \infty.$$

Under the norm

 $||f|| = ||f(0)||_X + ||f||_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)}$

it becomes a Banach space. Sometimes is very useful to have other characterizations different from the definition. Before providing these descriptions of the vector-valued Bloch space, we need a preliminary result.

Lemma 3.1.1. Suppose $\alpha > -1, \beta > 0$ and $t \ge 0$. If

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^\beta}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

for some $g \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, then

$$\|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n} \le \beta \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|R^{\alpha,t}g(w)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{\beta+1}},$$

for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. By Lemma 2.1.5 we have that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha,t}g(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\beta}}$$

Now, differentiating under the integral sign we obtain that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} f(z) = \beta \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\overline{w_k} R^{\alpha, t} g(w) \, \mathrm{d} v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\beta+1}},$$

and this implies that

$$\nabla f(z) = \beta \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\overline{w} R^{\alpha, t} g(w) \, \mathrm{d} v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\beta+1}}.$$

Note that this is a Bochner integral in the Banach space X^n . Then, applying Proposition 1.2.2 with X^n shows the result.

For $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ we define the functions

$$f_{\alpha,t}(z) := (1 - |z|^2)^t R^{\alpha,t} f(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$
(3.1.1)

We will see that these functions play an important role on the vector-valued Bloch and Bergman spaces. Next result is an example. **Theorem 3.1.2.** Suppose $\alpha > -1$, t > 0 and $0 . If <math>f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if and only if the function $f_{\alpha,t} \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ (defined in (3.1.1)). Moreover, $\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} \simeq \|f_{\alpha,t}\|_{p,\alpha,X}$.

Proof. Let $\beta := \alpha + N$, where N is a sufficiently large positive integer. Since $R^{\alpha,t}$ and $R^{\beta,t}$ are comparable, see [82, p. 54], we have that the function $f_{\alpha,t} \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if and only if $f_{\beta,t} \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then, we only need to prove that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if and only if $f_{\beta,t} \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Suppose first that $f_{\beta,t} \in L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Let $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. By [82, Corollary 2.3], Fubini's theorem and the reproducing formula in Proposition 2.1.2 we have that

$$P_{\beta}f_{\beta,t}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f_{\beta,t}(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}}$$

$$= \frac{c_{\beta}}{c_{\beta+t}} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\beta,t}f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta+t}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}}$$

$$= \frac{c_{\beta}}{c_{\beta+t}} \lim_{r \to 1} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f_r(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}} = \frac{c_{\beta}}{c_{\beta+t}} f(z).$$
(3.1.2)

Then, if $1 \le p < \infty$ and $N > (\alpha + 1)(1/p - 1)$, by Theorem 2.2.2,

$$\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} = \frac{c_{\beta+t}}{c_{\beta}} \|P_{\beta}f_{\beta,t}\|_{p,\alpha,X} \le \frac{c_{\beta+t}}{c_{\beta}} \|P_{\beta}\| \|f_{\beta,t}\|_{p,\alpha,X}$$

showing that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. When 0 , by (3.1.2) and passing the norm inside we have

$$\|f(z)\|_X \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|g_z(w)\|_X (1-|w|^2)^{\beta+t} \,\mathrm{d}v(w), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

where

$$g_z(w) := \frac{R^{\beta,t} f(w)}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\beta}}, \qquad w \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

We further assume that N is large enough so that

$$\beta + t = \frac{n+1+\alpha'}{p} - (n+1)$$

for some $\alpha' > -1$. Observe that

$$(n + 1 + \beta)p = n + 1 + \alpha' - pt = n + 1 + \alpha + (\alpha' - pt - \alpha),$$

and that we may assume that N is so large that

$$\alpha' - pt - \alpha > 0.$$

Then, it is clear, by hypothesis, that $g_z \in A^p_{\alpha'}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Therefore, using Theorem 2.1.1, we have

$$\begin{split} \|f(z)\|_X^p &\lesssim \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|g_z(w)\|_X^p \|g_z(w)\|_X^{1-p} \left(1-|w|^2\right)^{\beta+t} \mathrm{d}v(w)\right)^p \\ &\lesssim \|g_z\|_{p,\alpha',X}^{(1-p)p} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|g_z(w)\|_X^p \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\beta+t}}{(1-|w|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha')(1/p-1)}} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)\right)^p \\ &\simeq \|g_z\|_{p,\alpha',X}^{p-p^2} \|g_z\|_{p,\alpha',X}^{p^2} = \|g_z\|_{p,\alpha',X}^p. \end{split}$$

But, Fubini's theorem and Theorem 1.4.1 imply that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|g_z\|_{p,\alpha',X}^p \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|R^{\beta,t}f(w)\|_X^p}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{(n+1+\beta)p}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha'}(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \lesssim \|f_{\beta,t}\|_{p,\alpha,X}$$

which in turn imply that $||f||_{p,\alpha,X} \lesssim ||f_{\beta,t}||_{p,\alpha,X}$.

Next assume that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Since $\beta > \alpha$ it implies that $f \in A^p_{\beta}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and then, by Proposition 2.1.3, we have

$$R^{\beta,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta+t}},$$

and so

$$(1 - |z|^2)^t R^{\beta,t} f(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^t \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\beta+t}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

If $1 \le p < \infty$ and $N > (\alpha + 1)(1/p - 1)$ it follows from Theorem 2.2.1. If 0 we use the same strategy as before. We write

$$\beta = \frac{n+1+\alpha'}{p} - (n+1).$$

Here we assume that N is large enough so that $\alpha' > \alpha$. Then, using Theorem 2.1.1 again, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| R^{\beta,t} f(z) \right\|_X^p &\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|f(w)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{\left|1 - \langle z, w \rangle\right|^{n+1+\beta+t}} \right)^p = \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|h_z(w)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w) \right)^p \\ &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|h_z(w)\|_X^p \, \|h_z(w)\|_X^{1-p} \, \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w) \right)^p \\ &\lesssim \|h_z\|_{p,\alpha',X}^p \,, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$h_z(w) := \frac{f(w)}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\beta+t}}, \qquad w \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Therefore, by Tonelli's theorem and Theorem 1.4.1 again,

$$\begin{split} \|f_{\beta,t}\|_{p,\alpha,X}^p &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^{pt} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha'}(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{(n+1+\beta+t)p}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|z|^2)^{pt} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha'+pt}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha'}(w) \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^p \, . \end{split}$$

Thus, the proof of the theorem is completed.

The following theorem gives us several conditions that are equivalent to but more easily verifiable than the definition.

Theorem 3.1.3. Suppose t > 0 and $\alpha > -1$. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) The function f is in $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.
- (ii) We have $f = P_{\alpha}g$ for some $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.
- (iii) The function $f_{\alpha,t}(z) = (1 |z|^2)^t R^{\alpha,t} f(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Moreover,

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} \simeq \|g\|_{\infty,X} \simeq \|f_{\alpha,t}\|_{\infty,X}$$

Proof.

(i) \Rightarrow (ii): By Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we have that

$$\|Rf(z)\|_{X}^{2} \leq \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} |z_{i}| \|\partial_{i}f(z)\|_{X}\right)^{2} \leq |z|^{2} \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^{n}}^{2}.$$
 (3.1.3)

In particular $||Rf(z)||_X \leq ||\nabla f(z)||_{X^n}$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, then condition (i) implies that $(1-|z|^2)Rf(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Consider the function

$$g(z) := \frac{c_{\alpha+1}}{c_{\alpha}} (1 - |z|^2) \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+2+\alpha}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

It is easy to see (see proof of [82, Theorem 3.4]) that

$$g(z) = \frac{c_{\alpha+1}}{c_{\alpha}} \left[(1 - |z|^2) f(z) + \frac{(1 - |z|^2) R f(z)}{n + 1 + \alpha} \right].$$

So to show that $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ we only need to prove that $(1 - |z|^2) ||f(z)||_X$ is bounded on \mathbb{B}_n . But the identity

$$f(z) - f(0) = \int_0^1 \frac{Rf(tz)}{t} dt$$
 (3.1.4)

shows that f grows at most as fast as $-\log(1-|z|^2)$. Indeed, using (3.1.3), the hypothesis and the fact that $1-|z| \leq 1-|z|^2$, for $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, we have that

$$\|f(z) - f(0)\| \le \int_0^1 \frac{|z| \, \mathrm{d}t}{(1 - t^2 \, |z|^2)} \le \int_0^1 \frac{|z| \, \mathrm{d}t}{(1 - t \, |z|)}$$
$$= -\log(1 - t \, |z|) \Big|_0^1 = -\log(1 - |z|) \le -\log(1 - |z|^2).$$

Then it follows that g is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Moreover, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, by Fubini's theorem (using [57, Lemma 2.5]) and the reproducing property in Proposition 2.1.2,

we get that

$$P_{\alpha}g(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(u) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u)}{(1 - \langle w, u \rangle)^{n+2+\alpha}} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+1}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(u) \overline{\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{-(n+1+\alpha)}}{(1 - \langle u, w \rangle)^{n+2+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+1}(w)} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} f(u) \overline{(1 - \langle u, z \rangle)^{-(n+1+\alpha)}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(u) = f(z)$$

and then $f = P_{\alpha}g$.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii): If there exists a function $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ such that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$

by Proposition 1.6.1, we have that

$$R^{\alpha,t}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}}$$

Then, by Proposition 1.2.2 and Theorem 1.4.1, we obtain that

$$\left\| R^{\alpha,t} f(z) \right\|_{X} \lesssim \left\| g \right\|_{\infty,X} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1 - |w|^{2})^{\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{\left| 1 - \langle z, w \rangle \right|^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \lesssim \left\| g \right\|_{\infty,X} \frac{1}{(1 - |z|^{2})^{t}}$$

which also imply that $||f_{\alpha,t}||_{\infty,X} \lesssim ||g||_{\infty,X}$.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i): We can assume that $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Indeed, it is a direct consequence of Theorem 3.1.2. If $f_{\alpha,t} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset L^p(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for any $p \geq 1$, then $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Therefore, applying Proposition 2.1.2, we have that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Then, an application of Lemma 3.1.1 and Theorem 1.4.1 shows that

$$\|\nabla f(z)\| \lesssim \|f_{\alpha,t}\|_{\infty,X} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+1}} \lesssim \frac{\|f_{\alpha,t}\|_{\infty,X}}{(1-|z|^2)},$$

for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

Now we continue with some properties of vector-valued Bloch spaces.

Lemma 3.1.4. Let
$$\alpha > -1$$
. Then $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for any $1 \leq p < \infty$

Proof. This is immediate from Theorems 3.1.2 and 3.1.3.

Next result gives a pointwise estimate for vector-valued Bloch functions.

Proposition 3.1.5. If $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then there exists C > 0 such that

$$||f(z)||_X \le C ||f||_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} \log \frac{1}{1-|z|^2},$$

for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Let t > 0 and $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. If we apply Proposition 2.1.2 and Lemma 2.1.5 we get that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha,t} f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w).$$

Therefore, by Proposition 1.2.2 and Theorems 3.1.3 and 1.4.1, we have that

$$\begin{split} \|f(z)\|_X &\lesssim \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^{\alpha}}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}v(w) \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} \log \frac{1}{1-|z|^2}. \end{split}$$

To finish this section we include the duality of vector-valued Bloch spaces used later on. It is well-known that in the scalar-valued case $(A^1_{\alpha})^*$ can be identified with \mathcal{B} . In this case we have similar result.

Theorem 3.1.6. Let X be a Banach space and $\alpha > -1$. The space $(A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X))^*$ can be identified with $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ under the integral pairing (2.1.1).

Proof. If $g \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$, then by Theorem 3.1.3 we have that there exist $h \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ such that

$$g(z) = P_{\alpha}h(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{h(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$

and $\|h\|_{\infty,X^*} \lesssim \|g\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,X^*)}$. Let $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)$, by Fubini's theorem and the integral representation in Proposition 2.1.2 we have

$$\begin{split} \langle f,g \rangle_{\alpha,X} &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(z),g(z) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\langle f(z),h(w) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1-\langle w,z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(w),h(w) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w). \end{split}$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \left| \langle f, g \rangle_{\alpha, X} \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \| f(w) \|_X \| h(w) \|_{X^*} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \\ &\leq \| h \|_{\infty, X^*} \, \| f \|_{1, \alpha, X} \lesssim \| g \|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)} \, \| f \|_{1, \alpha, X} \,, \end{split}$$

which implies that g induces a bounded linear functional on $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Conversely, let Λ be a bounded linear functional on $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Since $A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, we have that

$$|\Lambda(f)| \le \|\Lambda\| \, \|f\|_{1,\alpha,X} \le \|\Lambda\| \, \|f\|_{2,\alpha,X} \, ,$$

which implies that Λ also defines a bounded linear functional on $A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ as well. Moreover, by the duality of the vector-valued Bergman spaces in Theorem 2.2.4, we have that $(A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X))^* = A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ under the same integral pairing (2.1.1). Then, there exists an unique $g \in A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ such that

$$\Lambda(f) = \langle f, g \rangle_{\alpha, X} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(z), g(z) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z), \qquad (3.1.5)$$

for any $f \in A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Fix $t > 0, x \in X$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Define

$$f_z^x(w) := \frac{x}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}}, \qquad w \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Notice that $f_z^x \in A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and since $g \in A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$, Theorem 3.1.2 imply that $g_{\alpha,t} \in L^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ which means that $R^{\alpha,t}g \in A^2_{\alpha+t}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. Then, by Lemma 2.1.5 and the integral representation in Proposition 2.1.2 we have that

$$\begin{split} \Lambda(f_z^x) &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle f_z^x(w), g(w) \right\rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) = \left\langle x, \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \right\rangle_X \\ &= \left\langle x, \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha,t}g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \right\rangle_X = \left\langle x, R^{\alpha,t}g(z) \right\rangle_X. \end{split}$$

Therefore, using Theorem 1.4.1,

$$\begin{split} \left\| R^{\alpha,t} g(z) \right\|_{X^*} &= \sup_{\|x\|_X \le 1} \left| \langle x, R^{\alpha,t} g(z) \rangle_X \right| = \sup_{\|x\|_X \le 1} |\Lambda(f_z^x)| \\ &\leq \sup_{\|x\|_X \le 1} \|\Lambda\| \|f_z^x\|_{1,\alpha,X} \le \|\Lambda\| \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \\ &\lesssim \|\Lambda\| (1 - |z|^2)^{-t}. \end{split}$$

Theorem 3.1.3 gives us that $g \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. It remains to prove that (3.1.5) remains true for functions on $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. First, it is easy to see that $A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is dense in $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Indeed, since $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ are dense in $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ it implies that $A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is dense in $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Now, let $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then, by the fact that Λ is bounded and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem we have

$$\Lambda(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \Lambda(f_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f_n(z), g(z) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \lim_{n \to \infty} \langle f_n(z), g(z) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(z), g(z) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

Note that we can apply Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem since $A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is dense in $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, that is, there exists $\{f_n\}_n \subset A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ such that $f_n \to f$ uniformly in X as $n \to \infty$, i.e., for every $\varepsilon > 0$ we have

$$\|f_n(z) - f(z)\|_X < \varepsilon/2, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

and $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ is dense in $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, that is, there exists $\{P_n\}_n \subset \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ such that

$$||f(z) - P_n(z)||_X \le \varepsilon/2, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Therefore, by the triangle inequality,

$$\begin{split} |\langle f_n(z), g(z) \rangle_X| &\leq |\langle f_n(z) - f(z), g(z) \rangle_X| + |\langle f(z) - P_n(z), g(z) \rangle_X| \\ &+ |\langle P_n(z), g(z) \rangle_X| \\ &\leq (\varepsilon + C) \, \|g(z)\|_{X^*} \,, \end{split}$$

which is a integrable function since $g \in A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

You can see a completely different proof in [7, Corollary 3.17]. See also [19] for more information.

3.2 Vector-valued γ -Bloch space

In this section we are going to define and characterize the more general type of vector-valued Bloch spaces, the γ -Bloch spaces $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ for $\gamma > 0$, defined as the space of vector-valued holomorphic functions $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ such that

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma} \left\| \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_k}(z) \right\|_X < \infty,$$

for any $1 \leq k \leq n$. It is easy to see that $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ belongs to $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if and only if

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)} := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_{n}} (1 - |z|^{2})^{\gamma} \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^{n}} < \infty.$$

Taking $||f|| = ||f||_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)} + ||f(0)||_X$ we have a norm. It is clear that $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathbb{B}_n, X) = \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. We also have some equivalent characterizations of these spaces more suitable for our purpose.

Theorem 3.2.1. Let X be any Banach space. Suppose $\gamma > 0$, $\beta > -1$ such that $\gamma + \beta > 0$. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.
- (ii) There exists a function $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ such that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+\beta+\gamma}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

(iii) The function
$$(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma} R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1} f(z)$$
 is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Moreover,

$$||f||_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)} \simeq ||g||_{\infty,X} \simeq \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_{n}} (1-|z|^{2})^{\gamma} ||R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1}f(z)||_{X}.$$

Proof.

(i) \Rightarrow (ii): We use similar ideas of [82, Theorem 7.1]. If (i) holds, then the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma} Rf(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, since $||Rf(z)||_X \leq ||\nabla f(z)||_{X^n}$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Therefore, the function defined by

$$g(z) := \frac{c_{\beta+\gamma}}{c_{\beta}} (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma} \left(f(z) + \frac{Rf(z)}{n + \beta + \gamma} \right)$$

is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ as well (see proof of Theorem 3.1.3). Now let $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. If we consider the holomorphic function

$$h(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+\beta+\gamma}} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(f(w) + \frac{Rf(w)}{n+\beta+\gamma} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}v_{\beta+\gamma}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+\beta+\gamma}},$$

and we apply the differential operator $R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1}$ under the integral sign, then using Proposition 1.6.1 and the reproducing formula in Proposition 2.1.2, we obtain

$$R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1}h = f + \frac{Rf}{n+\beta+\gamma}.$$

Note that the application of the reproducing formula in Proposition 2.1.2 is correct because the function $(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma} Rf(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, so clearly $Rf \in A^1_{\beta+\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, and using (3.1.4), (3.1.3) and the hypothesis we have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z) - f(0)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta+\gamma}(z) &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\int_0^1 \frac{\|Rf(tz)\|_X}{t} \, \mathrm{d}t \right) (1 - |z|^2)^{\beta+\gamma} \, \mathrm{d}v(z) \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\int_0^1 |z| \, \|\nabla f(tz)\|_X \, (1 - |tz|^2)^\gamma \, \mathrm{d}t \right) (1 - |z|^2)^\beta \, \mathrm{d}v(z) \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} dv_\beta(z) < \infty, \end{split}$$

which imply that $f \in A^1_{\beta+\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ as well. Now recall that if

$$f = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_k,$$

is the homogeneous expansion of the function f, where f_k are homogeneous holomorphic polynomials of degree k with coefficients on X, then

$$Rf = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} kf_k.$$

Moreover, by definition

$$R_{\beta+\gamma-1,1}f = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(n+1+\beta+\gamma)\Gamma(n+k+\beta+\gamma)}{\Gamma(n+\beta+\gamma)\Gamma(n+1+k+\beta+\gamma)} f_k = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{n+\beta+\gamma}{n+k+\beta+\gamma} f_k$$

and

$$R_{\beta+\gamma-1,1}Rf = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{n+\beta+\gamma}{n+k+\beta+\gamma} kf_k$$

Therefore, since $h = R_{\beta+\gamma-1,1}R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1}h$, a calculation using the definitions shows that

$$h = R_{\beta+\gamma-1,1} \left(f + \frac{Rf}{n+\beta+\gamma} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{n+\beta+\gamma}{n+k+\beta+\gamma} f_k + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{k}{n+k+\beta+\gamma} f_k$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_k = f.$$

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii): Let $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. We have that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n + \beta + \gamma}},$$

for some $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. If we apply $R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1}$ with Proposition 1.6.1 we obtain that

$$R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \,\mathrm{d}v_\beta(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\beta+\gamma}}.$$

By Proposition 1.2.2 and Theorem 1.4.1 we have that

$$\left\| R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1} f(z) \right\|_{X} \lesssim \|g\|_{\infty,X} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|w|^{2})^{\beta} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\beta+\gamma}} \lesssim \|g\|_{\infty,X} \frac{1}{(1-|z|^{2})^{\gamma}}.$$

(iii) \Rightarrow (i): First, notice that $f \in A^1_{\beta+\gamma-1}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Indeed, by Theorem 3.1.2,

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{1,\beta+\gamma-1,X} &\simeq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2) \left\| R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1} f(z) \right\|_X \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta+\gamma-1}(z) \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^\beta \, \mathrm{d}v(z) < \infty, \end{split}$$

and so, by Proposition 2.1.2, we have that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\beta+\gamma-1}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+\beta+\gamma}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

A direct application of Lemma 3.1.1 gives that

$$\|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n} \le (n+\beta+\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\left\|R^{\beta+\gamma-1,1}f(w)\right\| \,\mathrm{d}v_{\beta+\gamma}(w)}{\left|1-\langle z,w\rangle\right|^{n+1+\beta+\gamma}}$$

Finally, using our assumption and Theorem 1.4.1, we see that $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. The proof is complete.

Next lemma gives some kind of shift of the radial derivatives characterizations.

Lemma 3.2.2. Let $\gamma > 0$ and $\alpha > -1$ such that $\alpha - \gamma > -2$. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) The function $(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma} R^{\alpha,1} f(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$;
- (b) The function $(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma+t}R^{\alpha,t+1}f(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)$ for some $t \ge 0$.

Moreover,

$$C_1 := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma} \left\| R^{\alpha, 1} f(z) \right\|_X \simeq \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma+t} \left\| R^{\alpha, t+1} f(z) \right\|_X =: C_2.$$

Proof. First of all, we will prove that if $(1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma+t} R^{\alpha,t+1} f(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for some $t \geq 0$, then $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Indeed, by Theorem 3.1.2 and the hypothesis, we have that

$$\|f\|_{1,\alpha,X} \simeq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{t+1} \|R^{\alpha,t+1}f(z)\|_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

$$\leq c_\alpha C_2 \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{\alpha - \gamma + 1} \, \mathrm{d}v(z) < \infty.$$

(a) \Rightarrow (b): Let t > 0. By Proposition 2.1.3 and Lemma 2.1.5 we have that

$$R^{\alpha,t+1}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t+1}} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha,1}f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+1}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t+1}}.$$

Now, by Proposition 1.2.2 and Theorem 1.4.1, we obtain that

$$\|R^{\alpha,t+1}f(z)\|_{X} \lesssim C_{1} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|w|^{2})^{\alpha-\gamma+1} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha+t+1}} \\ \lesssim \frac{C_{1}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{\gamma+t}}$$

and it implies that $C_2 \lesssim C_1 < \infty$.

(b) \Rightarrow (a): Using the same as before we can get that

$$R^{\alpha,1}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+1}} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha,t+1}f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t+1}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+1}}.$$

Again, passing the norm inside the integral and applying Theorem 1.4.1, we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| R^{\alpha,1} f(z) \right\|_X &\lesssim C_2 \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^{\alpha - \gamma + 1} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{\left| 1 - \langle z, w \rangle \right|^{n + 1 + \alpha + 1}} \\ &\lesssim \frac{C_2}{(1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma}} \end{aligned}$$

and it implies that $C_1 \leq C_2 < \infty$.

As a corollary we get the following result which is actually the most used in what follows.

Corollary 3.2.3. Let $\alpha > -1$ and $\gamma > 0$ such that $\alpha - \gamma > -2$. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if and only if the function $(1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma+t} R^{\alpha, t+1} f(z)$ is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for some $t \ge 0$. Moreover,

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} \simeq \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^{\gamma+t} \left\|R^{\alpha,t+1}f(z)\right\|_X.$$

Proof. Notice that with the same notations of above theorems, if we set $\alpha := \beta + \gamma - 1$, condition $\beta > -1$ is equivalent to say that $\alpha - \gamma > -2$ and condition $\gamma + \beta > 0$ is equivalent to say that $\alpha > -1$. This means that, in fact, under these conditions, statement (iii) of Theorem 3.2.1 is equivalent to statement (a) of Lemma 3.2.2. So, Theorem 3.2.1 and Lemma 3.2.2 gives the result.

As a consequence we also have some basic properties of these spaces.

Corollary 3.2.4. Let $\gamma > 0$ and $1 \le p < \infty$. Then $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ for all $\alpha > -1$ with $\alpha > p(\gamma - 1) - 1$.

Proof. Let $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, $1 and <math>\alpha > -1$. By Theorems 3.1.2 and 3.2.1, we have that

$$\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} \simeq \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^{\gamma p+(1-\gamma)p} \|R^{\alpha,1}f(z)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \right)^{1/p} \\ \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (1-|z|^2)^{\alpha+(1-\gamma)p} \, \mathrm{d}v(z) \right)^{1/p}.$$

The condition $\alpha > p(\gamma - 1) - 1$ ensures that the last integral is finite. Since $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, for all 1 , we are done.

Then we also have the following pointwise estimate for vector-valued γ -Bloch functions.

Proposition 3.2.5. Suppose $\gamma > 1$. If $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|f(z)\|_{X} \leq \frac{C \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{\gamma-1}},$$

for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Let t > 0 and $\alpha > -1$ big enough such that $\alpha - \gamma > -2$. This imply that $\gamma < \alpha + 2$, so any $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ will belong to $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ by Corollary 3.2.4. Thus, using Proposition 2.1.2 and Lemma 2.1.5, we have

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha, t+1} f(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t+1}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}.$$

By Proposition 1.2.2, Corollary 3.2.3 and Theorem 1.4.1 we obtain that

$$\|f(z)\|_{X} \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|w|^{2})^{\alpha-\gamma+1} \,\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \lesssim \frac{\|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{\gamma-1}}$$

Note that the application of Theorem 1.4.1 is correct because $\gamma > 1$ and $\alpha - \gamma > -2$.

Note that the particular case of z = 0 we have that $||f(0)||_X \leq ||f||_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)}$, for any $\gamma > 0$. We have already seen the pointwise estimate of vector-valued γ -Bloch functions for the particular case of $\gamma = 1$ in Proposition 3.1.5. Then, it is coherent to ask what happen for the remaining cases of $0 < \gamma < 1$. In this case, when $0 < \gamma < 1$, we need to introduce the vector-valued Lipschitz Spaces.

For $0 < \gamma < 1$ we define $\Lambda_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to be the space of vector-valued holomorphic function $f: \mathbb{B}_n \to X$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\Lambda_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)} = \sup\left\{\frac{\|f(z) - f(w)\|_{X}}{|z - w|^{\gamma}} \colon z, w \in \mathbb{B}_{n}, z \neq w\right\} < \infty.$$

As in the scalar case, it follows that $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) = \Lambda_{1-\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ with equivalent norms, when $0 < \gamma < 1$, see [82, Chapter 7] for more information.

As a consequence we have the following pointwise estimate: there exists C > 0 such that

$$|f(z) - f(w)||_X \le C ||f||_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)} |z - w|^{1-\gamma}$$

for every $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ when $0 < \gamma < 1$ and $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_n$. In that case, we have $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset H^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, the space of all vector-valued bounded analytic functions on \mathbb{B}_n .

We need another characterization of the γ -Bloch spaces in terms of the invariant gradient. Before that we need two new results about the vector-valued invariant gradient.

Recall that the invariant gradient of an holomorphic function f is

$$\widetilde{\nabla} f(z) = \nabla (f \circ \varphi_z)(0), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

In the scalar case, it is easy to see [82, Lemma 2.14] that

$$(1 - |z|^2) |Rf(z)| \le (1 - |z|^2) |\nabla f(z)| \le \left| \widetilde{\nabla} f(z) \right|,$$

where Rf denotes the radial derivative of f. In the Banach space case, the first inequality is still obvious using just Cauchy-Schwarz, see (3.1.3). The second inequality is not trivial anymore, but we still have the following result.

Theorem 3.2.6. Let X be a Banach space and $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. For any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ we have

$$(1 - |z|^2) \|Rf(z)\|_X \le (1 - |z|^2) \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n} \le \left\|\widetilde{\nabla} f(z)\right\|_{X^n}.$$

Proof. The first inequality is just (3.1.3). The second inequality is more involved. First of all, we have that

$$\left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^n}^2 = \sum_{j=1}^n \left\|\partial_j(f\circ\varphi_z)(0)\right\|_X^2 \ge \sum_{j=1}^n \left|\langle\partial_j(f\circ\varphi_z)(0), w_j\rangle_X\right|^2,$$

for any $w_j \in X^*$ with $||w_j||_{X^*} = 1$ that will be determined later. On the other hand, with the notation $s_z := \sqrt{1 - |z|^2}$, it is elementary to see that for any $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, we have

$$\partial_j \varphi_z(0) = -\left(s_z e_j - (s_z - s_z^2) \frac{\overline{z_j} z}{|z|^2}\right),\,$$

see the proof of [82, Lemma 1.6]. Then, for any $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$,

$$\partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0) = \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(z) \left(\partial_j \varphi_z(0) \right)_i$$

= $-\sum_{i=1}^n \partial_i f(z) \left(s_z \delta_{ij} - (s_z - s_z^2) \frac{\overline{z_j} z_i}{|z|^2} \right) = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_{ij} \partial_i f(z),$

where

$$\alpha_{ij} := \left(s_z \delta_{ij} - (s_z - s_z^2) \frac{\overline{z_j} z_i}{|z|^2} \right).$$

Therefore, we have that

$$\left| \langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0), w_j \rangle_X \right|^2 = \langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0), w_j \rangle \overline{\langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0), w_j \rangle} \\ = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_{ij} \overline{\alpha_{kj}} \langle \partial_i f(z), w_j \rangle \overline{\langle \partial_k f(z), w_j \rangle}.$$

An elementary computation gives

$$\alpha_{ij}\overline{\alpha_{kj}} = \alpha_{ij}\alpha_{jk}$$

$$= s_z^2 \delta_{ij}\delta_{kj} - \delta_{ij}s_z(s_z - s_z^2)\frac{z_j\overline{z_k}}{|z|^2} - \delta_{kj}s_z(s_z - s_z^2)\frac{z_i\overline{z_j}}{|z|^2} + (s_z - s_z^2)^2\frac{z_i\overline{z_k}|z_j|^2}{|z|^2}.$$

Then, we get that $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0), w_j \rangle_X \right|^2$ is equal to

$$s_{z}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \langle \partial_{j} f(z), w_{j} \rangle \right|^{2} - \frac{s_{z}(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})}{\left| z \right|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} z_{j} \overline{z_{k}} \left\langle \partial_{j} f(z), w_{j} \right\rangle \overline{\langle \partial_{k} f(z), w_{j} \rangle}$$
$$- \frac{s_{z}(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})}{\left| z \right|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_{i} \overline{z_{j}} \left\langle \partial_{i} f(z), w_{j} \right\rangle \overline{\langle \partial_{j} f(z), w_{j} \rangle}$$
$$+ \frac{(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})^{2}}{\left| z \right|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\left| z_{j} \right|^{2}}{\left| z \right|^{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} z_{i} \overline{z_{k}} \left\langle \partial_{i} f(z), w_{j} \right\rangle \overline{\langle \partial_{k} f(z), w_{j} \rangle}.$$

Set $\lambda_i = \lambda_i(z) := z_i \partial_i f(z)$ and recall that $\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i(z) = Rf(z)$, so we can rewrite the previous formula as

$$s_{z}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \langle \partial_{j} f(z), w_{j} \rangle \right|^{2} - \frac{s_{z}(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})}{|z|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle \overline{\langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle}$$
$$- \frac{s_{z}(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})}{|z|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle \overline{\langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle}$$
$$+ \frac{(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})^{2}}{|z|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|z_{j}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}} \langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle \overline{\langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle}.$$

Grouping a little more we obtain that it is equal to

$$s_{z}^{2}\sum_{j=1}^{n}|\langle\partial_{j}f(z),w_{j}\rangle|^{2} - \frac{s_{z}(s_{z}-s_{z}^{2})}{|z|^{2}}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\beta_{j} + \frac{(s_{z}-s_{z}^{2})^{2}}{|z|^{2}}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\frac{|z_{j}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}}|\langle Rf(z),w_{j}\rangle|^{2},$$

where $\beta_j = \beta_j(z) := \langle \lambda_j, w_j \rangle \overline{\langle Rf(z), w_j \rangle} + \langle Rf(z), w_j \rangle \overline{\langle \lambda_j, w_j \rangle}$. We want to point out that

$$\begin{split} \beta_{j} &= \langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle \overline{\langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle} + \langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle \overline{\langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle} = 2 \operatorname{Re}(\langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle \overline{\langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle}) \\ &\leq 2 \left| \langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle \right| \left| \langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle \right| = 2 \frac{|z|}{|z_{j}|} \left| \langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle \right| \frac{|z_{j}|}{|z|} \left| \langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle \right| \\ &\leq \frac{|z|^{2}}{|z_{j}|^{2}} \left| \langle \lambda_{j}, w_{j} \rangle \right|^{2} + \frac{|z_{j}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}} \left| \langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle \right|^{2} \\ &= |z|^{2} \left| \langle \partial_{j}f(z), w_{j} \rangle \right|^{2} + \frac{|z_{j}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}} \left| \langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle \right|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, as $s_z - s_z^2 \ge 0$,

$$-\frac{s_z(s_z-s_z^2)}{|z|^2}\sum_{j=1}^n\beta_j \ge (s_z^3-s_z^2)\sum_{j=1}^n|\langle\partial_j f(z), w_j\rangle|^2 - \frac{s_z(s_z-s_z^2)}{|z|^2}\sum_{j=1}^n\frac{|z_j|^2}{|z|^2}|\langle Rf(z), w_j\rangle|^2.$$

Finally, grouping all terms, we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_{j}(f \circ \varphi_{z})(0) \rangle|^{2} &\geq s_{z}^{3} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_{j}f(z), w_{j} \rangle|^{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})^{2}}{|z|^{2}} - \frac{s_{z}(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})}{|z|^{2}} \right] \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|z_{j}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}} |\langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle|^{2} \\ &= s_{z}^{3} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_{j}f(z), w_{j} \rangle|^{2} + \frac{s_{z}^{4} - s_{z}^{3}}{|z|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|z_{j}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}} |\langle Rf(z), w_{j} \rangle|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Now, since $s_z^4 - s_z^3 < 0$, the fact that $|\langle Rf(z), w_j \rangle| \le ||Rf(z)||_X$ and (3.1.3) we have that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0) \rangle|^2 &\geq s_z^3 \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_j f(z), w_j \rangle|^2 + \frac{s_z^4 - s_z^3}{|z|^2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|z_j|^2}{|z|^2} \|Rf(z)\|_X^2 \\ &\geq s_z^3 \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_j f(z), w_j \rangle|^2 + (s_z^4 - s_z^3) \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n}^2 \,. \end{split}$$

Since $\{w_j\}_j \subset X^*$ are arbitrary, we can take $w_j \in X^*$ such that

$$\langle \partial_j f(z), w_j \rangle = \| \partial_j f(z) \|_X = \sup_{w \in X^*} | \langle \partial_j f(z), w \rangle_X |,$$

then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0) \rangle|^2 \ge s_z^3 \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n}^2 + (s_z^4 - s_z^3) \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n}^2$$
$$= (1 - |z|^2)^2 \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^n}^2,$$

and the proof of the theorem is finished.

A similar result of Lemma 3.1.1 for the invariant gradient $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is the following. Lemma 3.2.7. Suppose $\alpha > -1, \beta > 0$ and $t \ge 0$. If

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\beta}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

for some $g \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, then

$$\left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^{n}} \leq \sqrt{2}\beta(1-|z|^{2})^{1/2} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\|R^{\alpha,t}g(w)\|_{X} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}}$$

for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. By Lemma 2.1.5 we have that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha, t} g(w) \, \mathrm{d} v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{\beta}}.$$

Fix $a \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and make the change of variable $w \mapsto \varphi_a(w)$ in the identity

$$f \circ \varphi_a(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha, t} g(w) \, \mathrm{d} v_{\alpha+t}(w)}{(1 - \langle \varphi_a(z), w \rangle)^{\beta}},$$

to obtain

$$f \circ \varphi_a(z) = c_{\alpha+t} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{R^{\alpha,t}g \circ \varphi_a(w)(1 - |\varphi_a(w)|^2)^{\alpha+t}}{(1 - \langle \varphi_a(z), \varphi_a(w) \rangle)^{\beta}} J_a(w) \,\mathrm{d}v(w) \tag{3.2.1}$$

where

$$J_a(w) = \frac{(1 - |a|^2)^{n+1}}{|1 - \langle w, a \rangle|^{2(n+1)}}$$

Recall that, see [82, Lemma 1.3],

$$1 - \langle \varphi_a(z), \varphi_a(w) \rangle = \frac{(1 - |a|^2)(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)}{(1 - \langle z, a \rangle)(1 - \langle a, w \rangle)}.$$

Note that the differential in z at 0 of $[(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)/(1 - \langle z, a \rangle)]^{\beta}$ is $\beta(\overline{w} - \overline{a})$ so differentiating in z at 0 under the integral sign of (3.2.1) then produces

$$\widetilde{\nabla}f(a) = c_{\alpha+t}\beta \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(\overline{w} - \overline{a})(1 - \langle a, w \rangle)^{\beta}}{(1 - |a|^2)^{\beta}} R^{\alpha,t}g \circ \varphi_a(w) J_a(w)(1 - |\varphi_a(w)|^2)^{\alpha+t} \,\mathrm{d}v(w).$$

Make the change of variables $w \mapsto \varphi_a(w)$ again, we get

$$\widetilde{\nabla}f(a) = \beta \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(\overline{\varphi_a(w)} - \overline{a})R^{\alpha,t}g(w)}{(1 - \langle a, w \rangle)^{\beta}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w).$$

Then, applying Proposition 1.2.2 with X^n , we obtain

$$\left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(a)\right\|_{X^{n}} = \beta \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\left|\varphi_{a}(w) - a\right| \left\|R^{\alpha,t}g(w)\right\|_{X}}{\left|1 - \langle a, w \rangle\right|^{\beta}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(w).$$
(3.2.2)

The rest is the same as the last part of the proof of [82, Lemma 3.3]. Let $s_a := \sqrt{1-|a|^2}$. By the definition of φ_a in (1.3.1), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi_a(w) - a| &= \frac{\left| a \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \left(s_a - 1 + |a|^2 \right) / |a|^2 - w s_a \right|}{\left| 1 - \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|} \\ &= \frac{s_a \left| a \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \left(1 - \frac{1 - |a|^2}{s_a} \right) / |a|^2 - w \right|}{\left| 1 - \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|} \\ &= \frac{s_a \left| a \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \left(1 - s_a \right) / |a|^2 - w \right|}{\left| 1 - \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|}. \end{aligned}$$

But, by elementary computations, for $w, a \in \mathbb{B}_n$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| a \left\langle w, a \right\rangle (1 - s_a) / \left| a \right|^2 - w \right|^2 &= \left| \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|^2 \frac{(1 - s_a)^2}{\left| a \right|^2} - 2 \left| \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|^2 \frac{1 - s_a}{\left| a \right|^2} + \left| w \right|^2 \\ &= \left| \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|^2 \frac{s_a^2 - 1}{\left| a \right|^2} + \left| w \right|^2 \\ &= \left| w \right|^2 - \left| \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|^2 \le 1 - \left| \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|^2 \\ &\le 2 \left| 1 - \left\langle w, a \right\rangle \right|. \end{aligned}$$

This implies that

$$|\varphi_a(w) - a| \le \sqrt{2} \frac{s_a}{\left|1 - \langle w, a \rangle\right|^{1/2}}.$$

Putting in (3.2.2) completes the proof of the lemma.

Finally, the last characterization is the following.

Theorem 3.2.8. Let X be a Banach space. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\gamma > \frac{1}{2}$, then $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if and only if the function

$$(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma-1} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^n}$$

is in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Moreoever, $\|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)} \simeq \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma - 1} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} f(z) \right\|_{X^n}$.

Proof. Recall from Theorem 3.2.6 that

$$(1-|z|^2) \left\|\nabla f(z)\right\|_{X^n} \le \left\|\widetilde{\nabla} f(z)\right\|_{X^n}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

So the boundedness of $(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma-1} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} f(z) \right\|_{X^n}$ implies that of $(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma} \left\| \nabla f(z) \right\|_{X^n}$. Further we have that

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)} = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_{n}} (1 - |z|^{2})^{\gamma} \|\nabla f(z)\|_{X^{n}} \le \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_{n}} (1 - |z|^{2})^{\gamma - 1} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla} f(z)\right\|_{X^{n}}.$$

The first implication is done.

On the other hand, if $f \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, then by Theorem 3.2.1,

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w) \, \mathrm{d}v(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+\gamma}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

where g is a function in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\|g\|_{\infty, X} \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)}$. An application of Lemma 3.2.7 and Theorem 1.4.1 gives

$$\begin{split} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^{n}} &\leq \sqrt{2}(n+\gamma)(1-|z|^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\|g\right\|_{\infty,X} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+\gamma+\frac{1}{2}}} \\ &\lesssim \sqrt{2}(n+\gamma)(1-|z|^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\|g\right\|_{\infty,X} \frac{1}{(1-|z|^{2})^{\gamma-\frac{1}{2}}}, \end{split}$$

which imply that

$$(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma-1} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^n} \lesssim \sqrt{2}(n+\gamma) \left\|g\right\|_{\infty,X} \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)}.$$

Then, applying supremum over $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ we complete the proof of the theorem. \Box

To finish this chapter we have the following consequence of the vector-valued Bloch space $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, you can follow the same proof of [7, Corollary 5.3], but we include another simpler proof for completeness.

Corollary 3.2.9. If $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ then there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|f(z) - f(w)\|_X \le C\beta(z, w) \|f\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)},$$

for any $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Let $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$. It follows from Proposition 3.1.5 and the fact that $\log \frac{1}{1-|z|^2} \lesssim \beta(z,0)$ that

$$||f(z) - f(0)||_X \lesssim \beta(z, 0) ||f||_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)}.$$

Replacing f by $f\circ\varphi_w$ and using Theorem 3.2.8 we have that

$$\|f \circ \varphi_w(z) - f(w)\|_X \lesssim \beta(z,0) \|f \circ \varphi_w\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)} \lesssim \beta(z,0) \sup_{\zeta \in \mathbb{B}_n} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}(f \circ \varphi_w)(\zeta)\right\|_{X^n}$$

Now, we know that the invariant gradient and β are invariant under automorphisms. So, using this fact, a change of variable $z \mapsto \varphi_w(z)$ and Theorem 3.2.8 again, we get that

$$\begin{split} \|f(z) - f(w)\|_X &\lesssim \beta(\varphi_w(z), \varphi_w(w)) \sup_{\zeta \in \mathbb{B}_n} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla}(f \circ \varphi_w)(\zeta) \right\|_{X^n} \\ &= \beta(z, w) \sup_{\zeta \in \mathbb{B}_n} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla}f(\zeta) \right\|_{X^n} \lesssim \beta(z, w) \left\| f \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)} \end{split}$$

and we are done.

CHAPTER 4 Small Hankel Operators

The history of Hankel operators begin with the Hardy spaces and the Hankel matrices. Immediately they began very popular and they have known very good applications [62]. Since then many other generalizations are made.

It is well known also that Hankel operators are closely related to Toeplitz operators, another well known type of operator. In fact, many problems of Toeplitz operators can be reformulated in terms of Hankel operators, and vice versa. There are only one type of Hankel operators for Hardy spaces. In the Bergman setting there are two very different Hankel operators, the small (or little) Hankel operator and the big Hankel operator. The main characteristic of the small Hankel operator is that it only depends on the conjugate analytic part of the symbol (for scalar case).

In this chapter we are going to introduce the small Hankel operator with operatorvalued symbol and we will characterize the boundedness of these Hankel operators between one vector-valued Bergman space to another different vector-valued Bergman space. Before that we also make some properties of these operators and in the final section we are going to make some conclusions. Note that throughout this chapter, we refer to X or Y any complex Banach space and we fix $\alpha > -1$.

4.1 Basic Properties

In this section we are going to introduce the basic concepts of the small (or little) Hankel operator. In the scalar case the small Hankel operator $h_{\varphi} \colon A^2_{\alpha} \to \overline{A^2_{\alpha}}$ with symbol $\varphi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{C})$ is defined by

$$h_{\varphi}f(z) := \overline{P_{\alpha}}(\varphi f)(z), \qquad f \in A_{\alpha}^2$$

Since

$$\overline{P_{\alpha}}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w), \qquad f \in L^2_{\alpha}$$

is an integral operator we have that h_{φ} is also an integral operator with the form

$$h_{\varphi}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w)\varphi(w)}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w), \qquad f \in A_{\alpha}^2.$$
The characterization of this operator is widely studied and established, see [83] for example, and it is well-known that has many applications, mostly in physics. We are interested not only in vector-valued functions but in a more generalization of the symbol.

From now on, we fix $T: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)$ a holomorphic function, i.e., $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$, and then the most general small Hankel operator h_T with symbol T is defined as

$$h_T f(z) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(w)\overline{f(w)}}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w), \qquad f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X).$$
(4.1.1)

It is clear that if T satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|T(w)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) < \infty, \qquad \text{for every } z \in \mathbb{C}, \tag{4.1.2}$$

then the small Hankel operator h_T is well-defined for polynomials, which is a dense subspace of $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ for $1 \leq p < \infty$, by Lemma 2.1.4, meaning h_T is densely defined on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ for any $1 \leq p < \infty$. Notice that since

$$|1 - \langle z, w \rangle| \ge |1 - |\langle z, w \rangle|| \ge (1 - |z|), \qquad w \in \mathbb{B}_n, z \in \mathbb{C}$$

if $T \in A^r_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$, for some $1 \leq r < \infty$, the condition (4.1.2) also holds. The following technical lemma is useful for what follows.

Lemma 4.1.1. Let $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$. If $T \in A^r_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$, for some $1 < r < \infty$, then

$$\langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha, Y} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle T(z) \overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z).$$

Proof. Let $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$. By Fubini's theorem and Proposition 2.1.2 we have that

$$\begin{split} \langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha, Y} &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle h_T f(w), g(w) \rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(w) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} g(w) \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(z)\overline{f(z)}}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(z) \right) \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(w) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(w) \right) (T(z)\overline{f(z)}) \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle T(z)\overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(z). \end{split}$$

It is clear that if $T \in A^r_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$, for some $1 < r < \infty$, the hypothesis of Fubini's theorem is fulfilled. Indeed, let $1 < r < \infty$ and r' be the conjugate exponent

of r. Since f and g are polynomials and using Tonelli's theorem, Theorem 1.4.1 and Hölder's inequality we have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\left| g(w) \left(T(z)\overline{f(z)} \right) \right|}{\left| 1 - \langle w, z \rangle \right|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|T(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)}{\left| 1 - \langle w, z \rangle \right|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \\ \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|T(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \log \frac{1}{1 - |z|^2} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ \leq \|T\|_{r,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \log^{r'} \frac{1}{1 - |z|^2} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \right)^{1/r'} \end{split}$$

Since the last integral is finite we are done. Therefore, the general result follows by the density of the polynomials and Lemma 2.1.4.

The aim of this chapter is to characterize the general small Hankel operator h_T in terms of properties of the symbol T. The techniques used here are similar to [1]. In order to do that, we need to show the following generalization of Lemma 2.1.5.

Lemma 4.1.2. Let X be a Banach space. Suppose t > 0, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(z), g(z) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle R^{\alpha, t} f(z), g(z) \right\rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle f(z), R^{\alpha, t} g(z) \right\rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z)$$

for any $f \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$.

Proof. Let $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. By Proposition 2.1.3 we have that the second integral is equal to

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} (g(z)) \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(w) \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \right) \, \mathrm{d} v_{\alpha+t}(z).$$

Then Lemma 1.2.1, Fubini's theorem and Proposition 2.1.2 show that it is equal to

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{g(z) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z)}{(1-\langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \right) (f(w)) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(g(w) \right) (f(w)) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(w), g(w) \rangle_X \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Here the hypothesis of Fubini's theorem is fulfilled due to Theorem 1.4.1 and the fact that f and g are polynomials. The general result follows by the density of the polynomials and Lemma 2.1.4. Note that the second identity is proved in the same way.

Corollary 4.1.3. Let X, Y be two Banach spaces. Suppose t > 0 and 1 . $If <math>T \in A_{\alpha}^{p'}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$, where p' is the conjugate exponent of p, then the equality

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle T(z)\overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle R^{\alpha,t}T(z)\overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z)$$

holds whenever $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$.

Proof. It is a direct consequence of Lemma 4.1.2 and observing that $R^{\alpha,t}(T(z)\overline{f(z)}) = (R^{\alpha,t}T(z))(\overline{f(z)})$ by definition and the fact that $T\overline{f} \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ when $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $T \in A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ by Hölder's inequality. \Box

4.2 Boundedness. Case $p \leq q$

Here we present one of the most important results of this chapter, the boundedness of the small Hankel operators h_T with symbol $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. In this section we are going to characterize bounded small Hankel operators h_T between $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ for 1 . In order to do that we begin with the case <math>p = q, which is the most simple case.

Recall the small Hankel operator h_T is defined as

$$h_T f(z) := \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(w)\overline{f(w)}}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w),$$

for any $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Theorem 4.2.1. Let $1 . The small Hankel operator <math>h_T \colon A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is a bounded linear operator if and only if $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Moreover, $\|h_T\|_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)} \simeq \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))}$.

Proof. Let 1 and let <math>p' be the conjugate exponent of p. Suppose first that h_T is a bounded linear operator on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ with norm $||h_T|| := ||h_T||_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)}$. Let $x \in X$ and t > 0. Fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and put

$$f(w) := \frac{x}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^t}, \qquad w \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

It is clear that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if t > 0 is large enough. Indeed, it is easy to see that $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Moreover, by Theorem 1.4.1, we have that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \right)^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \|x\|_X \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^\alpha \, \mathrm{d}v(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{tp}} \right)^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \frac{\|x\|_X}{(1-|z|^2)^{t-(n+1+\alpha)/p}}, \end{split}$$

if $t > (n + 1 + \alpha)/p$. Therefore, with this particular f and Proposition 2.1.3, we have that

$$h_T f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(w)f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(w)(\overline{x})}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) = R^{\alpha,t} T(z)(\overline{x})$$

Then, by Theorem 2.1.1 and the hypothesis, it implies that

$$\left\| R^{\alpha,t}T(z)(\overline{x}) \right\|_{Y} = \|h_{T}f(z)\|_{Y} \le \frac{\|h_{T}f\|_{p,\alpha,Y}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{(n+1+\alpha)/p}} \lesssim \frac{\|h_{T}\| \|x\|_{X}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{t}}.$$

Since $x \in X$ is arbitrary and $||x||_X = ||\overline{x}||_{\overline{X}}$, we get that

$$\left\| R^{\alpha,t}T(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \lesssim \frac{\|h_T\|}{(1-|z|^2)^t}$$

Finally, by Theorem 3.1.3, this implies that T is in the Bloch space $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ with $||T||_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))} \leq ||h_T||$.

Conversely, suppose that $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Let $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$ and let t > 0. By Lemma 3.1.4 and Lemma 4.1.1, we have that

$$\langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha, Y} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle T(z) \overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

Then, by Lemma 3.1.4 again, Corollary 4.1.3, Theorem 3.1.3 and Hölder's inequality, we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha, Y} \right| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle T(z) \overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle R^{\alpha, t} T(z) \overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t}(z) \right| \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\| R^{\alpha, t} T(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)} \left\| \overline{f(z)} \right\|_{\overline{X}} \|g(z)\|_{Y^*} \left(1 - |z|^2 \right)^t \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &\lesssim \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z)\|_X \|g(z)\|_{Y^*} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &\leq \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))} \|f\|_{p, \alpha, X} \|g\|_{p', \alpha, Y^*}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by duality, we obtain

$$\|h_T\|_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\to A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} = \sup_{\substack{\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}=1\\\|g\|_{p',\alpha,Y^*}=1}} \left| \langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha,Y} \right| \lesssim \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))}.$$

Hence the proof of the theorem is complete.

The next theorem is the characterization of bounded small Hankel operators h_T between $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ for 1 .

Theorem 4.2.2. Let $1 . The small Hankel operator <math>h_T \colon A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is a bounded linear operator if and only if $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ where

$$\gamma := 1 + (n+1+\alpha) \left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right).$$

Moreover, $\|h_T\|_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} \simeq \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))}.$

Proof. Let 1 and, <math>p' and q' be the conjugate exponents of p and q respectively. Suppose first that h_T is a bounded linear operator on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ with norm $||h_T|| := ||h_T||_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)}$. Let $x \in X$ and t > 0. Fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and put

$$f(w) := \frac{x}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^t}, \qquad w \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Let us see that $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ for t > 0 big enough. Indeed, it is clear that $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Moreover, by Theorem 1.4.1, we have that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \right)^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \|x\|_X \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1-|w|^2)^\alpha}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{tp}} \, \mathrm{d}v(w) \right)^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \frac{\|x\|_X}{(1-|z|^2)^{t-(n+1+\alpha)/p}} \end{split}$$

only if $t > (n + 1 + \alpha)/p$ holds. Then, by Proposition 2.1.3 it is easy to see that

$$h_T f(z) = R^{\alpha, t} T(z)(\overline{x}).$$

Therefore, by Theorem 2.1.1, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| R^{\alpha,t}T(z)(\overline{x}) \right\|_{Y} &= \left\| h_{T}f(x) \right\|_{Y} \leq \frac{\left\| h_{T}f \right\|_{q,\alpha,Y}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{(n+1+\alpha)/q}} \\ &\leq \frac{\left\| h_{T} \right\| \left\| f \right\|_{p,\alpha,X}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{(n+1+\alpha)/q}} \lesssim \frac{\left\| h_{T} \right\| \left\| x \right\|_{X}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{t+(n+1+\alpha)(1/q-1/p)}} \end{aligned}$$

Since $x \in X$ is arbitrary and $||x||_X = ||\overline{x}||_{\overline{X}}$ we obtain that

$$\left\| R^{\alpha,t}T(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \lesssim \frac{\left\| h_T \right\|}{(1-\left| z \right|^2)^{\gamma+t-1}}$$

and it implies that

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} \left(1 - |z|^2\right)^{\gamma + t - 1} \left\| R^{\alpha, t} T(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)} \lesssim \|h_T\|$$

By Corollary 3.2.3 this means that $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and $||T||_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))} \lesssim ||h_T||.$

Conversely, suppose that $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Let $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^{q'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$ and let t > 0. Since $0 < \gamma < 1$, Corollary 3.2.4 implies that $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)) \subset A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$, so by Lemma 4.1.1 and Corollaries 4.1.3 and

3.2.3, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle h_T f, g \rangle|_{\alpha, Y} &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle T(z) \overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\langle R^{\alpha, t+1} T(z) \overline{f(z)}, g(z) \right\rangle_Y \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+t+1}(z) \right| \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\| R^{\alpha, t+1} T(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)} \left\| \overline{f(z)} \right\|_{\overline{X}} \|g(z)\|_{Y^*} \, (1-|z|^2)^{\alpha+t+1} \, \mathrm{d}v(z) \\ &\lesssim \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z)\|_X \, \|g(z)\|_{Y^*} \, (1-|z|^2)^{\alpha-\gamma+1} \, \mathrm{d}v(z). \end{aligned}$$

By Hölder's inequality the last integral is less or equal than

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z)\|_X^q \left(1-|z|^2\right)^{\alpha-q(\gamma-1)} \mathrm{d}v(z)\right)^{1/q} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|g(z)\|_{Y^*}^{q'} \left(1-|z|^2\right)^{\alpha} \mathrm{d}v(z)\right)^{1/q'}.$$

Now, since p < q and using Theorem 2.1.1, we have that

$$\begin{split} \|f(z)\|_X^q &= \|f(z)\|_X^p \|f(z)\|_X^{q-p} \le \frac{\|f(z)\|_X^p \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{q-p}}{(1-|z|^2)^{(q-p)(n+1+\alpha)/p}} \\ &= \frac{\|f(z)\|_X^p \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{q-p}}{(1-|z|^2)^{-q(\gamma-1)}}. \end{split}$$

Then

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z)\|_X^q \, (1-|z|^2)^{\alpha-q(\gamma-1)} \, \mathrm{d}v(z)\right)^{1/q}$$

is less or equal than

$$\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{1-p/q} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(z)\|_X^p \frac{(1-|z|^2)^{\alpha-q(\gamma-1)}}{(1-|z|^2)^{-q(\gamma-1)}} \,\mathrm{d}v(z) \right)^{1/q} \lesssim \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}.$$

Summing up, we obtain that

$$\left| \langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha, Y} \right| \lesssim \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))} \|f\|_{p, \alpha, X} \|g\|_{q', \alpha, Y^*}.$$

Therefore, by duality, we finally obtain that

$$\|h_T\|_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} = \sup_{\substack{\|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}=1\\\|g\|_{q',\alpha,Y^*}=1}} \left| \langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha,Y} \right| \lesssim \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))}.$$

Hence the proof of the theorem is complete.

4.3 Boundedness. Case p > q

In this section we are going to characterize boundedness of small Hankel operator h_T between $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ for $1 < q < p < \infty$. Before that we need some preliminary results. The following is a characterization lemma of vector-valued Bergman spaces.

Lemma 4.3.1. Let $t \ge 0$ be a fixed number and $1 . Suppose that <math>f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. If there is a constant C > 0 such that for all $0 < r \le 1$ and any r-lattice $\{a_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{B}_n$ the inequality

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{tp + (n+1+\alpha)} \left\| R^{\alpha, t} f(a_k) \right\|_X^p \le C^p$$
(4.3.1)

holds, then $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $||f||_{p,\alpha,X} \lesssim C$.

Proof. Suppose that (4.3.1) holds and let p' the conjugate exponent of p. Let also $g \in A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. Since

$$t \ge 0 > -\frac{1+\alpha}{p} = \frac{1+\alpha}{p'} - (1+\alpha)$$

we have that

$$t + (n+1+\alpha) > n + \frac{1+\alpha}{p'}$$

Then, by Theorem 2.3.5 (ii) (with $b = t + (n + 1 + \alpha)$), we have that there exist a r-lattice $\{a_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{B}_n$ and a sequence $\{\lambda_k\}_k \in \ell^{p'}(X^*)$ such that

$$g(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{t + (n+1+\alpha) - (n+1+\alpha)/p'}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{t + (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}}$$

and $\|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^{p'}(X^*)} \lesssim \|g\|_{p',\alpha,X^*}$. If $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, by Fubini's theorem and Proposition 2.1.3, then

$$\begin{split} \langle f,g\rangle_{\alpha,X} &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \langle f(z),g(z)\rangle_X \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \sum_{k=1}^\infty \frac{(1-|a_k|^2)^{t+(n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1-\langle a_k,z\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \,\langle f(z),\lambda_k\rangle_X \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^\infty (1-|a_k|^2)^{t+(n+1+\alpha)/p} \lambda_k \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{f(z)}{(1-\langle a_k,z\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \right) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^\infty (1-|a_k|^2)^{t+(n+1+\alpha)/p} \lambda_k \left(R^{\alpha,t}f(a_k) \right) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^\infty (1-|a_k|^2)^{t+(n+1+\alpha)/p} \,\langle R^{\alpha,t}f(a_k),\lambda_k\rangle_X \,. \end{split}$$

Then, by Hölder's inequality and the hypothesis (4.3.1), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle f,g \rangle_{\alpha,X}| &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\lambda_k\|_{X^*} \left(1 - |a_k|^2\right)^{t + (n+1+\alpha)/p} \left\| R^{\alpha,t} f(a_k) \right\|_X \\ &\leq \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^{p'}(X^*)} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{tp + (n+1+\alpha)} \left\| R^{\alpha,t} f(a_k) \right\|_X^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^{p'}(X^*)} C. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by duality in Theorem 2.2.4,

$$||f||_{p,\alpha,X} = \sup_{g \in A_{\alpha}^{p'}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X^{*})} \frac{|\langle f,g \rangle_{\alpha,X}|}{||g||_{p',\alpha,X^{*}}} \le C \sup_{g \in A_{\alpha}^{p'}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X^{*})} \frac{||\{\lambda_{k}\}_{k}||_{\ell^{p'}(X^{*})}}{||g||_{p',\alpha,X^{*}}} \lesssim C.$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

Lemma 4.3.2. Let $1 < q < p < \infty$ and $\mu = {\mu_k}_k \subset \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be a sequence. If there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|\{\mu_k(\lambda_k)\}_k\|_{\ell^q(Y)} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\mu_k(\lambda_k)\|_Y^q\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C \,\|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)} \tag{4.3.2}$$

holds for any sequence $\{\lambda_k\}_k \in \ell^p(X)$, then $\mu \in \ell^t(\mathcal{L}(X,Y))$ where

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}$$

and $\|\mu\|_{\ell^t(\mathcal{L}(X,Y))} \lesssim C$.

Proof. For any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we have that for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\lambda_k \in X$ with $\|\lambda_k\|_X = 1$ such that

$$(1-\varepsilon) \|\mu_k\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)} \le \|\mu_k(\lambda_k)\|_Y.$$

Fix $\varepsilon = 1/2$ and a positive large integer N > 1. We define the sequence $\lambda^N = \{\lambda_k^N\}_k \subset X$ by

$$\lambda_k^N := \lambda_k \left\| \mu_k \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^{\frac{q}{p-q}}$$

if $k \leq N$ and 0 otherwise. Since this sequence has a finite number of elements it is clear that it belongs to $\ell^p(X)$. Thus, applying (4.3.2) to this sequence, taking into account that

$$\|\lambda^{N}\|_{\ell^{p}(X)}^{q} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\lambda_{k}^{N}\|_{X}^{p}\right)^{q/p} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\lambda_{k}\|_{X}^{p} \|\mu_{k}\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^{t}\right)^{q/p} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\mu_{k}\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^{t}\right)^{q/p}$$

and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left\| \mu_k(\lambda_k^N) \right\|_Y^q = \sum_{k=1}^N \left\| \mu_k \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^{\frac{q^2}{p-q}} \left\| \mu_k(\lambda_k) \right\|_Y^q \ge \frac{1}{2^q} \sum_{k=1}^N \left\| \mu_k \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^{\frac{q^2}{p-q}+q} = \frac{1}{2^q} \sum_{k=1}^N \left\| \mu_k \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^t,$$

we obtain that

$$\frac{1}{2^q} \sum_{k=1}^N \|\mu_k\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^t \le \sum_{k=1}^\infty \|\mu_k(\lambda_k^N)\|_Y^q \le C^q \|\lambda_k^N\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q = C^q \left(\sum_{k=1}^N \|\mu_k\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^t\right)^{q/p}$$

which is equivalent to

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{N} \|\mu_k\|_{\mathcal{L}(X,Y)}^t\right)^{\frac{p-q}{p}} \le (2C)^q.$$

The result follows from this and tending $N \to \infty$.

Now we are in the situation to prove the remaining case of q < p.

Theorem 4.3.3. Let $1 < q < p < \infty$. If Y has finite cotype, then the small Hankel operator $h_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is a bounded linear operator if and only if $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ where

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}$$

Moreover, $\|h_T\|_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} \simeq \|T\|_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}.$

Proof. Suppose first that $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Let $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and let q' be the conjugate exponent of q. By duality in Theorem 2.2.4, Lemma 4.1.1 and Hölder's inequality two times, (first with (q, q') then with (p/q, p/(p-q))), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \|h_T f\|_{q,\alpha,Y} &= \sup_{\|g\|_{q',\alpha,Y^*}=1} \left| \langle h_T f, g \rangle_{\alpha,Y} \right| \leq \sup_{\|g\|_{q',\alpha,Y^*}=1} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left| \langle T(z)\overline{f(z)}, g(z) \rangle_Y \right| \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &\leq \sup_{\|g\|_{q',\alpha,Y^*}=1} \|g\|_{q',\alpha,Y^*} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\| T(z)\overline{f(z)} \right\|_Y^q \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X} \, \|T\|_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Then, h_T is bounded on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ and $\|h_T\|_{A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)} \leq \|T\|_{t, \alpha, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)}.$

Conversely, suppose that $h_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is bounded and let $r_k(t) := \operatorname{sgn}(\sin(2^k \pi t))$ be the Rademacher functions. Let also b be large enough so that

$$b > n + \frac{1+\alpha}{p} \ge 0.$$

Fix r > 0 and consider $\{a_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{B}_n$ an *r*-lattice and $\{D_k\}_k$ the associated sets in Lemma 2.3.3. By Theorem 2.3.5 (i), we have that for every sequence $\{\lambda_k\}_k \in \ell^p(X)$ the function

$$g_t(z) := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k r_k(t) \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

belongs to $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ with $\|g_t\|_{p,\alpha,X} \lesssim \|\{\lambda_k r_k(t)\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)} \lesssim \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}$, for almost every $t \in (0, 1)$. Denote by

$$g_k(z) := \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Since $h_T \colon A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is bounded, we have that

$$\|h_T g_t\|_{q,\alpha,Y}^q = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} r_k(t) h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z) \right\|_{Y}^q dv_\alpha(z) \\ \leq \|h_T\|^q \|g_t\|_{p,\alpha,X}^q \lesssim \|h_T\|^q \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q,$$

for almost every $t \in (0, 1)$. Integrating both sides respect to t from 0 to 1 and using Tonelli's theorem we obtain that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \int_0^1 \left\| \sum_{k=1}^\infty r_k(t) h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z) \right\|_Y^q \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \lesssim \|h_T\|^q \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q.$$

Let $2 \le s < \infty$ be the cotype of Y (see Section 1.7 for more information). By the definition of cotype (1.7.3) and Kahane inequality in Theorem 1.7.1 we get

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^s\right)^{q/s} \lesssim \left(\int_0^1 \left\|\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} r_k(t)h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\right\|_Y^s \mathrm{d}t\right)^{q/s}$$
$$\lesssim \int_0^1 \left\|\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} r_k(t)h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\right\|_Y^q \mathrm{d}t,$$

which implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^s \right)^{q/s} \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \lesssim \|h_T\|^q \, \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q \,. \tag{4.3.3}$$

Now, we claim that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{D_k} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^q \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^s\right)^{q/s} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z). \tag{4.3.4}$$

Indeed, if $s/q \leq 1,$ it directly follows from Tonelli's theorem

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{D_k} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^q \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \le \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^q \right)^{\frac{s}{q}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$
$$\le \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^s \right)^{q/s} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z).$$

If s/q > 1, notice first that by Tonelli's theorem

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{D_k} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^q \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^q \, \chi_{D_k}(z) \right)^{\frac{s}{q}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

then we can apply Hölder's inequality, with (s/q, s/(s-q)), to obtain that

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^q \chi_{D_k}(z)\right)^{\frac{s}{q}\frac{q}{s}} \le \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^s\right)^{\frac{q}{s}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \chi_{D_k}(z)\right)^{1-\frac{q}{s}} \le N^{1-q/s} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^s\right)^{q/s}.$$

Recall that each $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ belongs to at most $N \in \mathbb{N}$ of the sets D_k , see Theorem 2.3.2 and Lemma 2.3.3. Then, (4.3.4) holds. On the other hand, by Theorem 1.5.2, we have that

$$\|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(a_k)\|_Y^q \lesssim \frac{1}{(1-|a_k|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}} \int_{D_k} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(z)\|_Y^q \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z).$$

Note that $h_T f = P_{\alpha}(T\overline{f})$ so $h_T f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ for any $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Then, combining it with (4.3.4) and (4.3.3) we obtain that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{n+1+\alpha} \|h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(a_k)\|_Y^q \lesssim \|h_T\|^q \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q.$$

If we calculate, using Proposition 2.1.3, we get that

$$h_T(\lambda_k g_k)(a_k) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(z)(\lambda_k g_k(z))}{(1 - \langle a_k, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p} T(z)(\overline{\lambda_k})}{(1 - \langle a_k, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+b}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)$$

$$= (1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(z) \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)}{(1 - \langle a_k, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+b}} \right) (\overline{\lambda_k})$$

$$= (1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/p} R^{\alpha, b} T(a_k)(\overline{\lambda_k}),$$

then we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{(b + (n+1+\alpha)/t)q} \left\| R^{\alpha, b} T(a_k)(\overline{\lambda_k}) \right\|_Y^q \lesssim \|h_T\|^q \left\| \{\lambda_k\}_k \right\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q$$

which is equivalent to

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left\| (1 - |a_k|^2)^{b + (n+1+\alpha)/t} R^{\alpha, b} T(a_k)(\overline{\lambda_k}) \right\|_Y^q \lesssim \|h_T\|^q \left\| \{\overline{\lambda_k}\}_k \right\|_{\ell^p(\overline{X})}^q.$$

Since the sequence $\{\overline{\lambda_k}\}_k \in \ell^p(\overline{X})$ is arbitrary, Lemma 4.3.2 implies that the sequence $\{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b+(n+1+\alpha)/t}R^{\alpha,b}T(a_k)\}_k \in \ell^t(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))$ and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{bt + (n+1+\alpha)} \left\| R^{\alpha, b} T(a_k) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)}^t \lesssim \|h_T\|^t.$$

Finally, by Lemma 4.3.1, we have that $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and $||T||_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \lesssim ||h_T||$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

4.4 Conclusions and Examples

In this section we summarize all the important results we have obtained in the previous sections and then we apply it to different contexts and examples. The general theorem is the following.

Theorem 4.4.1. Let $1 and <math>1 < q < \infty$. Suppose $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Let the small Hankel operator $h_T \colon A^p_\alpha(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_\alpha(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ be the linear operator defined by (4.1.1).

(i) If $1 , then <math>h_T$ is bounded if and only if $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ where

$$\gamma = 1 + (n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)$$

and, moreover, $||h_T|| \simeq ||T||_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))}$.

(ii) If $1 < q < p < \infty$ and Y has finite cotype, then h_T is bounded if and only if $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ where

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}$$

and, moreover, $||h_T|| \simeq ||T||_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}$.

Proof. The first case follows from Theorems 4.2.1 and 4.2.2. The second case is Theorem 4.3.3. \Box

Notice that since X is isometrically equivalent to \overline{X} we also have the same result if we replace \overline{X} by X. Now we present some important examples of small Hankel operators. For example, if $Y = \mathbb{C}$ we get the small Hankel operator $h_{\overline{\varphi}}$ with symbol $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$. The small Hankel operator $h_{\overline{\varphi}} \colon A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}$ is the linear operator defined as

$$h_{\overline{\varphi}}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\langle f(w), \varphi(w) \rangle_X}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n, f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X).$$

Theorem 4.4.2. Let $1 and <math>1 < q < \infty$. Suppose $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$.

(i) If $1 , then <math>h_{\overline{\varphi}} \colon A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}$ is bounded if and only if $\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ where

$$\gamma = 1 + (n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)$$

and, moreover, $||h_{\overline{\varphi}}|| \simeq ||\varphi||_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)}$.

(ii) If $1 < q < p < \infty$, then $h_{\overline{\varphi}} \colon A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}$ is bounded if and only if $\varphi \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ where

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}$$

and, moreover, $\|h_{\overline{\varphi}}\| \simeq \|\varphi\|_{t,\alpha,X^*}$.

Notice that when $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ and by definition we have that

$$\overline{h_{\overline{\varphi}}f(z)} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\overline{\langle f(w), \varphi(w) \rangle_X}}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\overline{f(w)}\varphi(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w),$$

for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Then, we define $T_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \overline{X}^*)$ by

$$T_{\varphi}(z)(\overline{x}) := \overline{x}(\varphi(z)), \qquad (4.4.1)$$

for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $x \in X$. This way we get that

$$\overline{h_{\overline{\varphi}}f(z)} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\overline{f(w)}\varphi(w)}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T_{\varphi}(w)\overline{f(w)}}{(1-\langle z,w\rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) = h_{T_{\varphi}}f(z),$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. It is clear that the boundedness of $\overline{h_{\varphi}}$ is equivalent to the boundedness of $h_{T_{\varphi}}$ (with equivalent norms), then the proof of Theorem 4.4.2 is a direct consequence of the general Theorem 4.4.1 and the following proposition.

Proposition 4.4.3. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ and $T_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \overline{X}^*)$ defined in (4.4.1). *Then:*

- (1) $\|\varphi(z)\|_{X^*} = \|T_{\varphi}(z)\|_{\overline{X}^*}$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$;
- (2) For $\alpha > -1$ and $p \ge 1$, one has $\varphi \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ if and only if $T_{\varphi} \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \overline{X}^*)$. Moreover, $\|\varphi\|_{p,\alpha,X^*} = \|T_{\varphi}\|_{p,\alpha,\overline{X}^*};$
- (3) For $\gamma > 0$, one has $\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ if and only if $T_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \overline{X}^*)$. Morever, $\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)} = \|T_{\varphi}\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \overline{X}^*)}$.

Proof. Fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Then, by definition, we have

$$\begin{split} \|T_{\varphi}(z)\|_{\overline{X}^{*}} &= \sup_{\|\overline{x}\|_{\overline{X}}=1} \left| \langle \overline{x}, T_{\varphi}(z) \rangle_{\overline{X}} \right| = \sup_{\|\overline{x}\|_{\overline{X}}=1} |\overline{x}(\varphi(z))| \\ &= \sup_{\|x\|_{X}=1} |\langle x, \varphi(z) \rangle_{X}| = \|\varphi(z)\|_{X^{*}} \,. \end{split}$$

This proves (1). The statement (2) follows directly by (1). Let us prove the statement (3). First of all, by Corollary 3.2.4 and (2) we can suppose that $\varphi \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X^*)$ and $T_{\varphi} \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \overline{X}^*)$, for some $\alpha > -1$ big enough. Let t > 0, by (1), we have

$$\left\| R^{\alpha,t}\varphi(z) \right\|_{X^*} = \left\| T_{R^{\alpha,t}\varphi}(z) \right\|_{\overline{X}^*}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Take $x \in X$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Then, by definition and Proposition 2.1.3, we get

$$\begin{split} \langle \overline{x}, T_{R^{\alpha,t}\varphi}(z) \rangle_{\overline{X}} &= \overline{x} (R^{\alpha,t}\varphi(z)) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\overline{x}(\varphi(w))}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T_\varphi(w)(\overline{x})}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \\ &= R^{\alpha,t} T_\varphi(z)(\overline{x}). \end{split}$$

Since $x \in X$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ are arbitrary we obtain

$$\|T_{R^{\alpha,t}\varphi}(z)\|_{\overline{X}^*} = \|R^{\alpha,t}T_{\varphi}(z)\|_{\overline{X}^*}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n$$

Therefore, by Theorem 3.2.1 this implies (3) and we are done.

Another example, if X = Y = H is a complex Hilbert space we get the small Hankel operator Γ_T , with symbol $T: \mathbb{D} \to \mathcal{L}(H)$. You can see some results on them from Aleman and Constantin [1], the following result is from them.

Theorem 4.4.4 ([1, Theorem 3.1]). The small Hankel operator Γ_T extends to a bounded linear operator on $A^2_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, H)$ if and only if

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}} (1 - |z|^2) \|T'(z)\| < \infty.$$

Clearly the last condition is the same as the Bloch condition $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{D}, H)$ and using Lemma 4.1.1 we have that their Hankel operator is the same as we defined us in a more general way. Then, we can generalize it in the following way.

Theorem 4.4.5. Let $1 and <math>1 < q < \infty$. Suppose $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}))$. Let the small Hankel operator $\Gamma_T \colon A^p_\alpha(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_\alpha(\mathbb{B}_n, \overline{X})$ be the linear operator.

(i) If $1 , then <math>\Gamma_T$ is bounded if and only if $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(X))$ where

$$\gamma = 1 + (n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)$$

and, moreover, $\|\Gamma_T\| \simeq \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n,\mathcal{L}(X))}$.

(ii) If $1 < q < p < \infty$, then Γ_T is bounded if and only if $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(X))$ where

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}$$

and, moreover, $\|\Gamma_T\| \simeq \|T\|_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(X)}$.

CHAPTER 5 Factorization Results

In this chapter we present some results in factorization, an application of the boundedness of the small Hankel operator. One important application of the boundedness of the little Hankel operator is the weak factorization of the vector-valued Bergman spaces. The ideas here comes from [60] and its bibliography therein. It is well-known that strong factorization for Bergman spaces in the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^n of dimension $n \geq 2$ are no longer possible to obtain [40] (in [43] Horowitz proved the strong factorization of weighted Bergman spaces on the unit disk). Clearly this fact extend for vectorvalued Bergman spaces, but it is still possible to obtain some weak factorization for functions in these spaces.

5.1 Weak Factorizations and Hankel Forms

Given two Banach spaces X and Y, let $x \boxdot y$ be a product defined for $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$. The product type space $X \boxdot Y$ is the completion of finite sums

$$\sum_{k} x_k \boxdot y_k, \qquad \{x_k\}_k \subset X, \{y_k\}_k \subset Y,$$

with the following norm

$$||u||_{X \widehat{\Box} Y} := \inf \left\{ \sum_{k} ||x_k||_X ||y_k||_Y : u = \sum_{k} x_k \boxdot y_k \right\}.$$

We have plenty different types of products of this kind. For example, we can consider the algebraic tensor product $x \otimes y$. Then we get the projection tensor product space $X \widehat{\otimes} Y$. The tensor product $x \otimes y$ can be viewed as an operator from Y^* to X defined by

$$(x \otimes y)(w) = w(y) \cdot x, \qquad w \in Y^*.$$

We refer to [35, Chapter VIII] and [67] for more on tensor products of Banach spaces.

As a second example, let X and Y be two Banach spaces of functions where the pointwise multiplication $f \cdot g$; $f \in X$, $g \in Y$, is well defined, or X and Y be spaces of

operators with the usual product of operators. Then we obtain the weakly factored space $X \odot Y$ defined as

$$X \odot Y := \left\{ f = \sum_{k} g_k \cdot h_k \colon \{g_k\}_k \subset X, \{h_k\}_k \subset Y \right\},\$$

with the following norm

$$||f||_{X \odot Y} = \inf \left\{ \sum_{k} ||g_k||_X ||h_k||_Y : f = \sum_{k} g_k \cdot h_k \right\}.$$

For instance we can take $X = A^p_{\alpha}$ and $Y = A^q_{\alpha}$, the scalar Bergman spaces or we can take even more complicated spaces like the vector-valued Bergman spaces; $X = A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^r_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^n))$ and $Y = A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^s_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^n))$. We also can take the Schatten class ideals $X = S^p$ and $Y = S^q$.

Another example is $X = \mathcal{L}(H)$ and Y = H, where H is a Hilbert space, with the natural product

$$T \boxdot x = T(x).$$

In this section we establish weak factorizations for vector-valued Bergman spaces $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$, with $1 \leq q < \infty$ and $\alpha > -1$, into two other Bergman spaces, where X, Y are any two Banach spaces.

It is well-known that to obtain weak factorization results is equivalent to give a characterization of the boundedness of certain Hankel forms. Given $\alpha > -1$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \odot Y)^*)$, we define the associated Hankel type bilinear form B_{φ} for polynomials $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ by

$$B_{\varphi}(f,g) = \langle f \boxdot g, \varphi \rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y}$$

Note that for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, we define $(f \boxdot g)(z) := f(z) \boxdot g(z)$. Since the polynomials are dense in the vector-valued Bergman spaces (see Lemma 2.1.4) the Hankel form B_{φ} is densely defined on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ for any $p_1, p_2 \ge 1$. Recall that the Hankel form B_{φ} is bounded on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ if and only if there exists C > 0 such that

$$|B_{\varphi}(f,g)| \le C ||f||_{p_{1},\alpha,X} ||g||_{p_{2},\alpha,Y},$$

for any $f \in A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$, moreover, $||B_{\varphi}||$ is the infimum of C > 0of such above inequalities. The principal ideas of this result comes from [60] and the fact that $(X \widehat{\otimes} Y)^* = \mathcal{L}(X, Y^*)$ ([35, Chapter VIII. Section 2]) in the case of the projection tensor product.

Proposition 5.1.1. Let $\alpha > -1$ and $1 \le q < \infty$, $1 < p_1, p_2 < \infty$ such that

$$\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{q}.$$
(5.1.1)

The following statements are equivalent:

- (1) $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y) = A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$, with equivalent norms.
- (2) For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$, B_{φ} is bounded on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ if and only if $\varphi \in \left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*$. Moreover, $\|B_{\varphi}\| \simeq \|\varphi\|_{\left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*}$.

Proof. First of all, we notice that by the duality of the vector-valued Bergman spaces in Theorems 2.2.4 and 3.1.6 we identify $\varphi \in \left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*$ with Λ_{φ} where $\Lambda_{\varphi}(f) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y}$, for any $f \in A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$.

(1) \Rightarrow (2): Suppose first that B_{φ} is bounded on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ and we want to prove that $\varphi \in \left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*$. By duality we get

$$\left\|\varphi\right\|_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X\,\widehat{\boxdot}\,Y)\right)^{*}} = \sup_{\left\|f\right\|_{q,\alpha,X\,\widehat{\boxdot}\,Y}=1} \left|\langle f,\varphi\rangle_{\alpha,X\,\widehat{\boxdot}\,Y}\right|.$$

But by hypothesis (1), any $f \in A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$ belongs to $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ with

$$\|f\|_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\widehat{\cup}A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} \lesssim \|f\|_{q,\alpha,X\widehat{\cup}Y}.$$

Thus, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, we can find sequences $\{g_k\}_k \subset A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\{h_k\}_k \subset A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ such that $f = \sum_{k \ge 1} g_k \boxdot h_k$ and we have that

$$\sum_{k\geq 1} \left\|g_k\right\|_{p_1,\alpha,X} \left\|h_k\right\|_{p_2,\alpha,Y} \leq \left\|f\right\|_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\widehat{\Box} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} + \varepsilon \lesssim \left\|f\right\|_{q,\alpha,X\widehat{\Box} Y} + \varepsilon.$$

Therefore, by the boundedness of B_{φ} ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi\|_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X\widehat{\boxdot}Y)\right)^{*}} &= \sup_{\|f\|_{q,\alpha,X}\widehat{\boxdot}Y} \left|\sum_{k\geq 1} \langle g_{k}\boxdot h_{k},\varphi\rangle_{\alpha,X\widehat{\boxdot}Y}\right| \\ &= \sup_{\|f\|_{q,\alpha,X}\widehat{\boxdot}Y} \left|\sum_{k\geq 1} B_{\varphi}(g_{k},h_{k})\right| \\ &\leq \|B_{\varphi}\|\sup_{\|f\|_{q,\alpha,X}\widehat{\boxdot}Y} \sum_{k\geq 1} \|g_{k}\|_{p_{1},\alpha,X} \|h_{k}\|_{p_{2},\alpha,Y} \\ &\lesssim \|B_{\varphi}\| (1+\varepsilon). \end{aligned}$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ was arbitrary we are done.

Conversely suppose $\varphi \in \left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*$. Take any $g \in A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $h \in A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$. Then, by hypothesis, $g \boxdot h \in A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y) \subset A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$ with $\|g \boxdot h\|_{q,\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} \lesssim \|g \boxdot h\|_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)}$. Therefore

$$|B_{\varphi}(g,h)| = \left| \langle g \boxdot h, \varphi \rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} \right| \leq ||g \boxdot h||_{q, \alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} ||\varphi||_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^{*}} \\ \lesssim ||\varphi||_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^{*}} ||g \boxdot h||_{A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, Y)} \\ \leq ||\varphi||_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^{*}} ||g||_{p_{1}, \alpha, X} ||h||_{p_{2}, \alpha, Y}$$

which imply that B_{φ} is bounded on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ with

 $\|B_{\varphi}\| \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^{*}}.$

(2) \Rightarrow (1): For the inclusion $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y) \subset A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$ with the estimate $\|f\|_{q,\alpha,X\widehat{\boxdot} Y} \lesssim \|f\|_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)}$ we use similar ideas as before. Take $f \in A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$. Then, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist sequences $\{g_k\}_k \subset A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\{h_k\}_k \subset A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ such that $f = \sum_{k \ge 1} g_k \boxdot h_k$ and we have that

$$\sum_{k\geq 1} \left\|g_k\right\|_{p_1,\alpha,X} \left\|h_k\right\|_{p_2,\alpha,Y} \leq \left\|f\right\|_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\widehat{\Box} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} + \varepsilon.$$

Therefore, by duality and the hypothesis, we have that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{q,\alpha,X\widehat{\Box}Y} &= \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X\widehat{\Box}Y)\right)^{*}=1}} \left|\langle f,\varphi\rangle_{\alpha,X\widehat{\Box}Y}\right| \leq \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X\widehat{\Box}Y)\right)^{*}=1}}\sum_{k}|B_{\varphi}(g_{k},h_{k})| \\ &\leq \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{\left(A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X\widehat{\Box}Y)\right)^{*}=1}}\|B_{\varphi}\|\sum_{k}\|g_{k}\|_{p_{1},\alpha,X}\|h_{k}\|_{p_{2},\alpha,Y} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n},X)\widehat{\Box}A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n},Y)} + \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary we are done.

On the other hand, by the atomic decomposition in Theorem 2.3.5, we have the inclusion $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y) \subset A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$. Indeed, any function $f \in A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$ can be written as

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/q}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^b},$$

where $\{\lambda_k\}_k \subset X \widehat{\boxdot} Y$ and some *b* large enough (see notation in Theorem 2.3.5). Then, for any $k \geq 1$, there exist sequences $\{x_j^k\}_j \subset X$ and $\{y_j^k\}_j \subset Y$ such that $\lambda_k = \sum_j x_j^k \boxdot y_j^k$ and, therefore

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j} x_{j}^{k} \boxdot y_{j}^{k} \frac{(1 - |a_{k}|^{2})^{b - (n+1+\alpha)/q}}{(1 - \langle z, a_{k} \rangle)^{b}} = \sum_{k,j} g_{j}^{k}(z) \boxdot h_{j}^{k}(z),$$

where

$$g_j^k(z) := x_j^k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{bq/p_1 - (n+1+\alpha)/p_1}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^{bq/p_1}}$$

and

$$h_j^k(z) := y_j^k \frac{(1 - |a_k|^2)^{bq/p_2 - (n+1+\alpha)/p_2}}{(1 - \langle z, a_k \rangle)^{bq/p_2}}$$

Moreover, it is easy to see, using Theorem 1.4.1, that

$$\left\|g_{j}^{k}\right\|_{p_{1},\alpha,X}^{p_{1}} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\|x_{j}^{k}\right\|_{X}^{p_{1}} \frac{(1-\left|a_{k}\right|^{2})^{bq-(n+1+\alpha)}}{\left|1-\langle z,a_{k}\rangle\right|^{bq}} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \lesssim \left\|x_{j}^{k}\right\|_{X}^{p_{1}},$$

which imply that $\|g_j^k\|_{p_1,\alpha,X} \lesssim \|x_j^k\|_X < \infty$ and $g_j^k \in A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Similarly, we can see that $\|h_j^k\|_{p_2,\alpha,Y} \lesssim \|y_j^k\|_Y < \infty$ and $h_j^k \in A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$. This would give us that $f \in A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ and we finally obtain the inclusion

$$A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y) \subset A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, Y).$$

Now, in order to have the corresponding estimate for the norms, we will show that, for any bounded linear functional F on the space $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$, there is a unique function $\varphi_F \in \left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*$ with $\|\varphi_F\|_{\left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*} \lesssim \|F\|$ such that $F(f) = \langle f, \varphi_F \rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y}$, for any $f \in A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$. This would give

$$\begin{aligned} \|f\|_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\widehat{\boxdot}A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)} &= \sup_{\|F\|=1} |F(f)| \\ &\leq \sup_{\|F\|=1} \|\varphi_F\|_{\left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X\widehat{\boxdot}Y)\right)^*} \|f\|_{q,\alpha,X\widehat{\boxdot}Y} \lesssim \|f\|_{q,\alpha,X\widehat{\boxdot}Y} .\end{aligned}$$

Thus, suppose $F \in (A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y))^*$ with norm ||F||. Fix $g \in A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. Define

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Lambda_g \colon & A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y) & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{C} \\ & h & \longmapsto & F(g \boxdot h). \end{array}$$

Then, we have that

$$|\Lambda_g(h)| = |F(g \boxdot h)| \le ||F|| \, ||g||_{p_1,\alpha,X} \, ||h||_{p_2,\alpha,Y}, \qquad h \in A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y),$$

which imply that Λ_g is lineal and bounded with norm $\|\Lambda_g\| \leq \|F\| \|g\|_{p_1,\alpha,X}$. Thus, by duality of vector-valued Bergman spaces, see Theorem 2.2.4, there exists an unique $\varphi_g \in A^{p'_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$ such that $\Lambda_g(h) = \langle h, \varphi_g \rangle_{\alpha,Y}$, for any $h \in A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$, where p'_2 is the conjugate exponent of p_2 . Then, define $\varphi = \varphi_F \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$ as

$$\varphi(z)\left(x \boxdot y\right) := \varphi_{g_x}(z)\left(y\right) = \langle y, \varphi_{g_x}(z) \rangle_Y, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n, \tag{5.1.2}$$

for any $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$, where $g_x(z) := x$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Therefore, if we take any vector-valued polynomial $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$ we have that there exist $\{g_k\}_k \subset \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\{h_k\}_k \subset \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ such that $f = \sum_k g_k \boxdot h_k$ and, moreover, using the relation (5.1.2), we obtain

$$\langle f, \varphi \rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} = \sum_{k} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \langle (g_{k} \boxdot h_{k})(z), \varphi(z) \rangle_{X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)$$

$$= \sum_{k} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \langle h_{k}(z), \varphi_{g_{k}}(z) \rangle_{Y} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) = \sum_{k} \langle h_{k}, \varphi_{g_{k}} \rangle_{\alpha, Y}$$

$$= \sum_{k} \Lambda_{g_{k}}(h_{k}) = \sum_{k} F(g_{k} \boxdot h_{k}) = F(f).$$

Now, for polynomials $g \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $h \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ we have

$$|B_{\varphi}(g,h)| = \left| \langle g \boxdot h, \varphi \rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} \right| = |F(g \boxdot h)|$$

$$\leq ||F|| ||g \boxdot h||_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)}$$

$$\leq ||F|| ||g||_{p_1, \alpha, X} ||h||_{p_2, \alpha, Y},$$

which shows that B_{φ} is bounded on $A_{\alpha}^{p_1}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A_{\alpha}^{p_2}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ with $||B_{\varphi}|| \leq ||F||$, using the density of polynomials in Lemma 2.1.4. By hypothesis, we know that $\varphi \in \left(A_{\alpha}^q(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*$ with $||\varphi||_{\left(A_{\alpha}^q(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*} \lesssim ||B_{\varphi}|| \leq ||F||$. Hence $\Lambda(f) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y}$ defines a bounded linear form on $A_{\alpha}^q(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$ and coincides with Fon polynomials. By density again (see Lemma 2.1.4) we have that $F(f) = \Lambda(f)$, for every $f \in A_{\alpha}^q(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)$, and the proof is complete. \Box

It is remarkable to note that if $1/q = 1/p_1 + 1/p_2$ the inclusion

$$A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \stackrel{\frown}{\boxdot} A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y) \subset A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \stackrel{\frown}{\boxdot} Y),$$

with the estimate $||f||_{q,\alpha,X\widehat{\Box}Y} \lesssim ||f||_{A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,X)\widehat{\Box}A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n,Y)}$, is a direct consequence of Minkowski and Hölder inequalities, then it is true whether the other equivalence is true or not.

Now, we can see the relation of the small Hankel operator and the Hankel forms. We fix $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$ and we define the holomorphic operator $T_{\varphi} \colon \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*)$ by

$$T_{\varphi}(z)(\overline{x}) = M_x^*(\varphi(z)), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n, x \in X, \tag{5.1.3}$$

where $M_x: Y \to X \widehat{\boxdot} Y$ is the multiplication operator $M_x(y) = x \boxdot y$, for $y \in Y$. Thus $M_x^*: (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^* \to Y^*$ and then we have

$$\langle y, T_{\varphi}(z)(\overline{x}) \rangle_{Y} = \langle y, M_{x}^{*}(\varphi(z)) \rangle_{Y}$$

= $\langle M_{x}(y), \varphi(z) \rangle_{X \widehat{\Box} Y} = \langle x \boxdot y, \varphi(z) \rangle_{X \widehat{\Box} Y},$ (5.1.4)

for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n, x \in X$ and $y \in Y$. Then, if $T_{\varphi} \in A^r_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*))$, for some $1 < r < \infty$, by Lemma 4.1.1 and (5.1.4), we have

$$\left\langle g, h_{T_{\varphi}} f \right\rangle_{\alpha, Y} = \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\langle g(z), T_{\varphi}(z) \overline{f(z)} \right\rangle_{Y} dv_{\alpha}(z)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\langle f(z) \boxdot g(z), \varphi(z) \right\rangle_{X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} dv_{\alpha}(z)$$

$$= \left\langle f \boxdot g, \varphi \right\rangle_{\alpha, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} = B_{\varphi}(f, g),$$
(5.1.5)

for any $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $g \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$. Then, it is clear the relation between the operators B_{φ} and $h_{T_{\varphi}}$. The Hankel form B_{φ} is bounded on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ if and only if $h_{T_{\varphi}} \colon A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^{p'_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$ is bounded (with equivalent norms), where p'_2 is the conjugate exponent of p_2 . Moreover, the symbols of these operators T_{φ} and φ have also a relation, they have similar growth in the vector-valued setting.

Proposition 5.1.2. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$ and $T_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*))$ defined in (5.1.3). Then:

- (1) $\|\varphi(z)\|_{(X\widehat{\square} Y)^*} \simeq \|T_{\varphi}(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)}$, for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$;
- (2) For $\alpha > -1$ and $p \ge 1$, one has $\varphi \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$ if and only if $T_{\varphi} \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*));$
- (3) $\varphi \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$ if and only if $T_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*)).$

Proof. Fix $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Then, by (5.1.4), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{\varphi}(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)} &= \sup_{\substack{\|\overline{x}\|_{\overline{X}}=1,\\\|y\|_{Y}=1}} \left| \langle y, T_{\varphi}(z)(\overline{x}) \rangle_{Y} \right| \\ &= \sup_{\substack{\|x\|_{X}=1,\\\|y\|_{Y}=1}} \left| \langle x \boxdot y, \varphi(z) \rangle_{X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} \right| \le \|\varphi(z)\|_{(X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*} \,. \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, by duality, we have that

$$\left\|\varphi(z)\right\|_{(X\widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*} = \sup_{\left\|\lambda\right\|_{X\widehat{\boxdot} Y}=1} \left|\langle\lambda,\varphi(z)\rangle_{X\widehat{\boxdot} Y}\right|.$$

We also know that if $\lambda \in X \ \widehat{\boxdot} Y$, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist sequences $\{x_k\}_k \subset X$ and $\{y_k\}_k \subset Y$ such that $\lambda = \sum_k x_k \boxdot y_k$ and, moreover,

$$\sum_{k} \|x_k\|_X \|y_k\|_Y \le \|\lambda\|_{X \widehat{\boxdot} Y} + \varepsilon.$$

Therefore, by (5.1.4), we get

$$\begin{split} \|\varphi(z)\|_{(X\widehat{\square} Y)^*} &\leq \sup_{\|\lambda\|_X\widehat{\square} Y^{=1}} \sum_k |\langle x_k \boxdot y_k, \varphi(z) \rangle_{X\widehat{\square} Y}| \\ &= \sup_{\|\lambda\|_X\widehat{\square} Y^{=1}} \sum_k |\langle y_k, T_{\varphi}(z)(\overline{x_k}) \rangle_Y| \\ &= \sup_{\|\lambda\|_X\widehat{\square} Y^{=1}} \sum_k \|x_k\|_X \|y_k\|_Y \left| \left\langle \frac{y_k}{\|y_k\|_Y}, T_{\varphi}(z) \left(\frac{\overline{x_k}}{\|\overline{x_k}\|_{\overline{X}}} \right) \right\rangle_Y \right| \\ &\leq (1+\varepsilon) \|T_{\varphi}(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)} \,. \end{split}$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ was arbitrary this proves (1). The statement (2) is a direct consequence of (1). Indeed, by (1), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi\|_{p,\alpha,(X\widehat{\boxdot}Y)^*}^p &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|\varphi(z)\|_{(X\widehat{\boxdot}Y)^*}^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &\simeq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|T_\varphi(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)}^p \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) = \|T_\varphi\|_{p,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)}^p \,, \end{aligned}$$

which implies (2). The statement (3) is more involved. First of all, by Lemma 3.1.4 and (2) we can suppose that $\varphi \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$ and $T_{\varphi} \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*))$, for some $\alpha > -1$. Now, let t > 0, by (1), we have

$$\left\| R^{\alpha,t}\varphi(z) \right\|_{(X \subseteq Y)^*} \simeq \left\| T_{R^{\alpha,t}\varphi}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Take $x \in X$, $y \in Y$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Then, by (5.1.4) and Proposition 2.1.3, we get

$$\langle y, T_{R^{\alpha,t}\varphi}(z)(\overline{x}) \rangle_{Y} = \langle M_{x}(y), R^{\alpha,t}\varphi(z) \rangle_{X\widehat{\boxdot}Y}$$

$$= \left\langle M_{x}(y), \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\varphi(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \right\rangle_{X\widehat{\boxdot}Y}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\langle M_{x}(y), \varphi(w) \rangle_{X\widehat{\boxdot}Y}}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\langle y, T_{\varphi}(w)(\overline{x}) \rangle_{Y}}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)$$

$$= \left\langle y, \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{T_{\varphi}(w) \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+t}} \right)(\overline{x}) \right\rangle_{Y}$$

$$= \langle y, R^{\alpha,t}T_{\varphi}(z)(\overline{x}) \rangle_{Y}.$$

Since $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$ are arbitrary we obtain

$$\|T_{R^{\alpha,t}\varphi}(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)} = \|R^{\alpha,t}T_{\varphi}(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y^*)}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Therefore, by Theorem 3.1.3 this implies (3) and we are done.

Then, as a conclusion, we can deduce the following result of the characterization of the Hankel form B_{φ} .

Theorem 5.1.3. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$. Suppose $1 \leq q < \infty$ and $1 < p_1, p_2 < \infty$ satisfying (5.1.1). We further suppose that Y^* has finite cotype if q > 1. Then B_{φ} is bounded on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ if and only if $\varphi \in \left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*$. Moreover, $\|B_{\varphi}\| \simeq \|\varphi\|_{\left(A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)\right)^*}$.

Proof. By (5.1.5), the Hankel form B_{φ} is bounded on $A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \times A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ if and only if $h_{T_{\varphi}} \colon A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^{p'_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$ is bounded (with equivalent norms), where p'_2 is the conjugate exponent of p_2 .

If q > 1, condition (5.1.1) imply that $1 < p'_2 < p_1 < \infty$ and $1/q' = 1/p'_2 - 1/p_1$, where q' is the conjugate exponent of q. Then, using Theorem 4.3.3 and the hypothesis, we have that $h_{T_{\varphi}} \colon A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^{p'_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$ is bounded if and only if $T_{\varphi} \in A^{q'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*))$ with equivalent norms. By Proposition 5.1.2 (2), $T_{\varphi} \in A^{q'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*))$ if and only if $\varphi \in A^{q'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, (X \widehat{\boxdot} Y)^*)$ (with equivalent norms) and the duality of vector-valued Bergman spaces in Theorem 2.2.4 gives the result.

Similarly, if q = 1, condition (5.1.1) imply that $p'_2 = p_1$. Then, using Theorem 4.2.1, we obtain that $h_{T_{\varphi}} \colon A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^{p'_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y^*)$ is bounded if and only if $T_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y^*))$ with equivalent norms. Finally, by Proposition 5.1.2 (3) and the duality in Theorem 3.1.6 finish the proof. \Box

Finally, we can prove one of the main results of this chapter, the weak factorization of vector-valued Bergman spaces.

Theorem 5.1.4. Suppose X, Y two Banach spaces where Y^* has finite cotype. Let $1 < q < \infty$ and $\alpha > -1$. Then

$$A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y) = A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, Y),$$

(with equivalent norms) for any $p_1, p_2 > 1$ satisfying (5.1.1).

Proof. Follows directly by Proposition 5.1.1 and Theorem 5.1.3.

We have also the case q = 1 that does not have any restriction on the Banach spaces.

Theorem 5.1.5. Suppose X, Y two Banach spaces and let $\alpha > -1$. Then

$$A^{1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X \widehat{\boxdot} Y) = A^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, X) \widehat{\boxdot} A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, Y),$$

for any 1 , where p' is the conjugate exponent of p.

Proof. Follows directly by Proposition 5.1.1 and Theorem 5.1.3.

5.2 Applications

In this section we are going to introduce different applications of the weak factorization of the vector-valued Bergman spaces. First of all, let $S^t = S^t(H)$ be the *t*-Schatten class of operators acting on some Hilbert space H. The first application is a generalization of a Sarason's theorem with operator-valued Bergman spaces. Sarason in [66, Theorem 4] showed that $H^1(\mathbb{D}, S^1) = H^2(\mathbb{D}, S^2)H^2(\mathbb{D}, S^2)$, where $H^p(\mathbb{D}, X)$ are the vector-valued Hardy spaces. Constantin in [28, Theorem 2.1] proved a result of Sarason type on Bergman spaces; a weak factorization of operator-valued Bergman spaces. Namely, the theorem says the following.

Theorem 5.2.1 ([28, Theorem 2.1]). Let $t \ge 1, t_1, t_2, p > 1$ such that

$$\frac{1}{t_1} + \frac{1}{t_2} = \frac{1}{t},\tag{5.2.1}$$

then we have that

 $A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, \mathcal{S}^t) = A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, \mathcal{S}^{t_1}) \odot A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, \mathcal{S}^{t_2}),$

(with equivalent norms) where p' is the conjugate exponent of p.

Taking into account that for $t \ge 1$ and $t_1, t_2 > 1$ satisfying (5.2.1) we have that

$$\mathcal{S}^t = \mathcal{S}^{t_1} \cdot \mathcal{S}^{t_2}$$

we can generalize it, by using Theorem 5.1.5, in order to get the same result for \mathbb{B}_n . Moreover, if we use Theorem 5.1.4 instead, we get a more generalization of this result.

Theorem 5.2.2. Let $\alpha > -1$ and $q, p_1, p_2 > 1$ satisfying (5.1.1). Let also $t \ge 1$ and $t_1, t_2 > 1$ satisfying (5.2.1). Then, we have that

$$A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, \mathcal{S}^{t}) = A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, \mathcal{S}^{t_{1}}) \odot A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_{n}, \mathcal{S}^{t_{2}}),$$

with equivalent norms.

Proof. It is a direct application of Theorem 5.1.4 and we only need to prove that $(S^{t_1})^*$ or $(S^{t_2})^*$ has finite cotype. This is immedate since $(S^{t_1})^* = S^{t'_1}$ and $(S^{t_2})^* = S^{t'_2}$, where t'_1 and t'_2 are the conjugate exponents of t_1 and t_2 respectively. But we know that S^t have finite cotype, for any t > 1.

The other application appears also in [28, Theorem 4.1] which is a weak factorization of the scalar-valued Bergman spaces on the polydisc. The key for the proof is that we can identify $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^n)$ with the vector-valued Bergman space $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1}))$. Constantin proved the following theorem.

Theorem 5.2.3 ([28, Theorem 4.1]). Let $\alpha > -1$. We have

$$A^{1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) = A^{2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) \odot A^{2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n})$$

with equivalent norms.

Then, we can generalize it using Theorem 5.1.5 in the following way.

Theorem 5.2.4. Let $\alpha > -1$ and p > 1. We have

$$A^{1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) = A^{p}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) \odot A^{p'}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}),$$

with equivalent norms, where p' is the conjugate exponent of p.

Proof. We use Theorem 5.1.5 and the fact that $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^n) = A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1}))$.

We can even generalize further using Theorem 5.1.4.

Theorem 5.2.5. Let $\alpha > -1$ and $q, p_1, p_2 > 1$ satisfying condition (5.1.1). Then, we have

$$A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) = A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) \odot A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}),$$

with equivalent norms.

Proof. Notice that $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^n) = A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1}))$. We shall prove the theorem by induction over n. For n = 1 it is a direct application of Theorem 5.1.4 with $X = Y = \mathbb{C}$. Suppose the result holds for n - 1, that is,

$$A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1}) = A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1}) \odot A^{p_2}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1}), \qquad (5.2.2)$$

and we want to prove it for *n*. Since $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^n) = A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1}))$, we use the hypothesis of induction (5.2.2) to apply Theorem 5.1.4 and we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) &= A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^{q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1})) = A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1})) \odot A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}, A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n-1})) \\ &= A^{p_{1}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}) \odot A^{p_{2}}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^{n}), \end{aligned}$$

and we are done.

As a final example, taking $Y = \mathbb{C}$, we obtain the inclusion $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \subset A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \odot A^{p_2}_{\alpha}$, a result that we isolate next.

Theorem 5.2.6. Let X be a Banach space, $\alpha > -1$, and $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then any function $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ admits a decomposition $f = \sum_k f_k g_k$ with $\{f_k\}_k \subset A^{p_1}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $\{g_k\}_k \subset A^{p_2}_{\alpha}$ for any $p_1, p_2 \geq 1$ satisfying $1/p = 1/p_1 + 1/p_2$. Moreover, one has the estimate

$$\sum_{k} \|f_{k}\|_{p_{1},\alpha,X} \|g_{k}\|_{p_{2},\alpha} \leq C \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X},$$

for some constant C > 0.

CHAPTER 6

Big Hankel Operators

Recall that the (big) Hankel operator with symbol φ between scalar-valued Bergman space A^2_{α} is defined as follows. Let φ be a bounded function on \mathbb{C} then

$$H_{\varphi}f := (I - P_{\alpha})(\varphi f), \qquad f \in A_{\alpha}^2.$$

Thanks to the integral representation of each $f \in A^2_{\alpha}$ and the integral form of P_{α} we can write it as

$$H_{\varphi}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(\varphi(z) - \varphi(w))f(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w).$$

It is well-known that $H_{\varphi} = 0$ when φ is analytic then we are going to study Hankel operators with anti-analytic symbols. In this chapter we always consider X and Y be two complex Banach spaces. In order to generalize this definition to vector-valued function $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ we first take an operator-valued symbol $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and then define the Hankel operator as

$$H_T f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(T(z) - T(w))\overline{f(w)}}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w), \qquad f \in A^2_\alpha(\mathbb{B}_n, X).$$
(6.0.1)

It is clear that H_T is well-defined in the set of polynomials $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ if $T \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Indeed, for fixed $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $f \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, by Proposition 2.1.2, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|H_T f(z)\|_Y &\leq \left\| T(z)\overline{f(z)} \right\|_Y + \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\left\| T(w)\overline{f(w)} \right\|_Y}{\left| 1 - \langle z, w \rangle \right|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \\ &\leq \left\| T(z)\overline{f(z)} \right\|_Y + C \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|T(w)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w), \end{aligned}$$

so if $T \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ then H_T is densely defined on the set of polynomials, see also Lemma 2.1.4.

Similarly, it is easy to see that this definition matches with the scalar-valued, that is, $H_T f = (I - \overline{P_\alpha})(T\overline{f})$. Indeed, for $f \in A^1_\alpha(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, using Lemma 1.2.1 and the integral representation Proposition 2.1.2, we have

$$H_T f(z) = T(z)\overline{f(z)} - \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(w)f(w)}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) = (I - \overline{P_\alpha})(T(z)\overline{f(z)}), \quad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

In this chapter we are going to study the boundedness of these generalization of (big) Hankel operators H_T between vector-valued Bergman spaces in terms of its symbol T. Before that we need some preliminary results that are needed later.

6.1 Preliminary Results

We begin with a well-known result for the scalar case. Let $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$. Recall that the vector-valued *p*-normalized reproducing kernels on $x \in X \setminus \{0\}$, for $0 , is defined as <math>k_{p,w}^x = x/||x||_X k_{p,w}$, where

$$k_{p,w}(z) = \frac{K_w(z)}{\|K_w\|_{p,\alpha}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Remember also that $K_w^x = xK_w$, where K_w is the scalar-valued Bergman reproducing kernel (see Section 2.1).

Lemma 6.1.1. Let $1 , <math>x \in X$ and $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$. If $T \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ then

$$H_T k_{p,w}^x(z) = (T(z) - T(w))(\overline{k_{p,w}^x(z)}),$$

for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. Since $K_z^x \in A_\alpha^1(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $T\overline{K_z^x} \in A_\alpha^1(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ for any $x \in X$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ (because $T \in A_\alpha^1(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and K_z^x is bounded), using the integral representation Proposition 2.1.2 we have that

$$H_T K_{\zeta}^x(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(T(z) - T(w))(K_{\zeta}^x(w))}{(1 - \langle w, z \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{(T(z) - T(w))(K_z^{\overline{x}}(w))}{(1 - \langle \zeta, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)$$
$$= (T(z) - T(\zeta))(K_z^{\overline{x}}(\zeta)) = (T(z) - T(\zeta))(\overline{K_{\zeta}^x(z)})$$

Multiplying both sides by $\left\|K_{\zeta}^{x}\right\|_{p,\alpha}^{-1}$ we get the result.

For values $1 < p, q < \infty$ and an operator-valued $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$, we define the integrals

$$I_{p,q}T(z) := \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|T(w) - T(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}^q \frac{(1 - |z|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)q(1-\frac{1}{p})}}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{(n+1+\alpha)q}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z)$$
$$\simeq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|T(w) - T(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}^q \, |k_{p,z}(w)|^q \, \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w).$$

Lemma 6.1.2. Let $1 < p, q < \infty$ and $\alpha > -1$. If $T \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ then

$$(1-|z|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p}\right)} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}T(z)\right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^n} \lesssim I_{p,q}T(z)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

Proof. Take $0 < \delta < 1$. Then the dilatations, $T_{\delta}(z) = T(\delta z)$ for every $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, $T_{\delta} \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and so, by Proposition 2.1.2, we have

$$T(\delta z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(\delta w) \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(w)}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n.$$

Changing variables $w \mapsto w/\delta$ and replacing δz by z we obtain

$$T(z) = \delta^2 \int_{\delta \mathbb{B}_n} \frac{T(w) \, \mathrm{d} v_\alpha(w)}{(\delta^2 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha}}$$

Since $\delta < 1$ is arbitrary we take $\delta = \tanh r < 1$ so that $\delta \mathbb{B}_n = D(0, r)$. Moreover, let $1 \leq k \leq n$, differentiating under the integral sign we get that

$$\partial_k T(z) = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} T(z) = \delta^2 (n+1+\alpha) \int_{D(0,r)} \frac{T(w)\overline{w_k} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)}{(\delta^2 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{n+1+\alpha+1}},$$

and substituting in z = 0 we have that

$$\partial_k T(0) = C_r \int_{D(0,r)} T(w) \overline{w_k} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w)$$

where $C_r = \frac{(n+1+\alpha)}{\delta^{2(n+1+\alpha)}}$. With no confusion, we take a fixed $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and we replace T by $T \circ \varphi_z - T(z)$ then we get

$$\widetilde{\nabla}T(z) = C_r \int_{D(0,r)} (T \circ \varphi_z(w) - T(z))\overline{w} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Changing variables according to Proposition 1.4.3 we obtain that

$$\widetilde{\nabla}T(z) = C_r \int_{D(z,r)} (T(w) - T(z)) \frac{\overline{\varphi_z(w)} (1 - |z|^2)^{n+1+\alpha}}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{2(n+1+\alpha)}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

Now, if q' is the conjugate exponent of q then by Proposition 1.2.2, Hölder's inequality and the integral estimate in Theorem 1.4.1 we have that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} T(z) \right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^{n}} &\lesssim \int_{D(z,r)} \| T(w) - T(z) \|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \, \frac{(1 - |z|^{2})^{n+1+\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{2(n+1+\alpha)}} \\ &\leq (I_{p,q}T(z))^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1 - |z|^{2})^{(n+1+\alpha)q'/p}}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{(n+1+\alpha)q'}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w) \right)^{\frac{1}{q'}} \\ &\lesssim (I_{p,q}T(z))^{\frac{1}{q}} (1 - |z|^{2})^{(n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)}. \end{split}$$

This proves this lemma.

Using previous results we obtain the following.

Lemma 6.1.3. Let $1 < p, q < \infty$. If H_T is well-defined (so that $T \in A^1_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and bounded from $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to $L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ with norm $||H_T||$ then

$$(1-|z|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p}\right)} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}T(z)\right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^n} \lesssim \|H_T\|,$$

for any $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. There exists $\overline{x} \in \overline{\mathbb{B}(\overline{X})}$ such that

$$I_{p,q}T(z) \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\| (T(w) - T(z))\overline{k_{p,z}^x(w)} \right\|_Y^q dv_\alpha(w)$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\| H_T k_{p,z}^x(w) \right\|_Y^q dv_\alpha(w)$$

=
$$\left\| H_T k_{p,w}^x \right\|_{q,\alpha,Y}^q \leq \left\| H_T \right\|^q \left\| k_{p,w}^x \right\|_{p,\alpha,X}^q \lesssim \left\| H_T \right\|^q.$$

using Lemma 6.1.1 in the first equality. The rest follows from Lemma 6.1.2.

This previous lemma tell us that if H_T is bounded, automatically the function $(1 - |\cdot|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla}T \right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^n}$ is in L^{∞} . We end this section with a series of results needed later. The following is taken from [60, Lemma 9].

Lemma 6.1.4. Let X be a Banach space. Then, for $1 , <math>\alpha > -1$ and $n + 1 + \alpha < b$, we have that

$$\int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|f(z) - f(w)\|_X^p}{|1 - \langle w, z \rangle|^b} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} f(z) \right\|_{X^n}^p \frac{\,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z)}{|1 - \langle w, z \rangle|^b}$$

for every $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$.

Proof. The proof works exactly as the proof of [60, Lemma 9] but we need to use Theorem 3.2.6 instead of the scalar case.

For a holomorphic vector-valued function $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and a complex direction u (a unit vector in \mathbb{C}^n) we define the complex directional derivative

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(z) := \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \frac{f(z + \lambda u) - f(z)}{\lambda},$$

where $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$. A simple application of the chain rule gives

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} u_k \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_k}(z),$$

where $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$. More generally, for n > 1, $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n \setminus \{0\}$ we will write

$$\left\|\nabla_T f(z)\right\|_X := \sup_{u \in [z]^T, |u|=1} \left\|\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(z)\right\|_X,$$

and call it the complex tangential gradient of f at z.

For $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$, we also define the following value

$$Q_f(z) := \sup_{\|x^*\|_{X^*}=1} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\left|\sum_{k=1}^n w_k \left\langle \partial_k f(z), x^* \right\rangle_X\right|}{\left\langle B(z)w, w \right\rangle^{1/2}},$$

where $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{0\}$ and B(z) is the Bergman matrix of \mathbb{B}_n well defined in [82, Section 1.5].

Theorem 6.1.5. Let n > 1 and $z \in \mathbb{B}_n \setminus \{0\}$, then

$$(1 - |z|^2)^{1/2} \|\nabla_T f(z)\|_X \le \left\|\widetilde{\nabla} f(z)\right\|_{X^n},$$

for every $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$.

Proof. We will prove, in fact, that we have that

$$(1 - |z|^2)^{1/2} \|\nabla_T f(z)\|_X \le Q_f(z) \le \left\|\widetilde{\nabla} f(z)\right\|_{X^n}$$

Notice that, using [82, Proposition 1.18], $(1 - |z|^2)^{-1}$ is an eigenvalue of B(z) with eigenspace $[z]^T$. Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} Q_f(z) &\geq \sup_{\|x^*\|=1} \sup_{w \in [z]^T} \frac{\left|\sum_{k=1}^n w_k \left\langle \partial_k f(z), x^* \right\rangle_X\right|}{\left\langle B(z)w, w \right\rangle^{1/2}} \\ &= (1 - |z|^2)^{1/2} \sup_{w \in [z]^T} \sup_{\|x^*\|=1} \left| \left\langle \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{w_k}{|w|} \partial_k f(z), x^* \right\rangle_X \right| \\ &= (1 - |z|^2)^{1/2} \sup_{w \in [z]^T} \left\| \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{w_k}{|w|} \partial_k f(z) \right\|_X = (1 - |z|^2)^{1/2} \|\nabla_T f(z)\|_X. \end{aligned}$$

On the other side, replacing w by $B^{-1/2}(z)w$ in the definition of $Q_f(z)$ (so that $w_k = \sum_{j=1}^n B_{k,j}^{-1/2}(z)w_j$) and using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have that

$$Q_{f}(z) = \sup_{\|x^{*}\|_{X^{*}}=1} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{C}^{n} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} B_{k,j}^{-1/2}(z) w_{j} \langle \partial_{k}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X} \right|}{|w|}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\|x^{*}\|_{X^{*}}=1} \sup_{w \in \mathbb{C}^{n} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} B_{k,j}^{-1/2}(z) \langle \partial_{k}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X} \right| |w_{j}|}{|w|}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\|x^{*}\|_{X^{*}}=1} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} B_{k,j}^{-1/2}(z) \langle \partial_{k}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X} \right|^{2} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$= \sup_{\|x^{*}\|_{X^{*}}=1} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{k,j}^{-1/2}(z) \overline{B_{i,j}^{-1/2}(z)} \langle \partial_{k}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X} \overline{\langle \partial_{i}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X}} \right)^{1/2}.$$

Recall that $\overline{B_{i,j}^{-1/2}(z)} = B_{j,i}^{-1/2}(z)$ and using [82, Proposition 1.18(b)] we have that

$$\sum_{j=1} B_{k,j}^{-1/2}(z) B_{j,i}^{-1/2}(z) = B_{k,i}^{-1}(z) = (1 - |z|^2) (\delta_{ki} - z_k \overline{z_i})$$

Therefore,

$$Q_{f}(z) \leq \sup_{\|x^{*}\|_{X^{*}}=1} (1 - |z|^{2})^{1/2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\delta_{ki} - z_{k}\overline{z_{i}}) \langle \partial_{k}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X} \overline{\langle \partial_{i}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X}} \right)^{1/2} \\ = (1 - |z|^{2})^{1/2} \sup_{\|x^{*}\|_{X^{*}}=1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} |\langle \partial_{k}f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X}|^{2} - |\langle Rf(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X}|^{2} \right)^{1/2}. \quad (6.1.1)$$

On the other hand, we have that

$$\left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^n}^2 = \sum_{j=1}^n \left\|\partial_j(f\circ\varphi_z)(0)\right\|_X^2 \ge \sum_{j=1}^n \left|\langle\partial_j(f\circ\varphi_z)(0), x^*\rangle_X\right|^2,$$

for any $x^* \in X^*$ with $||x^*||_{X^*} = 1$. Following the same proof and notations of Theorem 3.2.6 we obtain that $\sum_{j=1}^n |\langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0), x^* \rangle_X|^2$ is equal to

$$s_{z}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \langle \partial_{j} f(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X} \right| - \frac{s_{z} (s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})}{|z|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{j} + \frac{(s_{z} - s_{z}^{2})^{2}}{|z|^{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|z_{j}|^{2}}{|z|^{2}} \left| \langle Rf(z), x^{*} \rangle_{X} \right|^{2},$$

where, in this case, $\beta_j = \beta_j(z) = \langle \lambda_j, x^* \rangle_X \overline{\langle Rf(z), x^* \rangle_X} + \langle Rf(z), x^* \rangle_X \overline{\langle \lambda_j, x^* \rangle_X}$. Clearly (recall that $\lambda_j = z_j \partial_j f(z)$, so that $\sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j = Rf(z)$), we have that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_j = 2 \left| \langle Rf(z), x^* \rangle_X \right|^2$$

and, since $s_z = (1 - |z|^2)^{1/2}$,

$$-2\frac{s_z(s_z-s_z^2)}{|z|^2} + \frac{(s_z-s_z^2)^2}{|z|^2} = \frac{-s_z^2(1-s_z^2)}{|z|^2} = -s_z^2.$$

Therefore,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \left\langle \partial_j (f \circ \varphi_z)(0), x^* \right\rangle_X \right|^2 = s_z^2 \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \left\langle \partial_j f(z), x^* \right\rangle_X \right| - s_z^2 \left| \left\langle R f(z), x^* \right\rangle_X \right|^2,$$

which imply that

$$\begin{split} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\right\|_{X^n} &\geq \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \left|\langle\partial_j(f\circ\varphi_z)(0), x^*\rangle_X\right|^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &= s_z \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \left|\langle\partial_jf(z), x^*\rangle_X\right| - \left|\langle Rf(z), x^*\rangle_X\right|^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &= (1-|z|^2)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \left|\langle\partial_jf(z), x^*\rangle_X\right| - \left|\langle Rf(z), x^*\rangle_X\right|^2\right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Since $x^* \in X^*$ is arbitrary, where $||x^*||_{X^*} = 1$, we can apply supremums and we get the desired result using (6.1.1) and this theorem is completed.

The next one is [61, Theorem 2.8].

Theorem 6.1.6. Let n > 1 and $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. If $\|\nabla_T f(z)\|_X \to 0$ as $|z| \to 1^-$, then f is constant.

Proof. The proof is exactly as in the proof of [61, Theorem 2.8].

Corollary 6.1.7. Let n > 1 and $f \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$. If $(1 - |z|^2)^{-1/2} \|\widetilde{\nabla}f(z)\|_{X^n} \to 0$ as $|z| \to 1^-$, then f is constant.

Proof. It directly follows by Theorems 6.1.5 and 6.1.6.

In the next section we will see more characterization of bounded Hankel operators.

6.2 Bounded Hankel Operators

In this section we characterize the boundedness of the Hankel operator H_T in terms of its symbol T.

Theorem 6.2.1. Let 1 and <math>X, Y two Banach spaces. The Hankel operator $H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is a bounded linear operator if and only if

$$A_T := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{\gamma - 1} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} T(z) \right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))^n} < \infty,$$

where

$$\gamma = 1 + (n+1+\alpha)\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right).$$

Moreover, $||H_T|| \simeq A_T$.

Proof. Suppose first that $A_T < +\infty$. Let $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$, $z \in \mathbb{B}_n$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ that we will specify later. If q' is the conjugate exponent of q then, by Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\|H_T f(z)\|_Y \le \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|f(w)\|_X \|T(z) - T(w)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w) \le I_1(z)^{\frac{1}{q}} I_2(z)^{\frac{1}{q'}},$$

where

$$I_{1}(z) := \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\|f(w)\|_{X}^{q} (1 - |w|^{2})^{\varepsilon q}}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)$$

and

$$I_2(z) := \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|T(z) - T(w)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}^{q'} (1 - |w|^2)^{-\varepsilon q'}}{|1 - \langle z, w \rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}v_\alpha(w).$$

In one hand, by Lemma 6.1.4, the hypothesis and the integral estimate Theorem 1.4.1, we have that

$$I_{2}(z)^{\frac{1}{q'}} \lesssim \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla}T(w) \right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^{n}}^{q'} \frac{\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha-\varepsilon q'}(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \right)^{\frac{1}{q'}} \\ \leq A_{T} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{(1-|w|^{2})^{-q'(\gamma-1)} \,\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha-\varepsilon q'}(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \right)^{\frac{1}{q'}} \\ \lesssim A_{T}(1-|z|^{2})^{-\varepsilon-(\gamma-1)}.$$

On the other hand, when p < q using the norm estimate of Theorem 2.1.1, we obtain

$$I_{1}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\|f(w)\|_{X}^{p} \|f(w)\|_{X}^{q-p} (1-|w|^{2})^{\varepsilon_{q}}}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w)$$

$$\leq \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{q-p} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \frac{\|f(w)\|_{X}^{p} (1-|w|^{2})^{\varepsilon_{q}+q(\gamma-1)}}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(w).$$

If q = p then $\gamma = 1$, and $I_1(z)$ equals the last expression. Therefore, by Tonelli's theorem and Theorem 1.4.1 again, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|H_T f\|_{q,\alpha,Y}^q &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|H_T f(z)\|_Y^q \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \leq \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} I_1(z) I_2(z)^{\frac{q}{q'}} \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \\ &\lesssim A_T^q \, \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{q-p} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\|f(w)\|_X^p \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+q(\varepsilon+\gamma-1)}(w)}{|1-\langle z,w\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha-q(\varepsilon+\gamma-1)}(z) \\ &= A_T^q \, \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{q-p} \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \|f(w)\|_X^p \int_{\mathbb{B}_n} \frac{\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha-q(\varepsilon+\gamma-1)}}{|1-\langle w,z\rangle|^{n+1+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha+q(\varepsilon+\gamma-1)}(w) \\ &\lesssim A_T^q \, \|f\|_{p,\alpha,X}^q \, .\end{aligned}$$

If we take $\varepsilon > 0$ fulfilling all the requirements needed in the applications of Theorem 1.4.1, that is,

$$1 - \gamma < \varepsilon < 1 - \gamma + \min\left(\frac{\alpha + 1}{q}, \frac{\alpha + 1}{q'}\right)$$

then we have proved that H_T is bounded on $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ with norm $||H_T|| \leq A_T < \infty$.

The other implication is a direct consequence of Lemma 6.1.3. Suppose that $H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is bounded with norm $||H_T||$. By Lemma 6.1.3, we have that

$$(1-|z|^2)^{\gamma-1} \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}T(z)\right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^n} \lesssim \|H_T\|.$$

which implies that $A_T \leq ||H_T|| < \infty$ and the proof of the theorem is complete. \Box

A direct consequence is the following result.

Corollary 6.2.2. Let 1 and <math>X, Y two Banach spaces. Let

$$\gamma := 1 + (n+1+\alpha) \left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right).$$

The Hankel operator $H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is a bounded linear operator if and only if

- (a) $T \in \mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y)), \text{ if } \gamma > 1/2. \text{ Moreover, } \|H_T\| \simeq \|T\|_{\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))}.$
- (b) T is constant, if $\gamma < 1/2$.
- (c) T fulfills the following condition

$$A_T := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{B}_n} (1 - |z|^2)^{-1/2} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} T(z) \right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))^n} < \infty,$$

if
$$\gamma = 1/2$$
. Moreover, $||H_T|| \simeq A_T$

Proof. It follows directly by Theorems 6.2.1 and 3.2.8 and Corollary 6.1.7. \Box

The following theorems is for the remaining cases $1 < q < p < \infty$.

Theorem 6.2.3. Let $1 < q < p < \infty$. The Hankel operator $H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is a bounded linear operator if and only if $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ where

$$\frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}.$$

Moreover, $||H_T|| \simeq ||T||_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}$.

Proof. Let $f \in A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ and suppose that $T \in A^t_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$. Then

$$H_T f = T\overline{f} - \overline{P_\alpha}(T\overline{f}).$$

So, the boundedness of the projection P_{α} (which imply the boundedness of $\overline{P_{\alpha}}$), see Theorem 2.2.2, shows that

$$\begin{aligned} \|H_T f\|_{q,\alpha,Y} &\leq \left\|T\overline{f}\right\|_{q,\alpha,Y} + \left\|\overline{P_\alpha}(T\overline{f})\right\|_{q,\alpha,Y} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \left\|\overline{P_\alpha}\right\|\right) \left\|T\overline{f}\right\|_{q,\alpha,Y}. \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, by Hölder's inequality with (p/q, p/(p-q)), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| T\overline{f} \right\|_{q,\alpha,Y}^{q} &= \int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\| T(z)\overline{f(z)} \right\|_{Y}^{q} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\| f(z) \right\|_{X}^{p} \mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}(z) \right)^{\frac{q}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{B}_{n}} \left\| T(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}^{t} \right)^{\frac{p-q}{p}} \\ &= \left\| f \right\|_{p,\alpha,X}^{q} \left\| T \right\|_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}^{q}. \end{aligned}$$
It implies then that $H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is bounded and $||H_T|| \leq ||T||_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}$. Conversely, we suppose that $H_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is bounded with norm

 $||H_T||$. Following the same argument as Theorem 4.3.3 we get that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{D(a_k,r)} \left\| H_T(k_{p,a_k}^{\lambda_k})(z) \right\|_Y^q \, \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \lesssim \left\| H_T \right\|^q \left\| \{\lambda_k\}_k \right\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q,$$

where $\{\lambda_k\}_k \subset \ell^p(X)$. By Lemma 6.1.1 we have

$$H_T(k_{p,a_k}^{\lambda_k})(z) = (T(z) - T(a_k))(\overline{k_{p,a_k}^{\lambda_k}})(z), \qquad z \in \mathbb{B}_n,$$

so, we obtain that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{D(a_k,r)} \left\| (T(z) - T(a_k))(\overline{k_{p,a_k}^{\lambda_k}})(z) \right\|_Y^q \mathrm{d}v_\alpha(z) \lesssim \|H_T\|^q \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q.$$

Arguing as in the proof of Lemma 6.1.2 we have that

$$\left\|\widetilde{\nabla}T(w)(\overline{x})\right\|_{Y^n} \lesssim I^x_{p,q} T(w)^{1/q} (1-|w|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)(1/p-1/q)},$$

for any $x \in X$ and $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$, where

$$I_{p,q}^{x}T(w) = \int_{D(w,r)} \left\| (T(z) - T(w)(\overline{k_{p,w}^{x}})(z) \right\|_{Y}^{q} dv_{\alpha}(z).$$

Therefore,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)(1-q/p)} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} T(a_k)(\overline{\lambda_k}) \right\|_{Y^n}^q \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} I_{p,q}^{\lambda_k} T(a_k) \\ \lesssim \|H_T\|^q \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q$$

Writing it as

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left\| (1 - |a_k|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)(1/q-1/p)} \widetilde{\nabla} T(a_k)(\overline{\lambda_k}) \right\|_{Y^n}^q \lesssim \|H_T\|^q \|\{\lambda_k\}_k\|_{\ell^p(X)}^q$$

and since the sequence $\{\overline{\lambda_k}\}_k \subset \ell^p(\overline{X})$ is arbitrary, Lemma 4.3.2 implies that

$$\{(1-|a_k|^2)^{(n+1+\alpha)(1/q-1/p)}\widetilde{\nabla}T(a_k)\}_k \subset \ell^t((\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^n)$$

and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{n+1+\alpha} \left\| \widetilde{\nabla} T(a_k) \right\|_{(\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y))^n}^t \lesssim \|H_T\|^t.$$

Theorem 3.2.6 says that

$$(1 - |a_k|^2) \|RT(a_k)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \le \left\|\widetilde{\nabla}T(a_k)\right\|$$

so, we obtain

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - |a_k|^2)^{n+1+\alpha+t} \|RT(a_k)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)}^t \lesssim \|H_T\|^t.$$

Applying Lemma 4.3.1 (with t = 0 in the lemma, do not confuse with the t of this theorem) we have that $RT \in A_{\alpha+t}^t(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and $\|RT\|_{t,\alpha+t,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \lesssim \|H_T\|$. Therefore, by [82, Theorem 2.16] we get $T \in A_{\alpha}^t(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{L}(\overline{X}, Y))$ and $\|T\|_{t,\alpha,\mathcal{L}(\overline{X},Y)} \lesssim \|H_T\|$. Note that the proof of [82, Theorem 2.16] for vector-valued case is the same as the scalar-valued case and with this the theorem is complete. \Box

CHAPTER 7 Open Questions and Future Research

In our opinion, we think that we have done a satisfactory work in order to get a better understanding of the function properties of vector-valued Bergman spaces and the action of Hankel operators acting on them. We hope that this work is going to attract many other researchers to this area, and expect that the study of vector-valued Bergman spaces is going to experience a period of intensive research in the next years. However, we have not been able to attach all the problems we had in mind, and in this last chapter we discuss some open problems we left, as well as some other problems we think it can be interesting to look on the future.

7.1 Compact Hankel operators

After our study on bounded small and big Hankel operators acting on vector-valued Bergman space, the next step is to look for a characterization of the compactness. According to the results for the scalar case that can be found in Zhu's book [82, Chapter 8], and the result obtained by O. Constantin [28] in the case of dimension n = 1, X = H being a Hilbert space, and q = p = 2, one may expect that, for an holomorphic operator-valued function $T: \mathbb{B}_n \to \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$, the small Hankel operator $h_T: A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X) \to A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ is going to be compact if and only if T belongs to the little Bloch space $\mathcal{B}_0(\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{K}(X, Y))$. Here, $\mathcal{K}(X, Y)$ denotes the space of all compact operators from X to Y, and for a Banach space Z, the little Bloch space $\mathcal{B}_0(\mathbb{B}_n, Z)$ is the subspace of $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{B}_n, Z)$ consisting of those Z-valued Bloch functions f with

$$\lim_{|z| \to 1^{-}} (1 - |z|^2) \|\nabla f(z)\|_{Z^n} = 0.$$

Similar results are expected to hold for the compactness of h_T when $q \neq p$. It is also interesting to complete the results obtained in Chapter 6 by describing the compactness of the big Hankel operator H_T from $A^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ to $L^q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, Y)$ for Banach spaces X and Y. Results on compactness for the big Hankel operator on the scalar case can be found, for example, in Zhu's book [82, Chapter 8], [81] and [61].

7.2 Schatten class Hankel operators

It is now a classical result of Arazy, Fisher and Peetre (see [6]) that the big Hankel operator with conjugate analytic symbol $H_{\bar{f}}$ acting on the scalar Bergman space A_{α}^2 , is in the Schatten ideal S_p if and only if f belongs to the analytic Besov space B_p , 1 (the case of dimension <math>n > 1 can be found in [5]). In our case, it turns out that, when H is a Hilbert space, the vector-valued Bergman space $A_{\alpha}^2(\mathbb{B}_n, H)$ is also a Hilbert space, and it makes sense to study when the big Hankel operator H_T with an holomorphic operator-valued symbol T, acting on $A_{\alpha}^2(\mathbb{B}_n, H)$, belongs to the Schatten class S_p . In view of the results for the scalar case, it seems clear that vector-valued analytic Besov spaces are going to enter in action, so that apart from dominating the necessary techniques on Schatten class operators, a further study of analytic vector-valued Besov spaces is necessary. One can also look on the problem of describing the membership in S_p of the small Hankel operator h_T acting on $A_{\alpha}^2(\mathbb{B}_n, H)$.

7.3 Weak Factorization of Hardy Spaces in the Bessel Setting

It is worth mention that the theory of Hardy spaces has been studied and developed extensively in harmonic analysis and more precisely the theory of Hardy spaces on the Euclidean setting has been shown to have many applications, see [26, 38, 39, 70] for an instance of general references.

The real-variable Hardy space theory on *n*-dimensional Euclidean space $\mathbb{R}^n, n \geq 1$, plays an important role in harmonic analysis and has been systematically developed [26, 39]. There are many equivalent definitions of the Hardy spaces $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, 0 . It is well-known that when <math>p > 1, the actual definition of $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ makes it equivalent to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, but when $p \in (0, 1]$, these spaces are much better suited to ask questions about harmonic analysis than are the $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ spaces, see [41, 70] for an account of all of this.

It is well known that the Hardy spaces of 1-dimensional Euclidean space $H^p(\mathbb{R})$ admits a strong factorization. As we already said, in [40], Gowda discovered that this strong factorization is no longer to obtain for superior dimensions $n \geq 2$. In the case of the real-variable Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, Coifman, Rochberg and Weiss [25] provided a factorization that works in studying function theory and operator theory of $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ which was called the weak factorization. This weak factorization for $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ consist of the following: every $f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ can be written as

$$f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (g_{j}^{i} R_{i} h_{j}^{i} + h_{j}^{i} R_{i} g_{j}^{i}),$$

where $\{g_i^i\}_{i,j}, \{h_j^i\}_{i,j} \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and R_i are the Riesz transforms on \mathbb{R}^n and

$$\|f\|_{H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \simeq \inf \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|g_{j}^{i}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|g_{j}^{i}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \right\},\$$

with the infimum taken over all possible representations of f as above. Later, Uchiyama [75] found an algorithmic way to generalize this weak factorization for Hardy spaces $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with values of $p \in (0, 1]$, but close to 1. On the other side, it is also well-known, as pointed in [25], that this weak factorization is closely related with the boundedness of some commutator on L^p spaces. Since then, many authors generalized the boundedness of this commutator between different L^p spaces [45,48, 58,59].

The theory of the classical Hardy space $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is intimately connected to the Laplacian Δ . Changing the differential operator introduces new challenge and directions to explore. In 1965, Muckenhoupt and Stein in [54] introduced the notion of conjugacy associated with this Bessel operator Δ_{λ} , $\lambda > 0$, which is defined by

$$\Delta_{\lambda}f(x) := -\frac{d^2}{dx^2}f(x) - \frac{2\lambda}{x}\frac{d}{dx}f(x), \qquad x > 0.$$

They developed a theory in the setting of Δ_{λ} which parallels the classical one associated to Δ . Results on $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dm_{\lambda})$ -boundedness of conjugate functions and fractional integrals associated with Δ_{λ} were obtained, where $p \in (1, \infty)$, $\mathbb{R}_{+} := (0, \infty)$ and $dm_{\lambda}(x) := x^{2\lambda} dx$. Since then, many problems based on the Bessel context were studied; see, for example, [16, 18, 71, 76, 79]. In particular, the properties and L^{p} boundedness (1 of Riesz transforms

$$R_{\Delta_{\lambda}}f := \partial_x(\Delta_{\lambda})^{-1/2}f$$

related to Δ_{λ} have been studied in [54, 76]. The related Hardy space

$$H^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dm_{\lambda}) := \left\{ f \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dm_{\lambda}) \colon R_{\Delta_{\lambda}} f \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, dm_{\lambda}) \right\}$$

with norm $||f||_{H^1(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)} := ||f||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)} + ||R_{\Delta_\lambda}f||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)}$ has been studied by Betancor et al. in [17] where they established the characterizations of the atomic Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$ associated with Δ_λ in terms of the Riesz transform and the radial maximal function associated with the Hankel convolution of a class $Z^{[\lambda]}$ of functions, which includes the Poisson semigroup and the heat semigroup as special cases. Duong, Li, Wick and Yang [71] used Uchiyama's algorithm to prove the weak factorization on the Bessel setting of Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$ in terms of the Riesz transform R_{Δ_λ} .

Therefore, the open question is building up a weak factorization for Hardy spaces $H^p(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$ for $p \in (0, 1)$ in terms of a bilinear form related to R_{Δ_λ} , like [71] did, using the same method of Uchiyama. As a second question will be also to prove that if this weak factorization implies the characterization of the corresponding commutator. In order to do that we first propose the question for values of p near 1, see Yang and Yang [79] for a characterization of the atomic Hardy spaces $H^p(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$ for values of $p \in (\frac{2\lambda+1}{2\lambda+2}, 1]$. More concretely, the problem will be the following.

Problem 7.3.1. Let $p \in \left(\frac{2\lambda+1}{2\lambda+2}, 1\right]$ and q, r > 0 such that

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r}.$$
(7.3.1)

Prove that for any $f \in H^p(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$, there exists numbers $\{\alpha_j^k\}_{j,k}$, functions $\{g_j^k\}_{j,k} \subset L^q(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$ and $\{h_j^k\}_{j,k} \subset L^r(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$ such that

$$f = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_j^k \,\Pi(g_j^k, h_j^k)$$
(7.3.2)

in $H^p(\mathbb{R}_+, dm_\lambda)$ where Π is defined as

$$\Pi(g,h) := gR_{\Delta_{\lambda}}h - hR_{\Delta_{\lambda}}g,$$

where $\overline{R_{\Delta_{\lambda}}}$ is the adjoint operator of $R_{\Delta_{\lambda}}$. Moreover, there should exists a positive constant C independent of f such that

$$C^{-1} \|f\|_{H^{p}(\mathbb{R}_{+},dm_{\lambda})} \leq \inf \left\{ \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\alpha_{j}^{k}|^{p} \|g_{j}^{k}\|_{q}^{p} \|h_{j}^{k}\|_{r}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} : f = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{j}^{k} \Pi(g_{j}^{k},h_{j}^{k}) \right\} \leq C \|f\|_{H^{p}(\mathbb{R}_{+},dm_{\lambda})}.$$

Note that the case p = 1 is exactly as Duong, Li, Wick and Yang [71] did, so the contribution here will be the cases of $p \in \left(\frac{2\lambda+1}{2\lambda+2}, 1\right)$.

We are studying this problem in collaboration with Brett D. Wick in Washington University in St. Louis. We made a huge advance on it, but there are still some technical details that by now we are not able to do. We hope to be able to arrange these technical problem soon.

7.4 The Bergman Projection on Weighted Vectorvalued Bergman Spaces

A classical result of Békollé and Bonami [12] describes the weights ω such that the Bergman projection is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{D}, \omega \, \mathrm{d}A)$, for 1 . These weights have been characterized by the following Békollé–Bonami condition

$$\sup_{S} \left(\frac{1}{A(S)} \int_{S} \omega(z) \, \mathrm{d}A(z) \right) \left(\frac{1}{A(S)} \int_{S} \omega(z)^{-p'/p} \, \mathrm{d}A(z) \right)^{p/p'} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is over all the Carleson sectors S = S(I), and p' is the conjugate exponent of p. This result also has been generalized to higher dimension, on the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^n [10]. The Békollé–Bonami theorem is the analog result of the Bergman spaces of the well known characterization of the weights ω such that the Hilbert transform is bounded in $L^p(\mathbb{R}, \omega \, dx)$, weights that are well described for the Muckenhoupt condition A_p (a classical result of the Harmonic Analysis [44]).

It is interesting then to study the analog of the Békollé–Bonami theorem in the case of vector-valued Bergman spaces. More concretely, the problem to develop is the following: for 1 , describe the positive operator-valued weights <math>W such that the Bergman projection is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{D}, W \, \mathrm{d}A)$. Let H be a Hilbert space. Given a positive operator-valued weight $W \colon \mathbb{D} \to \mathcal{L}(H)$, the corresponding space L^p of vector-valued measurable functions in \mathbb{D} is denoted by $L^p(\mathbb{D}, W \, \mathrm{d}A)$ and has the following norm

$$\|f\|_{p,W}^p := \int_{\mathbb{D}} \left\| W^{1/p}(z)f(z) \right\|_H^p \mathrm{d}A(z).$$

All the proofs known about the Békollé–Bonami theorem does not work for the context of vector-valued Bergman spaces, and so it is necessary to develop new techniques to tackle this problem. It is remarkable that a characterization for the case p = 2 has been obtained recently by Aleman and Constantin in [2], but their method again can not be extended for the other cases of $p \neq 2$. Therefore, it is still an open problem when $p \neq 2$.

We just begin to study this problem. First of all, we find another proof of the scalar case much more simple and flexible than the original one which it has more possibilities that the method and techniques will work for the vector-valued case with appropriate modifications. However, it is unclear that this proof will generalize to the vector-valued setting.

Bibliography

- [1] ALEMAN, A., AND CONSTANTIN, O. Hankel operators on Bergman spaces and similarity to contractions. *Int. Math. Res. Not.*, 35 (2004), 1785–1801.
- [2] ALEMAN, A., AND CONSTANTIN, O. The Bergman projection on vector-valued L²-spaces with operator-valued weights. J. Funct. Anal. 262, 5 (2012), 2359– 2378.
- [3] ANDERSON, J. M. Bloch functions: the basic theory. In Operators and function theory (Lancaster, 1984), vol. 153 of NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci. Reidel, Dordrecht, 1985, pp. 1–17.
- [4] ANDERSON, J. M., CLUNIE, J., AND POMMERENKE, C. On Bloch functions and normal functions. J. Reine Angew. Math. 270 (1974), 12–37.
- [5] ARAZY, J., FISHER, S. D., JANSON, S., AND PEETRE, J. Membership of Hankel operators on the ball in unitary ideals. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 43, 3 (1991), 485–508.
- [6] ARAZY, J., FISHER, S. D., AND PEETRE, J. Hankel operators on weighted Bergman spaces. Amer. J. Math. 110, 6 (1988), 989–1053.
- [7] ARREGUI, J. L., AND BLASCO, O. Bergman and Bloch spaces of vector-valued functions. *Math. Nachr.* 261/262 (2003), 3–22.
- [8] AXLER, S. The Bergman space, the Bloch space, and commutators of multiplication operators. *Duke Math. J.* 53, 2 (1986), 315–332.
- [9] AXLER, S. Bergman spaces and their operators. In Surveys of some recent results in operator theory, Vol. I, vol. 171 of Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser. Longman Sci. Tech., Harlow, 1988, pp. 1–50.
- [10] BÉKOLLÉ, D. Inégalité à poids pour le projecteur de Bergman dans la boule unité de \mathbb{C}^n . Studia Math. 71, 3 (1981/82), 305–323.
- [11] BÉKOLLÉ, D., BERGER, C. A., COBURN, L. A., AND ZHU, K. H. BMO in the Bergman metric on bounded symmetric domains. J. Funct. Anal. 93, 2 (1990), 310–350.

- [12] BÉKOLLÉ, D., AND BONAMI, A. Inégalités à poids pour le noyau de Bergman. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 286, 18 (1978), A775–A778.
- [13] BERGER, C. A., COBURN, L. A., AND ZHU, K. H. BMO on the Bergman spaces of the classical domains. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 17, 1 (1987), 133–136.
- [14] BERGER, C. A., COBURN, L. A., AND ZHU, K. H. Function theory on Cartan domains and the Berezin-Toeplitz symbol calculus. *Amer. J. Math.* 110, 5 (1988), 921–953.
- [15] BERGMAN, S. The kernel function and conformal mapping, revised ed. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1970. Mathematical Surveys, No. V.
- [16] BETANCOR, J. J., CHICCO RUIZ, A., FARIÑA, J. C., AND RODRÍGUEZ-MESA, L. Maximal operators, Riesz transforms and Littlewood-Paley functions associated with Bessel operators on BMO. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 363, 1 (2010), 310–326.
- [17] BETANCOR, J. J., DZIUBAŃSKI, J., AND TORREA, J. L. On Hardy spaces associated with Bessel operators. J. Anal. Math. 107 (2009), 195–219.
- [18] BETANCOR, J. J., FARIÑA, J. C., BURACZEWSKI, D., MARTÍNEZ, T., AND TORREA, J. L. Riesz transforms related to Bessel operators. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* 137, 4 (2007), 701–725.
- [19] BLASCO, O. Spaces of vector valued analytic functions and applications. In Geometry of Banach spaces (Strobl, 1989), vol. 158 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1990, pp. 33–48.
- [20] BLASCO, O. Introduction to vector valued Bergman spaces. In Function spaces and operator theory, vol. 8 of Univ. Joensuu Dept. Math. Rep. Ser. Univ. Joensuu, Joensuu, 2005, pp. 9–30.
- [21] BLASCO, O., AND ARREGUI, J. L. Multipliers on vector valued Bergman spaces. Canad. J. Math. 54, 6 (2002), 1165–1186.
- [22] BOCHNER, S. Integration von funktionen, deren werte die elemente eines vektorraumes sind. Fundamenta Mathematicae 20, 1 (1933), 262–176.
- [23] CEMBRANOS, P., AND MENDOZA, J. Banach spaces of vector-valued functions, vol. 1676 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [24] COIFMAN, R. R., AND ROCHBERG, R. Representation theorems for holomorphic and harmonic functions in L^p. In Representation theorems for Hardy spaces, vol. 77 of Astérisque. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1980, pp. 11–66.

- [25] COIFMAN, R. R., ROCHBERG, R., AND WEISS, G. Factorization theorems for Hardy spaces in several variables. Ann. of Math. (2) 103, 3 (1976), 611–635.
- [26] COIFMAN, R. R., AND WEISS, G. Extensions of Hardy spaces and their use in analysis. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 83, 4 (1977), 569–645.
- [27] CONSTANTIN, O. Discretizations of integral operators and atomic decompositions in vector-valued weighted Bergman spaces. *Integral Equations Operator Theory 59*, 4 (2007), 523–554.
- [28] CONSTANTIN, O. Weak product decompositions and Hankel operators on vector-valued Bergman spaces. J. Operator Theory 59, 1 (2008), 157–178.
- [29] CONSTANTIN, O. A joint similarity problem for n-tuples of operators on vectorvalued Bergman spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 258, 8 (2010), 2682–2694.
- [30] CONSTANTIN, O., AND GĂVRUȚA, L. Embeddings of vector-valued Bergman spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 422, 1 (2015), 667–674.
- [31] CONSTANTIN, O., AND JAËCK, F. A joint similarity problem on vector-valued Bergman spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 256, 9 (2009), 2768–2779.
- [32] DAS, N. Toeplitz and Hankel operators on a vector-valued Bergman space. Khayyam J. Math. 1, 2 (2015), 230–242.
- [33] DIESTEL, J. Geometry of Banach spaces—selected topics. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 485. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1975.
- [34] DIESTEL, J. Sequences and series in Banach spaces, vol. 92 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984.
- [35] DIESTEL, J., AND UHL, JR., J. J. Vector measures. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1977. With a foreword by B. J. Pettis, Mathematical Surveys, No. 15.
- [36] DJRBASHIAN, A. E., AND SHAMOIAN, F. A. Topics in the theory of A^p_α spaces, vol. 105 of Teubner-Texte zur Mathematik [Teubner Texts in Mathematics]. BSB B. G. Teubner Verlagsgesellschaft, Leipzig, 1988. With German, French and Russian summaries.
- [37] DUREN, P., AND SCHUSTER, A. Bergman spaces, vol. 100 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004.
- [38] DUREN, P. L. Theory of H^p spaces. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 38. Academic Press, New York-London, 1970.
- [39] FEFFERMAN, C., AND STEIN, E. M. H^p spaces of several variables. Acta Math. 129, 3-4 (1972), 137–193.

- [40] GOWDA, M. S. Nonfactorization theorems in weighted Bergman and Hardy spaces on the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^n (n > 1). Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 277, 1 (1983), 203–212.
- [41] GRAFAKOS, L. Modern Fourier analysis, third ed., vol. 250 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, 2014.
- [42] HEDENMALM, H., KORENBLUM, B., AND ZHU, K. Theory of Bergman spaces, vol. 199 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000.
- [43] HOROWITZ, C. Factorization theorems for functions in the Bergman spaces. Duke Math. J. 44, 1 (1977), 201–213.
- [44] HUNT, R., MUCKENHOUPT, B., AND WHEEDEN, R. Weighted norm inequalities for the conjugate function and Hilbert transform. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 176 (1973), 227–251.
- [45] JANSON, S. Mean oscillation and commutators of singular integral operators. Ark. Mat. 16, 2 (1978), 263–270.
- [46] KAHANE, J.-P. Some random series of functions, second ed., vol. 5 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1985.
- [47] KAMIŃSKA, A., AND TURETT, B. Type and cotype in Musielak-Orlicz spaces. In Geometry of Banach spaces (Strobl, 1989), vol. 158 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1990, pp. 165–180.
- [48] KARLOVICH, A. Y., AND LERNER, A. K. Commutators of singular integrals on generalized L^p spaces with variable exponent. *Publ. Mat.* 49, 1 (2005), 111–125.
- [49] KERR, R. Products of Toeplitz operators on a vector valued Bergman space. Integral Equations Operator Theory 66, 3 (2010), 367–395.
- [50] LIU, C. Sharp Forelli-Rudin estimates and the norm of the Bergman projection. J. Funct. Anal. 268, 2 (2015), 255–277.
- [51] LU, Y., CUI, P., AND SHI, Y. The hyponormal Toeplitz operators on the vector valued Bergman space. Bull. Korean Math. Soc. 51, 1 (2014), 237–252.
- [52] MAUREY, B. Type, cotype and K-convexity. In Handbook of the geometry of Banach spaces, Vol. 2. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2003, pp. 1299–1332.
- [53] MAUREY, B., AND PISIER, G. Séries de variables aléatoires vectorielles indépendantes et propriétés géométriques des espaces de Banach. Studia Math. 58, 1 (1976), 45–90.

- [54] MUCKENHOUPT, B., AND STEIN, E. M. Classical expansions and their relation to conjugate harmonic functions. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 118 (1965), 17–92.
- [55] MYTROFANOV, M. A. Approximations of continuous functions on complex Banach spaces. Mat. Metodi Fiz.-Mekh. Polya 45, 1 (2002), 76–81.
- [56] OLIVER, R., AND PASCUAS, D. Toeplitz operators on doubling Fock spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 435, 2 (2016), 1426–1457.
- [57] ORTEGA, J. M., AND FÀBREGA, J. Pointwise multipliers and corona type decomposition in BMOA. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 46, 1 (1996), 111–137.
- [58] PALUSZYŃSKI, M. Characterization of the Besov spaces via the commutator operator of Coifman, Rochberg and Weiss. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 44, 1 (1995), 1–17.
- [59] PALUSZYŃSKI, M., TAIBLESON, M., AND WEISS, G. Characterization of Lipschitz spaces via the commutator operator of Coifman, Rochberg, and Weiss. *Rev. Un. Mat. Argentina 37*, 1-2 (1991), 142–144 (1992). X Latin American School of Mathematics (Spanish) (Tanti, 1991).
- [60] PAU, J., AND ZHAO, R. Weak factorization and Hankel forms for weighted Bergman spaces on the unit ball. *Mathematische Annalen* (2015), 1–21.
- [61] PAU, J., ZHAO, R., AND ZHU, K. Weighted BMO and Hankel operators between Bergman spaces. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 65, 5 (2016), 1639–1673.
- [62] PELLER, V. V. Hankel operators and their applications. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2003.
- [63] RAHM, R., AND WICK, B. D. The essential norm of operators on the Bergman space of vector-valued functions on the unit ball. In *Function spaces in analysis*, vol. 645 of *Contemp. Math.* Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2015, pp. 249– 281.
- [64] RANSFORD, T. Potential theory in the complex plane, vol. 28 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [65] RUDIN, W. Function theory in the unit ball of Cⁿ, vol. 241 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Science]. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1980.
- [66] SARASON, D. Generalized interpolation in H[∞]. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 127 (1967), 179–203.
- [67] SCHATTEN, R. A Theory of Cross-Spaces. Annals of Mathematics Studies, no. 26. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1950.

- [68] SHIELDS, A. L., AND WILLIAMS, D. L. Bounded projections, duality, and multipliers in spaces of harmonic functions. J. Reine Angew. Math. 299/300 (1978), 256–279.
- [69] SHIELDS, A. L., AND WILLIAMS, D. L. Bounded projections and the growth of harmonic conjugates in the unit disc. *Michigan Math. J.* 29, 1 (1982), 3–25.
- [70] STEIN, E. M. Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals, vol. 43 of Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993. With the assistance of Timothy S. Murphy, Monographs in Harmonic Analysis, III.
- [71] THINH DUONG, X., LI, J., WICK, B. D., AND YANG, D. Factorization for Hardy spaces and characterization for BMO spaces via commutators in the Bessel setting. ArXiv e-prints (Aug. 2015).
- [72] TIMONEY, R. M. Bloch functions in several complex variables. I. Bull. London Math. Soc. 12, 4 (1980), 241–267.
- [73] TIMONEY, R. M. Bloch functions in several complex variables. II. J. Reine Angew. Math. 319 (1980), 1–22.
- [74] TOMCZAK-JAEGERMANN, N. The moduli of smoothness and convexity and the Rademacher averages of trace classes $S_p(1 \le p < \infty)$. Studia Math. 50 (1974), 163–182.
- [75] UCHIYAMA, A. The factorization of H^p on the space of homogeneous type. *Pacific J. Math.* 92, 2 (1981), 453–468.
- [76] VILLANI, M. Riesz transforms associated to Bessel operators. Illinois J. Math. 52, 1 (2008), 77–89.
- [77] WANG, M., LIU, P., AND ZHOU, S. Composition operators with linear fractional symbols on vector-valued Bergman spaces. Wuhan Univ. J. Nat. Sci. 8, 3A (2003), 759–764.
- [78] WOJTASZCZYK, P. Banach spaces for analysts, vol. 25 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [79] YANG, D., AND YANG, D. Real-variable characterizations of Hardy spaces associated with Bessel operators. Anal. Appl. (Singap.) 9, 3 (2011), 345–368.
- [80] ZHU, K. VMO, ESV, and Toeplitz operators on the Bergman space. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 302, 2 (1987), 617–646.
- [81] ZHU, K. BMO and Hankel operators on Bergman spaces. Pacific J. Math. 155, 2 (1992), 377–395.

- [82] ZHU, K. Spaces of holomorphic functions in the unit ball, vol. 226 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2005.
- [83] ZHU, K. Operator theory in function spaces, second ed., vol. 138 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007.
- [84] ZYGMUND, A. *Trigonometric series. Vol. I, II*, third ed. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002. With a foreword by Robert A. Fefferman.

Index

Symbols

| φ_z | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 16 |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|---|-----|-----|---|---|-----|---------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| \simeq | | | | | | | | | | | | | ••• | | | | | .15 |
| \odot | | | | • | | | | | | | | | • | | | | | .76 |
| ŀ | | | | • | | | | | | | | | | | | | | .75 |
| $\widehat{\mathbf{O}}$ | ••• | | | • | | | • | | | • | | | ••• | ••• | | | ••• | .75 |
| $\stackrel{<}{\sim}$ | ••• | | | • • | | | • | | | • | | | • | ••• | | | ••• | .15 |
| $\sum_{\widetilde{\omega}}$ | | • | • • | | • | ••• | | • | • • | | | • | ••• | | | • | | 21 |
| ∇ | | • | | | • | | | | | | | • | | | | • | | 21 |
| $\ \cdot$ | $\ _{X}$ | - | | • | | | • | | | • | | | • • | • | | . 1 | 0, | 11 |
| ∂_k | • | | | • | | | | | | | • | | | | ••• | • | | 10 |
| $\langle \cdot,$ | $\cdot \rangle$ | | • • | • | | ••• | | | ••• | | • | ••• | • • | | • • | • | | . 9 |
| $\langle \cdot,$ | $\cdot \rangle_{j}$ | K | | • | | | • | ••• | | • | | | • • | • | | • • | ••• | .11 |
| ∇_{7} | | | | • | • • | | | | • • | | • | | | | • • | • | | 91 |
| $\langle \cdot,$ | $\cdot \rangle_c$ | к,У | K | • | | | | | • • | | • | | • • | | • • | • | | 27 |

\mathbf{A}

| $A^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ | 26 |
|------------------------------------|----|
| Automorphism | 16 |
| $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{B}_n)$ | 15 |

$\underline{\mathbf{B}}$

| $\mathbb{B}_n(X)$ 10 |
|--|
| Bochner |
| integrable $\dots \dots \dots$ |
| integral12, 13, 15 |
| Lebesgue space 15 |
| С |
| Change variable formula 18 |
| \mathbb{C}^n complex plane 9 |
| |
| D |
| D(z,r) |
| \mathbb{D} , open unit disk of \mathbb{C} 10 |
| D_k |
| D_{kj} |
| Е |
| e_k , standard basis |
| F |
| $f_{\alpha,t}$ |
| |
| Н |
| h_{φ} |
| Hankel form |
| H_T |
| h_T |
| H_{φ} |
| Harmonic function |
| Holomorphic function $\dots 10$ |
| $\mathcal{H}(\Omega, X) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $ |
| $\mathcal{H}(\Omega)$ |
| |

Ι

| Integral estimate | 17 |
|-------------------|----|
| $I_{p,q}$ | 88 |

\mathbf{K}

| Kernel |
|--|
| $K_w \dots \dots 29$ |
| K_w^x |
| $k_{p,w}$ |
| $k_{p,w}^x$ |
| Khintchine |
| inequality $\dots \dots \dots$ |
| Kahane inequality |

\mathbf{L}

| $L^p_{\alpha}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ 1 | 5 |
|-----------------------------------|----|
| $\mathcal{L}(X,Y)$ 1 | 1 |
| Little Hankel operator5 | 59 |
| $\ell^p(X)$ | 5 |

\mathbf{M}

| Mean value property | 12 |
|--------------------------|-------|
| Measure | |
| $\mathrm{d}\sigma$ | 11 |
| $\mathrm{d}v$ | 11 |
| $\mathrm{d}v_{\alpha}$ 1 | 2, 15 |

\mathbf{P}

| $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{B}_n, X)$ | 28 |
|--------------------------------|----|
| P_{α} | 29 |
| u | |
| Q | |
| $Q_{\rm c}$ function | 91 |
| | 01 |
| R | |
| | ~~ |
| <i>r</i> -lattice | 33 |

| Rademacher | |
|-----------------------|---|
| cotype2 | 2 |
| functions2 | 2 |
| type2 | 2 |
| <i>R</i> 2 | 1 |
| $R^{\alpha,t}$ | 7 |
| $R_{\alpha,t}$ | 7 |
| Reproducing formula 2 | 7 |
| | |

\mathbf{S}

| \mathbb{S}_n , unit sphere of \mathbb{C}^n | 10 |
|--|----|
| Separated sequence 18, | 33 |
| Small Hankel operator | 59 |
| Sub-mean value property 19, 20, | 26 |
| Subharmonic function | 19 |

U

| Upper semi-continuous | function | 19 |
|-----------------------|----------|----|
|-----------------------|----------|----|

V

| Vector-valued | |
|--|---|
| γ -Bloch space47 | 7 |
| Bergman space $\dots 26$ | 3 |
| Bloch space $\dots \dots 40$ |) |
| function $\dots \dots \dots$ |) |
| generalized Bloch space47 | 7 |
| Lebesgue space 15 | 5 |
| measurable function $\dots \dots 13$ | 3 |
| polynomials28 | 3 |
| | |

$\underline{\mathbf{X}}$

| \overline{X} | 11 |
|-------------------|----|
| X^n | 10 |
| X* | 10 |
| X-valued function | 10 |